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FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS

	
		                                      Malawi Kwacha		                     US Dollars		
	
		  2017	 2016	 Change %	 2017	 2016	 Change %

Group Summary (in millions) 								      
Turnover	  	 200,480 	 188,857 	 6.15 	 276	 272	 1.68 
Attributable earnings	  	 23,917 	  4,909 	 387.21 	 33	 7	 366.66 
Shareholders’ equity	  	 125,557 	 101,311 	 23.93 	 173	 140	 23.90 
								      
	
Share performance								      
Basic earnings per share	  	 198.98 	  40.84 	 387.21 	 0.27 	  0.06 	 366.66 
Cash retained from operations per share	 165.38	  181.26 	 (8.76)	 0.23 	  0.25 	 (8.79)
Net asset value per share (shareholders’ equity 
per share)		  1513	 1227	 23.26 	 2.08 	  1.69 	 23.23 
Dividend per share		  17.50	 8.50	 105.87 	 0.02 	  0.01 	 105.81 
Market price per share	  	 600.00 	 540.00	 11.11 	 0.83 	  0.74 	 11.08 
Price earnings ratio 	  	 3.02 	 13.2	 (77.19)	 3.02 	  12.67 	 (76.20)
Number of shares in issue (in millions)	  120.20 	 120.2	 0.00 				  
	
Volume of shares traded (in thousands)	  993.00 	  508 	 95.47 				  
	
Value of shares trades (in MK miilions)	  569.00 	  272 	 109.19 	 0.78 	  0.39 	 100.37 
							     
	
Financial statistics								      
After tax return on equity		  31.60	 15.12	 108.97 	 0.04 	  0.02 	 108.91 
Gearing		  17%	 12%	 (44.01)				  
	
							     
Average monthly exchange rates					     725.50 	  694.90 	
	
Year end exchange rates					     725.60 	  725.40 	
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Integrity

Employment
Equity

HIV/AIDS
Policy

Environmental
Management

Community 
and Social

Engagement

Governance
and Law Reform

Anti-Corruption

  INTEGRITY

Press Corporation Plc is committed to conducting its business in a transparent and 

ethical manner and pledges to be accountable to customers, shareholders and society. 

As such PCL expects its employees to share its commitment to high moral, ethical and 

legal standards.

All PCL suppliers are bound by rules and principles set out in PCL’s Procurement Manual 

which prohibits them from engaging in corrupt and fraudulent practises as well as 

collusion. The manual also acts as a guide to members of staff to maintain the integrity of 

the Company by acting fairly when dealing with suppliers.  All procurement processes are 

conducted in a transparent, accountable, fair and competitive manner.

  EMPLOYMENT EQUITY 

PCL’s employment policy is based on a system of opportunities for all. Employment equity 

seeks to identify, develop and reward employees based on their individual demonstration 

of initiative, enterprise, hard work and loyalty in their respective jobs.

Employment is on the basis of merit and not an individual’s race, colour, creed, gender, 

or any other criterion unrelated to their capacity to do the job.

Employees have the right to work in an environment which is free from any form of 

harassment or unlawful discrimination with respect to race, colour, creed, gender, place 

of origin, political persuasion, disability and marital or family status. 

The Group
invested about

MK600m 
in corporate

social
responsibility
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Press Corporation Plc is a member of the UN 
Global Compact Network and, by signing up, 
has endorsed the Global Compact Principles 
in terms of the Group’s operations.

Through donations, projects, programs 
and social investments, the Group 
invested about MK600 million in  
Corporate Social Responsibility. 

  CORPORATE SOCIAL 
  RESPONSIBILITY
                                              



CORPORATE SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITY

 HIV/AIDS POLICY

Press Corporation Plc and its subsidiary companies have 

an HIV/AIDS Policy whose core objective is to promote 

the Group’s responsibility for providing a healthy and 

conducive work environment for all employees, including 

those with HIV/AIDS. 

PCL continues to provide free anti-retroviral therapy to its 

employees.

 ENVIRONMENTAL MANAGEMENT

PCL and its subsidiaries are committed to developing 

policies that address the environmental impact of 

business activities by integrating pollution control, waste 

management and rehabilitation activities into operating 

procedures.

	

Members of staff are encouraged to “reduce, re-use and 

re-cycle” paper.    

Castel (Malawi) Ltd embraces pollution control and waste 

management by treating and returning waste water to 

the environment. The aim is to return 100% of the water 

used in its processes. The company has a waste water 

treatment plant in its soft drink plant which treats all liquid 

waste to acceptable limits before being discharged back 

to the environment. 

As a way of managing waste, both ethanol producing 

companies namely Ethanol Company Limited (EthCo) 

and Presscane Limited use ponds to hold effluent from 

the ethanol production. This byproduct called vinnase is 

naturally evaporated and the remaining sludge is used 

as a fertilizer supplement because of its richness in 

potassium. Part of this supplement is taken back to the 

sugar making company (and applied in the sugarcane 

fields) whose byproduct is molasses which is the ethanol 

production raw material. 

Castel (Malawi) Ltd

As a responsible corporate citizen, 
the Group and its subsidiaries aim 
to give back to the community by 
engaging in various corporate 
social responsibility activities.
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 GOVERNANCE AND LAW REFORM

During the year, PCL and its subsidiary and associate 

companies continued to provide support to efforts by 

national and regional institutions in the promotion of law 

reform and good governance.

In this regard, the Company played a pivotal role in 

supporting the Anti-Corruption Bureau to host the regional 

summit for heads of anti-corruption institutions in Africa. In 

addition, PCL assisted the office of the Registrar General 

during the country’s hosting of the African Regional 

Intellectual Property Organization conference. 

 ANTI-CORRUPTION

PCL conforms to Principle Ten of the UN Global Compact 

which states that businesses should fight corruption in all 

its forms, including extortion and bribery as well as other 

forms of corruption. The principle gives guidelines for 

companies to proactively develop policies and concrete 

programs to address corruption internally and within their 

supply chains. 

PCL and its subsidiary companies support the objective 

of the Business Action against Corruption (BAAC) 

which is to actively promote business commitment to 

fighting corruption and foster widespread support for 

the Business Code of Conduct and to pursue linkages 

with relevant national and regional business led anti-

corruption initiatives.   

PCL and its subsidiaries subscribe to Tip Offs Anonymous, 

a whistle blowing hotline service provided by Deloitte, as 

an extension of the Group’s Fraud Policy.  This can be 

used by those of the Group’s employees who may have 

reservations about using the internal reporting mechanism 

provided for in the Fraud Policy. It can also be used by any 

member of the general public on any matter relating to the 

operations of the Group companies.          

(EthCo) also maximizes the use of steam from a renewable 
source (sugarcane bagasse steam from Dwangwa Sugar 
Corporation) as opposed to steam from coal which is a 
fossil fuel in order to protect the environment.

Tree planting has been an ongoing exercise carried 
out by most of the Group companies as one way of 
addressing environmental degradation. During the year, 
PCL through its subsidiaries, planted thousands of trees 
across the country in an attempt to reverse the effects of 
deforestation. 

 COMMUNITY AND SOCIAL ENGAGEMENT

As a responsible corporate citizen, the Group and its 

subsidiaries aim to give back to the community by engaging 

in various corporate social responsibility activities.

(EthCo) continued to freely deliver the dry sludge from the 

ethanol production process to local small scale farmers in 

its community within a 20 km radius. This sludge is used as 

a fertilizer supplement in their gardens hence reducing the 

communities’ fertilizer costs. 

MTL and TNM continued to provide support to YONECO (a 

nongovernmental organization whose aim is the elimination 

of child abuse, violence against children and exploitation 

of children in schools and communities in Malawi) through 

Child Helpline Services. TNM provided the Toll Free lines 

where as MTL provided the search lines.

Ethanol Company Limited
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CORPORATE SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITY

VISION

To be the premier 
holding Company 
dominating every 

market it serves with 
strength and agility

MISSION
STATEMENT

To create and sustain 
industry-dominant businesses 

in order to generate real 
growth in shareholder value 
and contribute to the socio-
economic development of 

Malawi and the region 

		People Centred
We treat our employees and all our partners with dignity, fairness and respect, fostering an 
environment where people can contribute, innovate and excel.

		Responsibility
We believe in Ubuntu philosophy that states “I am because we are”. We therefore commit to 
share our success with communities and sustain the environment we operate in.

		Integrity
We commit to conduct our business in a transparent and ethical manner and pledge to be 
accountable to our customers, shareholders and society.

		Customer Value
We strive to surpass customers’ expectations both internally and externally. We are therefore 
committed to enable our customers excel by: creating long-term relationships, being 
responsive and relevant, and delivering value consistently.

		Excellence
We pursue excellence through highly efficient and effective processes that deliver goods and 
services of outstanding quality.

CORE VALUES

Our core values are the PRICE we are committed to pay in conducting our business.
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THE GENERAL OPERATING ENVIRONMENT

The general outlook of key macroeconomic indicators has 

been stable and had shown significant improvements in 

2017. The value of the Malawi Kwacha has also remained 

stable against all major currencies since July, 2016 up 

until the last quarter of 2017 when a strong performance 

of the Rand and British Pound weakened the Kwacha. 

However the Kwacha maintained its floor value against 

the US Dollar. 

The availability of food (particularly maize) and 

Government’s ban on maize exports  resulted in a crash 

in the price of farm produce leading to an accelerated 

reduction in the rate of inflation from 22% per annum at 

the beginning of the year to 7.1% per annum as at 31st 

December 2017. This led to a series of reductions in 

the Policy Rate from 24% at the beginning of the year 

to 16% in December, 2017. These reductions triggered 

corresponding reductions in commercial banks’ base 

rates which as of December, 2017 ranged from 21% to 

23% as compared to an average of 35% at the beginning 

of the year.  

Total forex reserves at US$1,170.06 million as at 31st 

December 2017, represents 5.6 months’ worth of import 

cover, a comfortable level which has held for a good part 

of the year. 

The stock market had a bull run as it registered a positive 

return on investment of 62.09% (US$ terms) and an 

increase in both total traded value and volume. Listed 

companies within the Group registered some movement 

with significant trading and gains in TNM and moderate 

trading in NBM. PCL itself had a quiet year with no 

material trading except for a gain of K60 per share at the 

beginning of the year. 

The stability of the Kwacha against the US Dollar meant 

that the Group was within expected levels of foreign 

exchange exposure particularly in those entities whose 

inputs are largely imported and denominated in USD.

Although inflation averaged 11.6% in 2017, production 

CHAIRMAN’S 
 REPORT

The Group delivered strong 
results with a consolidated 
profit after tax of MK39.67 
billion (2016: MK15.32 billion) 
representing a 159% growth.
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Net profit attributable to ordinary 
shareholders was MK23.92 billion (2016: 
MK4.91 billion) representing a 387% 
growth on prior year.
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CHAIRMAN’S REPORT  

costs of most Group companies significantly increased 

from the third quarter onwards due to unstable and 

inadequate power supply (load shedding) resulting in 

overdependence on diesel generators. 

GROUP PERFORMANCE

The Group delivered strong results with a consolidated 

profit after tax of MK39.67 billion (2016: MK15.32 billion) 

representing a 159% growth. Net profit attributable 

to ordinary shareholders was MK23.92 billion (2016: 

MK4.91 billion) representing a 387% growth on prior year. 

Likewise, earnings per share increased to MK198.98 from 

MK40.84 representing a 387% growth. 

PROSPECTS FOR 2018

Relative stability in some of the macroeconomic 

fundamentals registered in 2017, such as inflation, 

interest rates and the exchange rate are expected to 

continue in 2018, complemented with a projected GDP 

growth rate of 4.5%. Expectations are that the Kwacha 

could continue its stability as the country approaches 

general elections in 2019.  

Notwithstanding the positive economic outlook in these 

indicators, continuing disruptions and inadequacies in 

power supply and an appreciated Kwacha as measured 

by the Real Effective Exchange Rate (REER), combined 

with expected fiscal slippages due to the forthcoming 

general elections could result in the reversal of some 

of the gains, particularly if taken together with the 

underperformance of revenue collection by the Malawi 

Revenue Authority.   

Another downside risk to growth is the underperformance 

of the agricultural sector following the army worm plague 

and erratic rainfall experienced in some parts of the 

country during the 2017/18 growing season. 

In spite of these risks to the growth of the economy, and 

because of the Group’s strength in terms of its size, 

diversity and management, directors are optimistic that 

the Group will be resilient and will deliver its planned 

results. The successful restructuring, right-sizing and 

efficiency improvement measures undertaken in most 

businesses during the year (including the holding 

company which saw a 50% reduction in headcount) has 

re-positioned the Group for growth.

Implementation of action plans aimed at resuscitating 

loss making entities will continue in earnest in 2018 with 

most of them expected to turn around. Going forward, the 

focus will be to maintain the efficiency momentum and 

continue searching for profitable new business ventures. 

THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Mr Patrick Mhango retired from the Board following his 

exit as Executive Secretary of Press Trust. In his place, Mr 

Gibson Ngalamila, Mr Mhango’s successor at the Trust, 

was appointed to the Board. In addition, a nominated 

director by Old Mutual, Mr Damien Kafoteka, retired from 

the Board and was replaced by Mrs Edith Jiya. I would 

like to welcome both Mrs Jiya and Mr Ngalamila and look 

forward to their contributions on the Board.

APPRECIATION

I wish to take this opportunity to thank Mr Mhango and 

Mr Kafoteka for their valuable contributions while serving 

on the Board and wish them well in their retirement. I also 

wish to thank my fellow Directors for their wise counsel, 

the management team and all members of staff for their 

hard work, co-operation and dedication to duty during 

the year. With their efforts, the Group achieved excellent 

results as outlined in this Report. I look forward to another 

successful year.

 

Patrick W Khembo

CHAIRMAN
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GROUP OPERATIONS

During the year, Management concentrated its 

efforts in developing and implementing strategies on 

underperforming businesses as these continue to have a 

significant negative impact on overall Group results, all the 

while still keeping close attention on  Group companies 

that are performing to ensure their sustenance. Strategies 

being deployed included functional reviews, a revamp 

of performance management systems, recapitalizations, 

disposal of non-performing assets, technical partnerships, 

debt restructurings, cultural and change management. 

The following companies received extensive management 

attention:

Peoples Trading Centre Limited (PTC)

Senior management changes have been made at PTC. The 

company’s partnership with Spar brand was enhanced by 

the opening of the Northgate Spar in Blantyre. PTC’s new 

strategic direction included balance sheet restructuring 

through recapitalization, debt restructuring, automation, 

ambience improvements, rebranding, rationalization of 

outlets and functional reviews. These strategies were 

developed in the course of the year and implementation 

started late in 2017 and will continue in earnest in 2018. 

The Foods Company Limited

Interventions in aquaculture production at The Foods 

Company started yielding positive outcomes. The 

interventions were particularly important on account of 

the dwindling capture fisheries business due to issues 

of overfishing, climate change and control challenges. 

Although still in a relatively significant loss position 

due to the cost of interventions and lagging effects of 

results, the company managed to produce over 800 

tons of Chambo, a record in aquaculture since the fish 

farming venture started. Due to these positive results in 

productivity, it gave confidence to Executive Management 

to recapitalize the Company in the second half of 2017 

for purposes of funding the expansion of the Aquaculture 

Division. The Feed Mill Division was discontinued as part 

PRESS CORPORATION PLC  |  Annual Report 2017 8

The Group is keen to maintain 
its leadership role in the private 
sector by nurturing profitable 
operations to ensure sustainable 
growth in market share...

GROUP CHIEF 
EXECUTIVE’S 
 REPORT
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GROUP CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S REPORT

of the restructuring process. Meanwhile a functional review exercise and the search for a 

strategic partner are ongoing.

Malawi Telecommunications Limited (MTL)

A functional review exercise was successfully implemented towards the end of the year 

while a balance sheet reorganization is still work in progress. The Company embarked on 

the disposal of some of its non-performing properties. In some cases where properties 

are actively in use by the Company, the route will be on the basis of sale and lease 

back arrangements. Cash released from the exercise will be used for debt reduction and 

restructuring to levels where it is sustainable. 

The functional review and the process re-engineering exercise resulted in a 50% reduction 

in operating costs and a 58% improvement in operating results.

Open Connect Limited (OCL)

OCL, which operates the fibre backbone infrastructure that was hived off from MTL, had 

a positive EBITDA although it still made a loss due to significant financing costs as the 

company is highly geared. Discussions with a potential equity investor in OCL are nearing 

a completion stage. The primary objective is to reduce foreign exchange exposure on 

significant foreign obligations by either paying off debt or localizing obligations, thereby 

minimizing foreign exchange exposures for a company whose entire receivables are in 

Malawi Kwacha.

Press Properties Limited (PPL)

The property business which had been experiencing severe cash flow problems was 

successfully restructured through a functional review process and has completely 

turned around showing a 101% growth in profit. The focus going forward is to sustain its 

performance and significantly grow its operations to compete successfully with its peers 

in the industry. Plans are underway to make acquisitions of some valuable real estate 

through a recapitalization process.

Castel (Malawi) Limited

PCL diluted its shareholding in Castel (formerly Carlsberg) to 20% from 39.65% at the 

time when Carlsberg sold its interests to Castel. Significant investments of over USD20 

million have been made by Castel in rehabilitating the plants, additional production lines, 

automation, quality control, logistics and new product lines. New brands of beverages 

have been introduced on the market with particular emphasis on capturing market share 

at the lower end of the market which is being flooded with informal imported brands. 

These investments will help turn around the company whose performance has been 

unsatisfactory for the past few years. Proceeds of the part disposal of PCL’s stake 

allowed for further strategic investments within the Group, including retiring of debt which 

was crippling operations of some Group companies. 

Corporate Head Office

An extensive functional review and process re-engineering exercise was carried out 

and operations were accordingly restructured accompanied with a new performance 

management system to bring about efficiencies. The functional review resulted in a one 

off retrenchment cost of about MK700 million. 

101% 
growth 
in profit

20% 
shareholding 

in Castel

PCL has

MTL
registered

58% 
improvement
in operating 

results

Press
Properties
registered

OCL 
continues to 

register positive 
EBITDA
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Training and development of staff continues to play an 

important role in the Company’s overall strategic plan in 

order to allow for the efficient delivery of services and also 

provide for effective succession planning. The Company 

continues to seek and recruit qualified and young 

graduates into its Management Trainee Program who are 

making positive impact in the various companies where 

they have been placed within the Group. 

GROUP FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE

As pointed out in the Chairman’s Report, Group profit after 

tax at MK39.67 billion (2016: MK15.32 billion) represents 

a 159% increase over prior year. This performance was 

achieved after taking into account a profit of MK14 billion on 

the part-disposal in Castel as alluded to above. However, 

excluding the above part-disposal, the underlying results 

at 68% growth (MK25.67 billion) still show commendable 

improvement on prior year results, notwithstanding  the 

prevailing sub-optimal operating environment arising 

out of poor farm produce prices which affected overall 

effective demand on Group turnover, and acute power 

shortages which affected production. 

The underlying performance was driven by cost 

reductions and improved operating efficiencies in spite 

of high restructuring costs. Functional review exercises 

which were carried out in most Group companies during 

the year aimed at streamlining operations and improving 

efficiencies resulted in significant cost savings even after 

taking into account high retrenchment costs. In addition, 

there were additional savings in finance costs following 

the downward movement of interest rates and the relative 

stability of the local currency. The Group also paid off 

some of its liabilities which resulted in further reduction 

in finance costs.    

Prior year comparatives were restated to take into account 

a prior year loss adjustment in Peoples Trading Centre 

Limited amounting to MK1.9 billion. 

Brief profiles and performance highlights of all individual 

companies within the Group have been given elsewhere 

in this Annual Report.

STRATEGIC DIRECTION

PCL will continue to focus on growth through diversification. 

The Group is keen to maintain its leadership role in the 

private sector by nurturing profitable operations to ensure 

sustainable growth in market share and dominance 

in the respective sectors consistent with the pillars 

contained in its 5 year Strategic Plan. These pillars are 

Business Expansion, Competitive Advantage, Human 

Capital Development, Technological Enhancement, and 

Corporate Social Responsibility. However, alongside 

these pillars, it has become imperative that management 

also prioritize on turn-around strategies to resuscitate 

non-performing investments with potential, which are 

negatively affecting Group results in a significant way.

CONCLUSION

Let me take the opportunity to sincerely thank the Board 

for its guidance and support given to me and my fellow 

members of the executive management team, particularly 

on the difficult decisions that we had to make during the 

year. I also wish to thank members of staff at the Corporate 

Office for their dedication to duty and hard work. This 

being my first full year at Corporate Office, I particularly 

appreciate their willingness and flexibility in quickly 

embracing and sharing some of the changes which we 

all agreed were required within the Group. On behalf of 

the Board, I wish to express my sincere appreciation to 

members of staff and all directors in the different boards 

of our Group companies for a successful year despite 

challenges in the operating environment. I look forward to 

another fruitful and adventurous year.

Dr George B Partridge

GROUP CHIEF EXECUTIVE
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BUSINESS
OVERVIEW

National Bank 
of Malawi Plc

Telekom
Networks
Malawi Plc

Malawi
Telecommu-
nications
Limited

Open 
Connect 
Limited

The Foods 
Company
Limited

Castel (Malawi)
Limited

Ethanol 
Company
Limited

Presscane
Limited

Puma Energy
Malawi Limited

Limbe Leaf
Tobacco
Company
Limited

Press 
Properties
Limited

Macsteel 
Malawi Limited

Peoples 
Trading Centre 
Limited
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National Bank of Malawi Plc (NBM) and its 
subsidiaries are engaged in the business 
of commercial banking, stock broking, fund 
management and pension fund administration. 
In addition, NBM has a 31% stake in United 
General Insurance, a general short term 
insurance company as its associate.

NBM Group Performance 

The Bank registered a 15% growth in the group profit after 

tax from K16.6 billion to K19.15 billion and achieved a 

19% growth in shareholders’ funds.  

The year started on a fairly positive note with inflation 

continuing to trend downwards from 18.2% in January 

2017 closing at 7.1% in December 2017 (December 2016: 

20%). Agricultural production improved following good 

weather. Consistent with the inflation trend the Reserve 

Bank of Malawi reduced the Policy Rate three times in the 

course of the year. The Bank responded accordingly with 

reductions of its base lending rates from 32% in January 

2017 to 25% as at December 2017. 

In spite of the above, economic activity was generally 

subdued mainly due to challenges with power supply 

and the collapse of maize prices. Maize price significantly 

dropped by over 50% mainly as a result of the oversupply 

caused by an export ban. Consequently there were 

challenges in the growth of the loan book and servicing of 

debts resulting in the bank making a significant provision 

of K5.25 billion for bad debts.

  

Due to lower than expected business activity of clients 

and tight margins, the Bank underperformed on foreign 

exchange income but exceeded targets on money market 

investments due to relatively high volumes on investments 

from the excess liquidity brought about by low demand 

for lending products.

The Bank has therefore demonstrated remarkable 

resilience in its performance under the circumstances. 

Among other major projects, the Bank successfully 

upgraded its core banking system that went live on 

1st July, 2017.  The upgrade is expected to improve 

customer delivery and product innovation. The Bank also 

successfully launched a bouquet of credit cards and 

completed the replacement of its Leasing System which 

has enabled the Personal and Business Banking unit to 

better manage its leasing business. The Bank’s systems 

were interfaced with Malawi Revenue Authority tax system 

to enable customers pay taxes electronically.

Outlook for 2018

The Bank has developed a new 5 year Strategic Plan 

for 2018 to 2022 to take it to the next level following the 

successful implementation of the previous plan. The Bank 

has in-built flexibility, resources, and agility necessary to 

continue on a sustained growth path.  The Bank therefore 

expects a strong performance through its ability to 

leverage on core strengths and exploiting opportunities 

in the market. The Bank will focus on the acceleration 

of digitalisation of processes and product offerings to 

delight its customers.

The Bank 
registered a 
growth of 15% 
in the group 
profit after tax 
from K16.6b to 
K19.15b

2016

K16.6b

2017

K19.15b

Macfussy Kawawa
Chief Executive Officer
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Telekom Networks Malawi Plc (TNM) is a truly 
Malawian company committed to maintaining a 
sustainable and profitable business. The company 
aims to be the leading ICT and multimedia service 
provider in Malawi that in turn enables the required 
economic growth for building a great nation. 

Performance 

The Company achieved good subscriber and service 

revenue growth in 2017 which resulted in improved 

margins and profitability levels. These achievements 

were supported by strong performance of consumer 

and business enterprise products and services, a strong 

brand and well managed cost controls.

The economic environment stabilized during the period 

under review with falling inflation rates and interest rates. 

Exchange rates stabilized which resulted in foreign 

currency denominated expenditure savings as well as 

minimal exchange losses compared with previous years. 

Although the current level of profitability is encouraging, 

TNM requires a higher level of profitability to ensure 

the sustainability of the business to support continued 

future investment in new technologies and infrastructure 

expansion.

The Company has been successful with initiatives taken 

to improve its revenue streams and cost containment 

management, which resulted in an EBITDA margin of 

37% which represents a 2% increase over 2016. Net 

financing cost decreased to MK2,810 million (2016: MK 

4,250 million) which includes foreign exchange losses of 

MK12 million (2016: MK815 million).  Net profit after tax 

increased by 60% to MK13,108 million, from MK8,206 

million in 2016.

TNM investments in capital projects amounted to 

MK19,037 million (2016: MK9,176 million) which mainly 

consisted of 4G LTE broadband technology and U900–3G 

technology across the country. A convergent fix mobile 

capability was also achieved with the implementation of 

the IP Multimedia platform (IMS). 

Strategy

The Company continues to pursue its strategic objective 

of becoming the leading ICT and multimedia service 

provider in Malawi through focus on improved customer 

experience and product innovation. The focus is 

therefore on long term growth benefits from investment in 

infrastructure, human capital and subscriber satisfaction.

Outlook for 2018

TNM expects the macro-economic environment to be 

stable in 2018 with low inflation levels, lower interest rates 

and a continued stabilized Malawi Kwacha.

The focus in 2018 will be on improving customer 

experience, growing business products, managing 

foreign exchange exposure and investing in areas which 

will achieve business growth.

TNM expects to dominate the Business Enterprise space 

and to be the preferred ICT provider in Malawi. TNM has 

invested in a new Mpamba platform which will support 

the growth of the Mobile Money business as well as 

enable new innovative products and services to promote 

financial inclusion.

TNM will continue investing in new network coverage and 

capacity sites thereby enhancing customer voice and 

data experience. The U900 and 4G LTE technology will 

be used as prime connectivity platform to launch further 

cutting edge products and services for our customers.

Net profit after 
tax increased 
by 60% to 
MK13,108 
million, from 
MK8,206 
million in 2016

2016

K8,206m

2017

K13,108m

Erick Valentine
Acting Chief Executive Officer
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Malawi Telecommunications Limited (MTL) is a limited liability company 
which offers a wide range of Information and Communications Technology 
(ICT) based solutions to corporate businesses, Small and Medium 
Enterprises and consumers. The range of products and services offered to 
business customers and consumers include fixed voice, mobile voice and 
data services. 

MTL is owned by  Press Corporation Plc, the majority shareholder, at 
52.7% shareholding; the Malawi Government at 20%; Old Mutual at 
16.1%; Nico Holdings Plc at 9.0%; and Investment Alliance at 2.2%.

Telecommunication Industry Outlook 

Driven by the continuous migration of consumers from 

fixed telephony to data-centric communications solutions,  

and the evolving business needs that are driving 

enterprises to move towards IT based service models, 

the telecommunications industry in Malawi continues to 

grow mainly in the mobile voice, mobile broadband, fixed 

broadband, and internet market segments, consistent 

with global trends.

Business Model and Strategy

Despite the prevailing economic challenges in the country, 

MTL has taken a more focused approach in determining 

products and services offerings on the market in order 

to capture real opportunities in the telecommunication 

ecosystems. Specifically, the driver for growth and 

profitability rests on a multi-dimensional and integrated 

corporate restructuring that optimally balances business 

strategy, business modeling, financial and operational 

structures. During the year, MTL anchored the foundation 

of the Company’s turnaround strategy by renewing the 

business strategy which transforms the Company’s 

philosophy from being a provider of communication 

technologies to a provider of connectivity solutions for 

greater customer experience as follows: 

•	 Shifted the focus of MTL’s business from 

infrastructure to customer value propositions. 

•	 Designed the product/service roadmap to transform 

the Company’s offerings from individual products 

or services into integrated reliable communication 

solutions. 

•	 Combined strategic positioning, activity fit, and 

operational efficiency and effectiveness. 

Secondly, the Company further streamlined its business 

through decommissioning of assets that were significantly 

eroding value and restructuring of the corresponding 

functions. This follows the unbundling of the business in 

2016 into three (FOC backbone which provides secure, 

reliable, low-cost, high-speed bandwidth as a carrier of 

carriers trading under the name of Open Connect Limited 

(OCL) as a separate entity; Broadband and Telephony 

which provides customer-centric, secure and competitive 

data and voice services; and Co-siting which provides 

secure and reliable sites with optimum coverage for 

broadcasters and telecoms). 

2017 Performance Highlights

During the year, operational processes were reviewed in 

tandem with customer expectations; focused customer 

acquisition process and renewed MTL’s commitment to 

quality services through Service Level Agreements (SLAs) 

and active engagement with key customers.  In the last 

quarter of 2017, the company successfully re-engineered 

itself with the aim of streamlining operations and resources 

in order to achieve greater efficiency following the curving 

out of the FOC backbone infrastructure business. The 

headcount was reduced by over 50% resulting in reduced 

administrative costs and improved efficiencies. The 

business outlook for 2018 appears positive with projected 

growth of 15% in turnover and a positive working capital.

Dr Harry Gombachika
Chief Executive Officer

BUSINESS OVERVIEW > MALAWI TELECOMMUNICATIONS LIMITED
                                               

The business outlook for 
2018 appears positive 
with projected growth of 
15% in turnover and a 
positive working capital.
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BUSINESS OVERVIEW > MALAWI TELECOMMUNICATIONS LIMITED
                                               

 

The Company is restructuring its balance sheet through 

property sales and lease back arrangements to reduce and 

restructure debt to sustainable levels. Operating losses 

have been reduced to K1.1 billion (2016: K6.8 billion). 
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Open Connect Limited (OCL) is a new company 
that was incorporated in March 2016 following 
unbundling of the fibre optic backbone business 
from the Malawi Telecommunication Limited (MTL). 
OCL was registered as a special purpose vehicle 
to operate and manage the fibre network with the 
ultimate desire to offering it to strategic investors 
in consideration of equity injection.

2016. The business however made a loss of MK1, 

647million due to significant finance charges, this being 

a 100 percent geared company.

 

Search for Strategic Investors

Due to the high gearing of the company, negotiations 

with strategic investors for injection of equity are at an 

advanced stage and are expected to conclude in early 

2018. It is planned that the strategic investors will take 

up to 60% of the shareholding in OCL and the rest of the 

shareholders will be diluted proportionately.

Total revenues 
were MK3, 804 million 
representing a 47% 
growth compared 
to 2016.

Stella Senti
Chief Executive Officer

BUSINESS OVERVIEW > OPEN CONNECT LIMITED
                                               

OCL offers carrier services to licensed telecommunications 

operators, ISPs and broadcasters. Its services range from 

provision of backbone SDH capacity, metro SDH capacity 

and last mile backhauling dark fibre. 

The company’s shareholding as at 31st December 2017 

was as below:

•	 Press Corporation Plc 		 52.7%

•	 Malawi Government  		  20%

•	 Old Mutual Ltd 		 16.1%

•	 Nico Holdings Plc 		  9%

•	 Investment Alliance Ltd 		 2.2%

Business Composition and Market Share

OCL is a carrier of carriers company that currently owns 

more than 50% of the fibre network in Malawi and covers 

all the country’s four regions, and also crosses the border 

into Tanzania and Mozambique. The lit capacity of the 

network is 10G in redundant mode in the main backbone 

routes and 2.5G in redundant mode for the metros and 

international connectivity. OCL also owns a considerable 

amount of Access Network. 

Business and Performance Highlights 

During the year, OCL entered into business partnerships 

with several telecom operators. Under these partnerships, 

OCL was a preferred service provider of carrier services, 

metro backhauling and Access Network.  

OCL also strategically shifted its operational centres to 

shorten up network down times thereby keeping service 

levels above the required standards.

Total revenues were MK3, 804 million representing a 47% 

growth compared to 2016. EBITDA at MK 2,721million 

was 72% of the total revenue and was 2% higher than 
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Ethanol Company Limited (EthCo) is an ISO 9001, 
ISO14001 and OHSAS 18001 certified company and 
the sole producer of Extra Neutral Alcohol (ENA) 
in Malawi. The company also produces Anhydrous 
(fuel ethanol), rectified (industrial) spirit and has an 
associate that produces coca cola grade carbon 
dioxide for the beverage industry.

2017 Performance Highlights

EthCo registered a bearish performance in 2017 that 

saw a 72% reduction in pre-tax profit against prior 

year due to three external factors. Firstly, Government 

increased enforcements on liquor manufacturers due to 

noncompliance with packaging and quality standards 

which led to the closure of 13 major customers from 

June to the end of the year. This resulted in a significant 

reduction in demand for EthCo’s flagship product, ENA, 

and ultimately revenue. In mitigation, management 

identified an export market where 41% of the sales were 

directed but the base was not sufficient to make up for the 

volume loss on the local market. 

Revenue was also affected by the decision of the 

Regulatory Authorities not to revise upwards the petrol 

price in 2017. The profitability on Absolute Alcohol (AA) 

therefore was less than expected. 

Lastly, frequent power disruptions compelled the company 

to run diesel generators for a third of the production time 

leading to increased costs, challenges in product quality, 

increased downtime and high maintenance costs as a 

result of damage caused by low and high voltages.  

Despite these challenges, management of other costs 

and implementation of mitigation strategies meant that 

the overall inherent risk exposure remained within set 

appetite levels. 

Outlook for 2018

The company is geared to bounce back in 2018 with 

the resumption of operations by the closed liquor 

manufacturers and the implementation of various cost 

containment measures. Furthermore, some sections 

of the plant will be upgraded to improve production 

efficiency and increase flexibility on the production mix.

Strategic Direction

Management continues to work on increasing plant 

capacity utilisation by moving ahead with feedstock 

project (Project RAMA) as a long term solution to 

feedstock challenges. In the short term, the company 

will endeavour to import additional molasses for the 2018 

season to improve plant utilisation which currently is at 

50%. 

The company is geared 
to bounce back in 2018 
with the resumption of 
operations by the closed 
liquor manufacturers...

Lusubilo Chakaniza
Chief Executive Officer

BUSINESS OVERVIEW > ETHANOL COMPANY LIMITED
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Presscane Limited is Malawi’s leading 
producer and marketer of automotive 
fuel grade ethanol that has been used in 
Malawi for blending with imported petrol 
since 1985. It also produces rectified 
spirit used in industrial manufacturing 
processes.

2017 Performance Highlights 

The Company installed a new plant and equipment. This 

has seen the capacity of the plant to produce rectified 

spirit, the intermediate product for manufacturing fuel 

ethanol, increase to 90,000 litres per day from 60,000. 

Intermittent power supply challenges resulted in increased 

production costs due to use of diesel generators thus 

negatively affecting output. The Company had a late start 

of production due to the plant upgrade.

The lower production horizon and molasses conversion 

efficiencies due to persistent power challenges, on 

the back of stagnant prices of fuel ethanol set by the 

energy regulator,  contributed to the operational loss of 

MK254 million recorded in the 2017 financial statements. 

Nonetheless, a net profit of MK556 million was achieved 

owing to investmet income. 

Notable initiatives undertaken in the year include:

•	 Expansion of the distillery from 60 to 90 thousand 	

litres per day.

•	 A business re-engineering exercise that led to 

reduction in head count resulting in stream-lined 

and efficient business processes.

•	 	In partnership with the Ministry of Agriculture, 

initiated studies for production and use of sweet 

sorghum as an alternative feedstock.

•	 Conceptualized a 330 ha sugarcane farm project 

which was selected by the Malawi Innovation 

Challenge Fund (MICF) for consideration by its 

Investment Panel subject to submission of a full 

proposal. 

Strategic Direction

Implementation of the Company’s raw material 

supplementation project christened as RAMA will be a 

priority going forward. This will enable the company to fully 

utilize the now expanded plant capacity. The Company 

will also undertake market and product development 

initiatives leading to diversification regarding uses of 

rectified spirit. 

t

The Company installed 
a new plant that 
increased rectified spirit 
production from 60,000 
to 90,000 litres per day.

Dr Christopher Guta
Chief Executive Officer

BUSINESS OVERVIEW > PRESSCANE LIMITED
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Puma Energy Limited is a leading 
distributor of petroleum products in 
Malawi. The business operates in four 
segments comprising Retail (62 service 
stations); Commercial/wholesale; 
Aviation (at Kamuzu International and 
Chileka airports); and Lubricants. 

Market Position

Demand for petroleum fuels increased by 7% in 2017 

compared with 14% growth in previous year. The 

industry has registered an increase in number of retail 

sites owned by new entrants in the market. The Malawi 

Energy Regulatory Authority (MERA) revised standards 

of constructing retail service stations, including locations 

of new sites. MERA also amended the regulation that 

governs on stock holding days. The amended regulation 

requires that all Oil Marketing Companies (OMC’s) 

comply with minimum stock holding of 30 days, and 

hence terminal capacity of 30 days sales. Compliance 

with these amendments is however yet to be reinforced 

by the regulator. Once implemented, the increased 

holding stock levels is likely to increase working capital 

requirements thereby increasing operating costs. The 

regulator is working on a transport recovery model for 

product delivered beyond 20 kms from storage depots.

2017 Performance Highlights 

The Company increased its retail network by four sites and 

started the fifth site which is expected to be operational by 

mid-2018.

Key focus areas included customer service and safe 

practice improvements. There was no margin increase 

throughout the year.

Product supply was sustained despite implementation 

of a 50-50 fuel importation split between National OIL 

Company of Malawi (NOCMA) and Petroleum Importers 

Limited (PIL).

With no margin increase in the year, cost leadership and 

maximization of revenue for aviation and lubricants were 

key strategies. A total of 139 million litres were sold as 

compared with 135 million litres in 2016.The company 

registered significant market share growth in lubricants 

and commercial sectors.

Total turnover at MK105 billion was 11% higher than in 

2016. Total Operating costs at MK3.9 billion were 26% 

higher than in 2016. Profit Before Tax at MK5.3 billion was 

8% higher than in 2016.

Strategic Direction

During the year, the Company revised its marketing 

strategy to maintain a leadership and profitable position 

for the industry. Revenue maximization, efficient cash 

management and cost leadership will remain key pillars 

of the strategy. A customised investment strategy will 

be implemented in semi urban centres to assist with 

economic growth.

Profit Before Tax at 
MK5.3 billion was 8% 
higher than in 2016.

Dr Davies Lanjesi
Managing Director

BUSINESS OVERVIEW > PUMA ENERGY LIMITED                                               
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Peoples Trading Centre Limited (PTC) 
is a wholly owned subsidiary of Press 
Corporation Plc and is a pioneer of the 
chain stores in Malawi. Currently PTC 
is the retail chain leader with 70 stores 
across Malawi and with foot print in 
almost all districts. 

2017 Performance Highlights 

Despite working capital challenges, the Company 

employed strong controls for managing stock losses 

which has been an Achilles heel in the past years. This 

resulted in a significant decline in shrinkage and wastage 

by more than 50%.  High interest rates continued to exert 

significant pressure on the business performance during 

the year and finance costs remained one of the key 

challenges of the Company.

Strategic Direction

PTC will continue to focus on being the leading fast moving 

consumer goods chain store in Malawi. The Company 

is aligning stores to customer profiles to address the 

diverse local markets. The Peoples brand will focus on the 

mass market while the SPAR and Food Lovers brand will 

target the high end customers. The Company will expand 

foot print in all these store formats going forward after a 

recapitalization process. 

The Company will continue investing in automation and 

measures aimed at improving controls to reduce wastage 

and stock shrinkages. 

Outlook for 2018

Outlook for 2018 is brighter than 2017 due to the 

planned recapitalization exercise and on account of 

stable exchange rate and declining interest rates. Power 

challenges are expected to affect the confectionary, 

butchery and fresh foods business and increase costs 

through the use of generators. However, PTC is well 

positioned to take full advantage of the economic 

prospects and a growing market. Product offering will be 

properly aligned with the growing markets.

Outlook for 2018 is 
brighter than 2017 
due to the planned 
recapitalization 
exercise...

Matthews Chikankheni
Chief Executive Officer

BUSINESS OVERVIEW > PEOPLES TRADING CENTRE LIMITED
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Macsteel Malawi Limited is the largest leading 
manufacturer and distributor of steel, wire and 
roofing products to the construction industry 
in Malawi. The Company is a Joint Venture 
with Macsteel Service Centers in South Africa.

Performance

Sales volumes in 2017 were down by 18% as construction 

and infrastructure projects shrank. This was mainly due 

to the difficult economic environment and increased steel 

prices on the international market. Intermittent power 

supply challenges had a huge impact on steel fabrication 

and production which increased costs. Consequently the 

Company registered a decrease in profit by almost 46% 

i.e. from K648.0 million in 2016 to K441.0 million in 2017.

Outlook

Malawi’s key economic indicators have improved and 

there will be an increase in infrastructure and construction 

projects. Performance in 2018 is therefore expected to 

recover. The Company will introduce two new popular 

The Company will 
introduce two new 
popular roofing 
products which will 
further improve sales 
volumes.

Ricky White
Managing Director

BUSINESS OVERVIEW > MACSTEEL MALAWI LIMITED                                            

roofing products which will further improve sales volumes.

The Company will continue with its cost cutting exercise 

by improving production and administration efficiencies. 
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In August 2016, Castel Group replaced Carlsberg A/S 
by taking ownership of bottling and brewing operations 
of Carlsberg Malawi Ltd. Carlsberg (Malawi) Limited had 
been operating in Malawi since 1968 and was the first 
brewery established outside Copenhagen, Denmark by 
the Danish brewer, Carlsberg.

Castel Group is the leading producer of wine in Europe 
and has a significant market share in the production of 
beer and soft drinks in Africa. Following the change of 
ownership, the company officially changed its name 
to Castel Malawi Limited on 24th October 2017. Castel 
Malawi operates from 4 sites across the country with 6 
production lines supplying customers and consumers via 
13 owned depots and 7 contracted depots.

Market Position

Castel Malawi has continued to be the leading beverage 
producer in Malawi with its beer brands which include 
Carlsberg Green, Stout, Special Brew, Chill and local 
power brand Kuche Kuche. The soft drinks range includes 
Coca- Cola, Fanta, Sprite, Sobo squash and Quench still 
water and the spirits range includes the iconic Malawi Gin, 
Malawi Vodka, Powers Brandy, Powers No. 1 and Premier 
Brandy. Castel Malawi holds 90% of the clear beer market 
and 80% of the soft drinks market with around 20% of the 
local spirit market in glass. Malawi Gin is the best seller in 
the spirit range and is an export product as well.

2017 Performance Highlights

Overall, the business declined by 10% in 2017 compared 
to 2016. The Company experienced notable decline in 
soft drinks volume (mainly the Coca-Cola range). This 
is attributed to the influx of various imported carbonated 
drinks in various pack sizes, flavors, mainly in plastic 
bottles (PET), in nearly all channels. Eighty percent (80%) 
of the competition was coming onto the market through 

Olivier Henri Renson
Chief Executive Officer

BUSINESS OVERVIEW > CASTEL MALAWI LIMITED

informal channels/imports. This resulted in the Company’s 
losing some market share to its competitors. 

Against this background, Castel Malawi launched PET 
packaging in 350ml, 500ml and 2 litre, for a range of 
sparkling products to help fight off competition. The 
Company also extended the Quench packaging to 
include 1 and 2 litre packs thereby increasing consumer 
offering. The sparkling beverage portfolio was expanded 
with a new product called World Cola and with the launch 
of additional Sobo sparkling flavours. Castel Malawi also 
resumed production and sale of Sobo Tonic and Ginger. 
In addition, new product categories were introduced 
which included the launch of an energy drink (XXL), wine 
(Maison Castel) and juice (Compal Juice). 

Outlook for 2018

The Company is optimistic that 2018 will provide the 
requisite environment for improvements to be made 
across various departments. The Company aims at 
consolidating its product portfolio; supply chain; and 
production and to bring innovation with the launching of 
new products, especially new beer and draught beer. 

Strategic Direction

The main focus of the business at present is to regain 
the desired levels of volumes; operating efficiencies; 
and profit; and to deliver on 2018 priorities. In the long 
term the aim is to consistently grow the product base in 
Malawi, broaden the product range and to be able to offer 
Malawi’s consumers a complete range of beverages at 
affordable prices. 

Overall, management is committed to ensuring that set 
plans are implemented effectively timely and in a quality 
manner in order to secure a stronger and successful 2018.

Castel (Malawi) Limited is the 
leading producer and distributor 
of alcoholic and non-alcoholic 
beverages in Malawi. 
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Feed Division
Due to the strategic focus to increase Chambo production 
and importation of floating fish feed, the feed mill was 
inactive and a management decision was made to close 
the feed mill whilst waiting for investment in a new feed 
plant.

Strategic Drection

The goal for the Aquaculture Division is to grow Chambo 
production output to 2000 – 5000 tons per annum in the 
medium to long term to satisfy local demand and tap 
on regional export market. In this respect, additional 20 
cages will be added in 2018. The Company plans to 
acquire a new feed plant to produce high quality extruded 
feed in the medium term. 

The Company will also prioritize the use of high quality 
floating feed, invest in processing and holding facilities, 
and adopt modern technologies in order to improve 
security. In addition, the Company intends to revamp its 
distribution channels in a bid to improve fish uptake

Outlook for 2018

The implementation of these initiatives is expected to 
significantly improve performance of the Company in 
2018. However power shortages, and high costs of 
imported floating fish feed and raw materials will impact 
on the production costs of Aqua Chambo. 

The Foods Company Limited (TFCL), is the single, largest commercial 
fishing company and large-scale aquaculture producer of tilapia in 
Malawi. TFCL operates three divisions: Maldeco Fisheries engaged in 
capture fishing (open lake), Maldeco Aquaculture which produces its 
farmed tilapia (branded Aqua Chambo) in circular floating cages in Lake 
Malawi and the Fish Feed division.

2017 Performance Overview

The Company’s overall performance continues to improve 
despite the tough operating environment. It registered 
increased fish production during the year, despite 
power challenges and reduced fish levels in traditional 
fishing areas. High fish feed costs resulted in increased 
production costs.

Aquaculture
The Aquaculture Division continues to improve. The 
Company is now able to grow Chambo to 300g within 
a culture period of seven months and due to this 
improvement the Company is able to realize more 
revenues per kg.

Harvests and revenues grew by 25% and 106% 
respectively over prior year due to the use of high 
quality floating feed and improvements in aquaculture 
management. As at 31st December 2017, the Company 
had over 200 tons of fish ready for harvest.

Capture Fisheries
2017 was a particularly bad year with the lowest tonnage 
captured over the past five years. General fish scarcity 
due to climate change and the increasing number of 
illegal commercial fishing operators within the traditional 
fishing areas was the major reason for reduced catches.

Catches and revenues were 44% and 33% respectively 
below prior year.

Jenara Ngwale
Operations Manager

BUSINESS OVERVIEW > THE FOODS COMPANY LIMITED                                              

Capture Fisheries Five Year Performance

Aqua Chambo Five Year Performance
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Press Properties Limited (PPL) was established 
in 1969, and is a 100% subsidiary of Press 
Corporation Plc (PCL). For close to 50 years, the 
company’s major business has been property 
development and property letting. Recently, 
it has expanded its sphere of operations to 
include property management, property sales 
and valuation services for third party clients. 

2017 Performance Highlights 

In 2017, the performance of the company was anchored 

by a sales promotion campaign to accelerate sales of 

plots at Chapima Heights. The promotion was aimed at 

unlocking the funds and redirect the investments to very 

profitable ventures. As a result of the sales promotion 

campaign, the Company generated revenues of over 

MK300 million. Apart from increasing property sales 

revenue, the rental income grew by 12%. These initiatives 

resulted in an overall pre-tax profit growth of 101% over 

2016. 

Press Properties started implementing a new strategic 

plan for the years 2017 to 2020 titled “Consolidation 

and Growth Strategy” in order to sustain and grow 

shareholders’ value. Among its pillars, the strategy 

prioritises revenue diversification by growing property 

management income and enhancing earning capacity of 

existing portfolio through refurbishment and renovation of 

existing properties.  

Outlook for 2018

Once the business has been consolidated, from 2018 

onwards the company will embark on a growth path and 

will focus on among other things developing residential 

and commercial plots; partnering with group companies 

in providing their real estate needs and identifying land 

in Lilongwe for development of commercial and industrial 

complexes as well as residential houses. 

The Company 
realised an overall 
pre-tax profit growth 
of 101% over 2016

Hlazo Nyirenda
Operations Manager

BUSINESS OVERVIEW > PRESS PROPERTIES LIMITED
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Limbe Leaf Tobacco Company Limited procures and packs tobacco 
leaf through its two processing facilities in Lilongwe and Limbe, and 
exports the packed product to destinations all over the world. The 
company buys directly from farmers that it has contracts with and 
from the auction floors.

The company has forged partnerships with farmers and 
communities where tobacco is grown to ensure the crop, the 
environment and their business is sustainable.

2017 Performance Highlights 

The Company purchased 31% of total national leaf 

tobacco crop production during the year. Factory 

processing volumes were 39% lower than the previous 

year following a reduced national crop. Pretax profits 

therefore decreased by 6% as compared to the previous 

year.

The Company’s sustainability programmes included 

a comprehensive forestry program which saw the 

planting of 350 hectares and 150 hectares of trees under 

the company’s smallholder and commercial forestry 

programmes respectively. The programme and other 

related initiatives aim at progressively matching and 

exceeding wood use in the production of its leaf tobacco 

purchases.

Outlook

It is expected that there will be a bigger tobacco crop 

in 2018 in comparison to the 2017 crop and this may 

positively impact processing volumes and performance 

for the coming year. 

It is expected that 
there will be a bigger 
tobacco crop in 2018 
in comparison to the 
2017 crop

Donal McAlpine
Managing Director

BUSINESS OVERVIEW > LIMBE LEAF TOBACCO COMPANY LIMITED
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Board of Directors

The Board of Directors has the ultimate responsibility of setting the direction of the Group through the provision of 

oversight over the execution of strategic objectives and key policies by management in compliance with applicable 

legislation, regulations and governance codes for Malawi. The Board meets a minimum of four times in a year. During 

the year under review, the Board held one special meeting in February and four regular meetings in March, May, August 

and November 2017.

At 31 December 2017 the Board consisted of six non-executive directors and two executive directors. The Chairman is a 

non-executive director and has a casting vote.

Press Trust and Old Mutual Life Assurance Company Limited nominate five of the non-executive directors. These 

directors are appointed in accordance with the Company’s Articles of Association. At 31 December 2017 Press Trust and 

Old Mutual owned 45.08% and 15.2% respectively of the shares in the Company. Executive Directors are appointed by 

the whole Board from members of Executive Management.

The Board is accountable to shareholders, but it proceeds mindful of the interests of the Group’s staff, customers, 

suppliers and the communities in which the Group pursues its interests. In the performance of its functions, the Board is 

guided by, and has due regard to, the following governance instruments: 

i.		 Companies Act, 2013

ii.		 The Malawi Code on Corporate Governance

iii.		 King  Reports as updated from time to time

iv.		 The Cadbury Report of UK as updated from time to time

The names of the executive and non-executive directors in office as at 31 December 2017 and at the date of this report 

are set out on Pages 40 to 41

Board Meetings – Meeting Attendance

Member	         14 Feb   	 31 March   	 26 May   	 25 Aug     	 24 Nov 

	

Mr P W Khembo	 	 	 	 	 	 100%

Mr A G Barron	 	 	 	 	 A	 80%

Mr P D Mhango	 	 	 	 	 N/A	 100%

Mrs E W Nuka	 	 	 	 	 	 100%

Mr A B Chidyaonga	 	 	 	 	 	 100%

Mrs E Jiya	                 N/A          	 N/A          	 N/A	               N/A	            	 100%

Mr G Ngalamila       	  N/A          	 N/A          	 N/A	               N/A	            	 100%

Dr G B Partridge	 	 	 	 	 	 100%

Mr J Biziwick	 	 	 	 	 	 100%

Former Directors

Mr D Kafoteka	 	 	 	 	 N/A	 100%

						    

Key

– Present      A – 	Apology     N/A – Not applicable
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Board Committees

 
Appointments and Remuneration Committee
The Committee comprises three non-executive directors. It is currently chaired by Mr A G Barron. Members of Executive 
Management also attend the Committee’s meetings on invitation.

The principal function of the Committee is to ensure that the Group’s human resources are best utilised and that members 
of staff are remunerated commensurate with their responsibilities and effectiveness, by reviewing salary trends in the 
market and approving salaries at the Executive Directors’ and Executive Management level based on these findings.

During the year under review the Committee met five times; in February, March, May, August, and November.

Appointments And Remuneration Committee Meetings – Meeting Attendance

Member 	 13 Feb 	       27 March	    22 May 	      11 Aug      	 20 Nov 	

Mr A G Barron	 	 	                      	               	 	 100%
Mr A B Chidyaonga	 	 	                      	                	 	 100%
Dr G Partridge	 	 	 	 	 	 100%
Mr J Biziwick	 	 	 	 	  	 100%

Former Directors
Mr D Kafoteka	 	 	                      	                	                  	 100%

Key
– Present       A – 	Apology     N/A – Not applicable

Finance, Audit and Invesment Committee
The Committee’s major responsibilities are to review the principles, policies and practices adopted in the preparation of 
the accounts of the Company and to ensure that the annual financial statements and any other formal announcements 
relating to the financial performance comply with all statutory and regulatory requirements as may be required. It also 
ensures that the consolidated interim financial statements comply with all statutory requirements, review the work of 
PCL’s external and internal auditors to ensure the adequacy and effectiveness of financial, operating, compliance and 
risk management controls. It ensures that management has put in place appropriate policies and processes in respect 
of investment and finance activities proposed or undertaken by PCL. 

The Committee in the year under review comprised of two non-executive directors and one co-opted non-board member. 
Currently the Committee is re-constituted with three non-executive directors. Members of Executive Management as 
well as the Group Internal Audit Manager attend the meetings by invitation. The Committee is currently chaired by Mrs E 
Nuka. The Company’s External and Internal Auditors have unrestricted access to the Committee Chairperson.
During the year under review, the Committee met four times: in March, May, August and November. 

Finance, Audit and Investment Committee Meetings – Meeting Attendance

Member	        28 March	    23 May     	 22 Aug    	 20 Nov

Mrs Nuka	                        	                      	 	                 	 100%
Mrs E Jiya	                 N/A        	 N/A	                N/A	               	 100%
Dr G Partridge          	        	                      	                  	                 	 100%
Mr J Biziwick	                     	                      	                  	                 	 100%

Former Directors
Mr D Kafoteka	                      	                      	                  	                  	 100%
Mr D Kambalametore	        	                      	                 	                 	 100%

Key

– Present        A – 	Apology     N/A – Not applicable
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Internal Audit

The effectiveness of the Group’s systems of internal controls is monitored continually through reviews and reports from 

the Group Internal Audit Manager who reports directly to the Committee. The principal role of Internal Audit Department 

is to assist the Board in particular and management in general accomplish the Company’s objectives by bringing 

in a systematic and disciplined approach to evaluate and improve the effectiveness of governance processes, risk 

management and systems of internal controls. 

The Company’s external auditors review and test appropriate aspects of internal financial control systems during the 

course of their normal statutory audits of financial statements of the Company and its subsidiaries.

A formal “Schedule of Authority” is in place that specifically reserves certain matters for the board decisions. 

Integrity

Directors’ interests in contracts
All directors are required to complete a Declaration of Interest Form which is updated annually. No director had any 

material interest directly or indirectly in any contract reviewed or approved by the Board in the year under review.

Trading in company securities
Trading in the Company’s securities on the Malawi Stock Exchange continues to be governed by a Share Trading Policy, 

a mechanism to guard against insider trading by all employees and directors.

Code of ethics    
PCL and its subsidiaries are committed to a policy of fair dealing and integrity in the conduct of their businesses. This 

commitment is based on the fundamental belief that business should be conducted honestly, fairly and legally. The 

Board formally adopted a comprehensive code of ethics that is applied throughout the Group in the conduct of its affairs. 

This code provides a detailed guideline governing the all-important relationships between the various stakeholders and 

the communities in which the Group operates.  

Diversity

PCL continues with a gradual implementation of its policy on gender diversity which is modeled on the 30% Club. 

Currently female representation is at 25% at Group level. The aspiration of the Group is to appoint more qualifying women 

to executive and non-executive directorships on the boards of PCL or its subsidiary companies. Furthermore, the Group 

is keen to improve the pipeline below board level, to widen the talent pool available to its businesses.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE                                               
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE                                               

Profile of Directors

Mr. Khembo is an Agronomist and, until his retirement in 2015, was the Managing Director 
of Chemicals & Marketing Co which was previously known as ICI Malawi Ltd, a subsidiary 
of ICI Plc. He joined ICI Malawi Ltd in 1984 and was seconded to ICI Agrochemicals 
International Headquarters based in Surrey United Kingdom in 1989 where he was 
appointed Marketing Manager covering Angola, Malawi, Mozambique Zambia and 
Zimbabwe. In 1993 he was one of the two principle shareholders of the company following 
a management buyout that was carried out as a result of the voluntary liquidation of 
the company. Mr. Khembo started his career in 1977 when he joined Shell Chemicals 
Malawi Ltd, a subsidiary of Shell Plc trading in agricultural and industrial chemicals. He 
has served on several boards including Standard Bank Plc, Indebank, Cotton Council 
of Malawi, Malawi Human Rights Resource Centre, Legumes Development Trust and 
Blantyre Health Research & Training Trust among others.

Mr. Barron is a farmer and the Managing Director of Mbabzi Estates Limited and Lincoln 
Investments (Pvt) Limited, a position that he has held since 1989.  He also has a number 
of other business interests and is a director at Mpico PLC, Mpico Malls Ltd, Team Planet 
Ltd. and Plantation House Investments Limited.  He also chairs Seed-Co Malawi and sits 
on the Seed-Co group board.

Patrick W. Khembo, 
Director (63)
BSc (Agr.)
CHAIRMAN (from 05/05/2016)			            Appointed to the Board on 26/6/2015

Andrew G Barron (58)
HND Bus
DIRECTOR 			            Appointed to the Board on 26/6/2015

Mr. Chidyaonga is a Chartered Architect and the Managing Partner of The ABC Design 
Associates, an Architectural firm he established in 1996. Prior to setting up his firm, he 
worked in the civil service at the Ministry of Education where he served under the Projects 
Implementation Unit as Project Architect. Later he served as Deputy Project Manager 
responsible for overall design, management and implementation of Ministry of Education 
building projects funded by the World Bank and the African Development Fund. Between 
1988 and 1992, he worked in the United Kingdom with a London based Architectural firm 
called Integrated Design Architects as its Project Architect. Mr. Chidyaonga served as a 
Trustee of Press Trust from 2002 to 2016. He is also a member of several professional 
bodies including The Royal Institute of British Architects, Malawi Institute of Architects, 
and Board of Architects and Quantity Surveyors in Malawi. Mr. Chidyaonga also sits 
on various boards and currently chairs the board of the National Construction Industry 
Council of Malawi (NCIC),a board responsible for regulating, and development of the 
construction industry in Malawi.

Arthur Ben Chidyaonga (61)
RIBA: DIP Arch; BA Arch;DIP TT.
DIRECTOR 			           Appointed to the Board on 01/04/2016
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Profile of Directors

Mrs Nuka is a chartered accountant with extensive experience in financial management 
and accounting. She is a Financial Management Consultant, Certified Trainer, Life 
& Executive Coach and Founder of EWN Consulting & Training, a consulting and 
coaching firm that specializes in providing consulting, training and coaching services for 
corporations as well as individuals on financial management, leadership and principles 
of success and transformation. Prior to setting up EWN Consulting & Training, she 
worked as Head of Finance and Administration and Director of Finance for the following 
organizations: Christian Health Association of Malawi, Malawi Revenue Authority, 
National Seed Company of Malawi and PSI/Malawi. She also worked as an auditor with 
Price Waterhouse. She has over the years served on several boards including Mandala 
Limited, NBS Bank, Electricity Supply Corporation, Malawi Energy Regulatory Authority, 
Francis Pilau (Mtengowanthenga) Hospital and Pakachere Trust. She currently chairs the 
board of United General Insurance  Company Limited and sits on the board of Select 
Financial Services (Malawi). 

Mrs. Jiya is Group CEO of Old Mutual (Malawi) Ltd since 1st March 2017. Previously, she 
was the Managing Director of the Old Mutual Life Assurance Company (Malawi) Ltd.  She 
has held a number of other managerial positions as a senior manager within Old Mutual 
Life Assurance Company (Malawi) Ltd and BP Malawi Ltd.

She is an associate member of the Chartered Insurance Institute (CII) UK and the 
Chartered Institute of Marketing (CIM). She holds a Master of Sciences Degree in Strategic 
Management from the University of Derby and a Bachelor of Business Administration 
Degree from the University of Malawi, the Polytechnic obtained in 1996. 
She sits on various boards including FDH Financial Holdings Ltd, Insurance Institute of 
Malawi and Holy Family Nursing College. 

Estelle Wongani Nuka (51)
MBA, FCCA, CPA(M), B.Com
DIRECTOR			              Appointed to the Board on 27/05/16

Edith Jiya (41)
CII, MSc, BA (Bus.Admn)
DIRECTOR 			            Appointed to the Board on 25/08/2017

Mr Ngalamila is the Executive Secretary of Press Trust. He joined Press Trust on 1st 
September 2003 and has served the Trust in various capacities within the operations 
department. As Head of Operations he was responsible for managing the strategic 
interests of the Trust. He was appointed Executive Secretary on 1st November 2017.  
He holds a Bachelor of Accountancy (B.Acc.) degree with distinction from the University 
of Malawi. He is also a Fellow of the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants 
(FCCA). He is a duly registered chartered accountant (CA) with the Malawi Accountants 
Board and a member of the Institute of Chartered Accountants in Malawi (ICAM). He 
is also a chartered company secretary with the Institute of Chartered Secretaries and 
Administrators (ICSA). Mr Ngalamila has over the years served as director on the boards 
of a number of companies and organisations, including Press Agriculture Limited and 
Continental Holdings Limited.

Gibson S Ngalamila (37)
ACIS, ICSA, FCCA, B.Acc, CA
DIRECTOR 			           Appointed to the Board on 01/11/2017
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE                                               

Profile of Directors

Dr. Partridge was appointed Group Chief Executive on 1st November 2016. Prior to 
this, he was the Chief Executive Officer of National Bank of Malawi a position he held 
from November 2006 to October 2016. Before that, he served as Head of Treasury and 
Finance, General Manager and Deputy Chief Executive Officer having joined the Bank in 
1994. Prior to joining the Bank, he worked in various capacities at the Reserve Bank of 
Malawi for 11 years rising to the position of Director. Dr. Partridge was instrumental in the 
formation of the Institute of Bankers in  Malawi, where he served as its first President. In 
his own right, Dr. Partridge has over the years served on a number of private and public 
sector boards and national economic advisory committees. During the year, he served 
as a member of the Council of the University of Malawi and currently he is the Chairman 
of the board of Malawi Airlines Limited. In recognition of his achievements and service to 
society, he was awarded an honorary Doctor of Philosophy (PhD) degree in Leadership 
and Management in 2015 by the University of Malawi.

Mr Biziwick joined the Group as Group Operations Executive on 5th October, 2015. Prior 
to this, he worked as Commissioner General of the Malawi Revenue Authority (MRA) 
from June 2012 to July 2014. Before joining the MRA, Mr. Biziwick worked for NBS Bank 
Plc as the Chief Executive Officer from 2002 to 2012 and as Deputy General Manager 
(Operations) from 2000 to 2002.  Mr. Biziwick began his professional career in the 
Reserve Bank of Malawi which he joined in 1980 as an Economist.  From 1980 to 2000 he 
worked in various departments including the Research and Statistics, Foreign Exchange, 
Exchange Control and International Operations. In his own right, he sits on a number of 
boards including the Medical Aid Society of Malawi.

Dr George Partridge (54)
B.Soc.Sc, (Econ), MSc (Finance), 
FCCA, CA(M), Ph.D
EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR			           Appointed to the Board on 24/11/2016

John Biziwick (59)
B.Soc Sc (Economics), Msc (Economics)
EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR			           Appointed to the Board on 27/11/2015
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Management
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Dr. Partridge was born on 22nd May 1963. He was appointed Group Chief Executive on 
1st November 2016. Prior to this, he was the Chief Executive Officer of National Bank of 
Malawi a position he held from November 2006 to October 2016. Before that, he served 
as Head of Treasury and Finance, General Manager and Deputy Chief Executive Officer 
having joined the Bank in 1994. Prior to joining the Bank, he worked in various capacities 
at the Reserve Bank of Malawi for 11 years rising to the position of Director. Dr. Partridge 
was instrumental in the formation of the Institute of Bankers in Malawi, where he served as 
its first President. In his own right, Dr. Partridge has over the years served on a number of 
private and public sector boards and national economic advisory committees. During the 
year, he served as a member of the Council of the University of Malawi and currently he is 
the Chairman of the board of Malawi Airlines Limited. In recognition of his achievements 
and service to society, he was awarded an honorary Doctor of Philosophy (PhD) degree 
in Leadership and Management in 2015 by the University of Malawi.

Mr Biziwick was born on 13th June 1958. He joined the Group as Group Operations 
Executive on 5th October, 2015. Prior to this, he worked as Commissioner General of the 
Malawi Revenue Authority (MRA) from June 2012 to July 2014. Before joining the MRA, 
Mr. Biziwick worked for NBS Bank Plc as the Chief Executive Officer from 2002 to 2012 
and as Deputy General Manager (Operations) from 2000 to 2002.  Mr. Biziwick began 
his professional career in the Reserve Bank of Malawi which he joined in 1980 as an 
Economist.  From 1980 to 2000 he worked in various departments including the Research 
and Statistics, Foreign Exchange, Exchange Control and International Operations.

Mrs Elizabeth Mafeni was born on 26th October 1968. She joined the Group in 
September 1999 as Chief Accountant at Malawi Pharmacies Limited. In June 2000 she 
was transferred to the Corporate Head Office initially as Chief Accountant until 2003 when 
she was promoted to the position of Group Financial Accountant. On 01 October 2010, 
she was promoted to the position of Group Financial Controller.

Mr. Ndau was born on 12th January 1972. He joined the Group in December 2012 as 
Company Secretary/ Compliance Officer. Prior to this, he served as Director of Regulatory 
Affairs at Airtel Malawi Ltd. Before joining Airtel, Mr Ndau worked as General Counsel of 
the Malawi Communications Regulatory Authority (MACRA) from 2008 to 2011 and as 
Legal Counsel in the legal department of the World Bank in Washington DC from 2005 to 
2007. As Legal Practitioner, he worked for a private practice firm of Messrs Savjani & Co 
from 1999 to 2004. 

Dr George Partridge (54)
B.Soc.Sc, (Econ), MSc (Finance), FCCA, CA(M), Ph.D
Executive Director
GROUP CHIEF EXECUTIVE			           

John Biziwick (59)
B.Soc Sc (Economics), Msc (Economics)
Executive Director
GROUP OPERATIONS EXECUTIVE			           

Elizabeth Mafeni (Mrs) (49)
MBL, FCCA, CPA(M), BCom.
GROUP FINANCIAL CONTROLLER		          

Benard M.W. Ndau (45)
LL.M (USA), LL.B (Hons).
GROUP ADMINISTRATION EXECUTIVE AND GENERAL COUNSEL	          
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	 2017	 2016	 2015	 2014	 2013
	 MK’m	 MK’m	 MK’m	 MK’m	 MK’m
		  Restated			 

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF 
COMPREHENSIVE INCOME					   
Turnover	 200,480 	 188,857 	 161,136 	 136,787 	 113,717 
Profit  before income tax and share of profit of 
equity-accounted investees	 49,269 	 24,194 	 19,488 	 27,394 	 20,509 
Share of profit of equity-accounted investees 
net of income tax	 4,842 	 5,543 	 4,284 	 5,213 	 4,405 
Profit before income tax	  54,111 	  29,737 	  23,772 	  32,607 	  24,914 
Income tax expense	  (14,438)	  (14,418)	  (11,528)	  (10,987)	  (7,550)
Profit after income tax	  39,673 	  15,319 	  12,244 	  21,620 	  17,364 
Attributable to non-controlling interests	  (15,756)	  (10,410)	  (8,047)	  (10,886)	  (7,992)
Attributable to owners of the company	  23,917 	  4,909 	  4,197 	  10,734 	  9,372 
Dividend paid to ordinary shareholders	  (2,104)	  (1,022)	  (1,563)	  (1,263)	  (661)
Retained profit	  21,813 	  3,887 	  2,634 	  9,471 	  8,711 
					   
Basic earnings per share (MK)	  198.98 	  40.84 	  34.92 	  89.30 	  77.97 
Dividend per share (MK)	  17.50 	  8.50 	  13.00 	  10.51 	  5.50 
					   
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS 
OF FINANCIAL POSITION					   
Property, plant and equipment	  105,908 	  93,453 	  89,820 	  77,816 	  68,206 
Investment properties	  6,564 	  5,360 	  4,783 	  3,270 	  3,096 
Investment in equity accounted investees	  40,687 	  39,627 	  32,835 	  19,628 	  13,922 
Other non-current assets	  85,523 	  68,568 	  64,579 	  50,148 	  33,119 
Net current liabilities	  (15,780)	  (36,246)	  (49,726)	  (24,900)	  (17,092)
Total employment of capital	  222,902 	  170,762 	  142,291 	  125,962 	  101,251 
					   
Ordinary shareholders’ funds	  125,557 	  101,311 	  91,698 	  74,731 	  57,090 
Non-controlling interest	  56,287 	  46,214 	  38,710 	  32,138 	  23,394 
Loans and borrowings	  38,248 	  20,246 	  10,150 	  17,395 	  17,306 
Provisions	  70 	  -   	  -   	  -   	  -   
Deferred tax liabilities	  2,740 	  2,991 	  1,733 	  1,698 	  3,461 
Total capital employed	  222,902 	  170,762 	  142,291 	  125,962 	  101,251 
					   
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS					   
OPERATING ACTIVITIES					   
Cash generated from operations	  44,643 	  42,486 	  32,308 	  40,896 	  42,386 
Interest and tax paid	  (24,764)	  (20,698)	  (23,333)	  (15,920)	  (11,972)
Cashflows from operating activities	  19,879 	  21,788 	  8,975 	  24,976 	  30,414 
					   
INVESTING ACTIVITIES					   
Interest/Dividend received	  3,239 	  4,072 	  4,103 	  4,779 	  8,923 
Capital expenditure	  (26,908)	  (19,420)	  (17,248)	  (22,663)	  (12,290)
(Acquisition) /Disposalof subsidiaries net of cash	  17,216 	  (26)	  (575)	  -   	  -   
Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment 
and investment properties	  1,617 	  1,585 	 1172	 1622	 874
Cashflows (used in) investing activities	  (4,836)	  (13,789)	  (12,548)	  (16,262)	  (2,493)
					   
FINANCING ACTIVITIES					   
Proceeds from issue of shares	  -   	  -   	  -   	  -   	  -   
Dividends paid to non-controlling shareholders	  (7,209)	  (5,079)	  (5,040)	  (3,779)	  (3,242)
Dividends paid to shareholders of the company	  (2,104)	  (1,022)	  (1,563)	  (1,263)	  (661)
Increase/(decrease) in borrowings	  16,297 	  (2,529)	  (455)	  2,934 	  (582)
Cashflows from/(used in) financing activities	  6,984 	  (8,630)	  (7,058)	  (2,108)	  (4,485)
NET INCREASE/(DECREASE) IN CASH 
& CASH EQUIVALENTS	  22,027 	  (631)	  (10,631)	  6,606 	  23,436 

FIVE YEAR GROUP GROUP FINANCIAL REVIEW
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The Directors have pleasure in presenting their report together with the audited consolidated and separate 
financial statements of Press Corporation plc for the year ended 31 December 2017.

1.	 INCORPORATION AND REGISTERED OFFICE

	 Press Corporation plc is a Company incorporated in Malawi under the Companies Act, 2013. It was listed on the Malawi 
Stock Exchange in September 1998 and on the London Stock Exchange in July 1998 as a Global Depository Receipt. 

	 The address of its registered office is:
	 3rd Floor
	 NBM Top Mandala Building
	 Kaohsiung Road
	 P.O. Box 1227
	 BLANTYRE

2.	 PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES OF THE GROUP 

	 Press Corporation plc is a diversified Group with significant interests in the Malawi economy. Its subsidiary companies 
operate in financial services; telecommunications; energy; retail; consumer products and real estate. Press Corporation 
plc has two joint venture companies in the energy and consumer goods sectors. It also has two associates in the agro-in-
dustrial and food and beverages sectors.

3.	 FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE 

	 The results and state of affairs of the Group and the Company are set out in the accompanying consolidated and separate 
financial statements which comprise of the statements of: financial position; comprehensive income; changes in equity 
and cash flows and related notes to the financial statements.

4.	 SHARE CAPITAL AND SHAREHOLDING 

	 The authorised share capital of the Group is K25 million (2016: K25 million) divided into 2,500,000,000 Ordinary Shares 
of K0.01 each. The issued and fully paid capital is K1.2 million (2016: K1.2 million) divided into 120,255,713 (2016: 
120,255,713) fully paid Ordinary Shares of K0.01 each.

	 The shareholding structure at year end was as follows:-
	
		  2017	 2016
		  %	 %

	 Press Trust	 45.08	 44.78	
Old Mutual Life Assurance Company Limited	 15.15	 15.15	
Deutsche Bank Trust Company America	 22.34	 22.34	
Others	 17.43	 17.73	
	 100.00	 100.00	
		

5.	 DIVIDENDS

	 The net profit attributable to owners of the Company for the year of K23.9 billion (2016: K4.9 billion) has been added to 
retained earnings. The directors have proposed a final dividend for the year 2017 of K2.4 billion (2016: K1.5 billion) repre-
senting K20.00 per share (2016: K12.50) to be tabled at the forth coming Annual General Meeting.

6.	 DIRECTORATE AND COMPANY SECRETARY

	 The names of the Company’s directors and secretary are listed below:-

Mr. P Khembo Chairman Throughout the year Non-executive

Mr. B Chidyaonga Director Throughout the year Non-executive

Mrs. E Nuka Director Throughout the year Non-executive

Dr. G Partridge Director/ Group Chief 
Executive

Throughout the year Executive 

Mr J Biziwick Director / Group 
Operations Executive

Throughout the year Executive 

Mr. D Kafoteka Director Up to August 2017 Non-executive

DIRECTORS’ REPORT
As at 31 December 2017                                                 
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Mrs. E Jiya Director From September 2017 Non-executive

Mr. P Mhango Director Up to June 2017 Non-executive

Mr. G Ngalamila Director From November 2017 Non-executive

Mr. A Barron Director Throughout the year Non-executive

Mr. B Ndau Company Secretary Throughout the year Executive

7.	 DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION

	 The directors’ fees and remuneration for the year was as follows:

	 Entity	 Non-executive 	 Executive
		  Directors fess 	 Directors
		  and expenses	 remuneration	 Total
		  K’ million	 K’ million	 K’ million

For the year ended 31 December 2017			 
Press Corporation Plc	                           67 	                  875 	 942
Telekom Networks Malawi Plc	                         104 	                  451 	 555
National Bank of Malawi Plc	                           56 	                  264 	 320
The Foods Company Limited	                           19 	                    -   	 19
Malawi Telecommunications Limited	                           22 	                    54 	 76
Open Connect Limited	                             6 	                    -   	 6
Presscane Limited	                           21 	                    -   	 21
Press Properties Limited	                           10 	                    -   	 10
Ethanol Company Limited	                           23 	                    -   	 23
Peoples Trading Centre Limited	       23 	          48 	        71
	    	  351 	     1,692 	   2,043

For the year ended 31 December 2016			 
Press Corporation Plc	                           87 	                  513 	 600
Telekom Networks Malawi Plc	                           99 	                  334 	 433
National Bank of Malawi Plc	                           64 	                  548 	 612
The Foods Company Limited	                           15 	                    -   	 15
Malawi Telecommunications Limited	                           10 	                    49 	 59
Open Connect Limited	                             2 	                    -   	 2
Presscane Limited	                           15 	                    -   	 15
Press Properties Limited	                             8 	                    -   	 8
Ethanol Company Limited	                           18 	                    -   	 18
Peoples Trading Centre Limited	       15 	         24 	         39

	     	 333 	    1,468 	    1,801 

8.	 DIRECTORS’ TENURE POLICY

	 In accordance with the Articles of Association, non-executive Directors are appointed by the major shareholders namely 
Press Trust and Old Mutual Plc with the exception of one independent Director (Mr. A. Barron) who is nominated by the 
Board of Directors and confirmed by the Annual General Meeting.

	 Unless a Director resigns, non-executive Directors appointed by the major shareholders serve on the Board up until they 
are recalled by the particular appointing major shareholder whereas an independent non-executive Director serves a 
one year term renewable at the Annual General Meeting. Mr. A. Barron shall therefore retire by rotation as Director at the 
ensuing Annual General Meeting and is eligible for re-appointment, should he offer himself.

	 Executive Directors serve on the Board by virtue of their offices and their tenure is as per the terms of their contract of 
employment. Accordingly, the current contract of employment for Executive Director Dr. G Partridge expires on 22nd May 
2023 and that of Mr. J Biziwick expires on 30th September 2018.

	 On termination of the contract, a three months’ notice in writing must be given in case of Executive Directors whereas 
Non-executive Directors termination of their appointment is effective immediately when the notice of termination of their 
appointment is delivered to the Company Secretary. There is no predetermined compensation on termination of the 
appointment of Non-executive Directors.

6.	 DIRECTORATE AND COMPANY SECRETARY (Continued)

DIRECTORS’ REPORT (Continued)
As at 31 December 2017
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9.	 DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS

	 The interests of the Directors in office in the shares of the Group and its subsidiariesas at 31 December 2017 is as follows;

	 Director 	 Company                                                                                       Number of 
		                                                                                                        shares held
			   (ordinary shares)
			   2017	 2016
			 
	 Dr. G Partridge	 National Bank of Malawi Plc	 846,507	 826,507
	 Mr. J Biziwick	 National Bank of Malawi Plc	 2,546	 2,546
	 Mrs. E Jiya	 National Bank of Malawi Plc	 1,833	 1,833
	 Mrs. E Jiya	 Press Corporation plc	 1,570	 1,570

	 None of the Directors had, during the year ended 31 December 2017, an interest in any material contract relating to the 
business of the Company or of any of its subsidiary undertakings.

10.	 DONATIONS

	 As part of its corporate social responsibility, the Group and its subsidiaries made charitable donations of K158 million 
(2016: K177 million) as shown below;

		  2017	 2016
		  K’ million	 K’ million
	 Malawi Telecommunications Limited	 3	 2
	 Telekom Networks Malawi Plc	 94	 116
	 National Bank of Malawi Plc	 46	 31
	 Peoples Trading Centre Limited	 -	 2
	 The Foods Company Limited	 -	 1
	 Ethanol Company Limited 	 11	 11
	 Presscane  Company Limited	 1	 10
	 Press Corporation Plc 	      3	       4
	  	 158	   177

11.	 AUDITORS

	 The Group’s auditors, Deloitte, Chartered Accountants, P O Box 187, Blantyre, have indicated their willingness to continue 
their role as the Group’s auditors. Resolutions concerning the reappointment of Deloitte as auditors of the Group for the 
year ending 31 December 2018 and to authorise the Directors to determine their remuneration will be proposed at the 
forthcoming Annual General Meeting.

DIRECTORS’ REPORT (Continued)
As at 31 December 2017                                                 
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12.	 AUDITORS REMUNERATION

	 The agreed fees payable by the Group and its subsidiaries to their auditors for financial audit and non-financial audit 
services are as follows:

	 Entity	 Financial	 Half	 Tip-	 Corpo-	 Agreed 	 Total
		  Audit	 year	 offs	 rate	 upon
			   results	 anony-	 finance	 proce- 
			   review	 mous		  dures	
		  K’ million	 K’ million	 K’ million	 K’ million	 K’ million	 K’ million
	 For the year ended 31 December 2017						    
	 Press Corporation Plc	 67	 27	 2	 -	 -	 96
	 Telekom Networks Malawi Plc	 107	 12	 4	 -	 -	 123
	 National Bank of Malawi Plc	 140	 8	 3	 -	 -	 151
	 The Foods Company Limited	 22	 3	 -	 -	 -	 25
	 Malawi Telecommunications Limited	 49	 6	 2	 -	 -	 57
	 Open Connect Limited	 6	 1	 -	 -	 -	 7
	 Presscane Limited	 19	 4	 2	 -	 -	 25
	 Press Properties Limited	 14	 3	 2	 -	 -	 19
	 Ethanol Company Limited	 14	 4	 2	 -	 -	 20
	 Peoples Trading Centre Limited	     28	      4	      4	        -	        -	     36
	  	  466	    72	    21	        -	        -	 559
	
	 For the year ended 31 December 2016						    
	 Press Corporation Plc	 61	 24	 1	 -	 -	 86
	 Telekom Networks Malawi Plc	 95	 11	 4	 -	 3	 113
	 National Bank of Malawi Plc	 129	 7	 3	 -	 1	 140
	 The Foods Company Limited	 20	 3	 -	 -	 -	 23
	 Malawi Telecommunications Limited	 45	 5	 2	 8	 -	 60
	 Open Connect Limited	 5	 -	 -	 -	 -	 5
	 Presscane Limited	 16	 3	 1	 -	 -	 20
	 Press Properties Limited	 12	 3	 2	 -	 -	 17
	 Ethanol Company Limited	 17	 4	 2	 -	 -	 23
	 Peoples Trading Centre Limited	     26	      4	       2	       -	        -	     32
	  	  426	    64	     17	      8	       4	   519

	 The Directors are satisfied that the provision of non-audit services did not compromise the auditor independence.

13.	 CORPORATE GOVERNANCE 

	 The Group continues to embrace and abide by the main principles of modern corporate governance as contained in the 
Malawi Code II (Code of Best Practice for Corporate Governance in Malawi). In this regard, the Group has at Board level, 
a Board Audit and Investment Committee and a Board Appointments and Remuneration Committee. The Committees 
comprise of Non-Executive Directors.

14.	 OVERVIEW OF SUBSIDIARIES

	 The Group carried out its activities through its main subsidiaries namely; National Bank of Malawi plc, Malawi Telecommu-
nications Limited, Open Connect Limited, Telekom Networks Malawi plc, Ethanol Company Limited, Presscane Limited, 
Peoples Trading Centre Limited, Press Properties Limited and The Foods Company Limited. 

	 The Company’s shareholding in the subsidiaries, their principal activities and financial performance is disclosed in note 13 
of the consolidated and separate financial statements.

14.1	 Subsidiaries corporate governance

	 The subsidiaries have their own boards of directors having the rights and obligations to manage such companies 
in the best interest of the companies. The Company has its representatives on the board of subsidiary companies 
and monitors the performance of the companies regularly.

14.2	 Subsidiaries board of directors

	 During the year ended 31 December 2017, none of the subsidiaries companies directors had an interest in any 
material contract relating to the businesses of the subsidiaries.

	 Information about subsidiaries board of directors and their interest in shares, if any, in the respective subsidiary is 
shown below;

DIRECTORS’ REPORT (Continued)
As at 31 December 2017
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14.	 OVERVIEW OF SUBSIDIARIES (Continued) 

14.2	 Subsidiaries board of directors (Continued) 

	 Subsidiary 	 Directors	 Tenure 	 Directors Interest in 	
			   shares of the 

				    subsidiary 

	 National Bank of	 Dr. G Partridge	 All year - Chairman	 846,507 (2016: 826,507)  
	 Malawi Plc		  from 15 June 2017			 
		  Dr. M  Chikaonda	 Up to 14 June 2017 - 	 None
			   Chairman
		  Mr. E Kambalame	 All year	 None
		  Mr. M Kawawa	 All year	 113,255 (2016: 113,255)
		  Mrs. E Mafeni 	 All year	 None		
		  Mr. D Kafoteka	 Up to August 2017	 None
		  Mrs. M Kachingwe	 All year 	 1,935 (2016: 1,935) 
		  Mr. J Mhura 	 All year	 None
		  Mr. M Msiska	 All year	 20,367 (2016: 20,367)
		  Mr. J Biziwick	 All year	 2,546 (2016: 2,546)
		  Mr. H Jiya	 All year	 2,306 (2016: 2,306)
		  Mr. R Banda	 From 19 Dec 2017	 None
		  Mr. J Nsomba	 From 19 Dec 2017	 758 (2016: 758)
		  Mrs. Z Mitole	 All year – company	 None 
			   secretary
	
	 Malawi	 Mr. J Biziwick	 All year – Chairman	 None of the Directors 
	 Telecommunications	 Mrs. E Mafeni	 All year	 had interest in shares of 
	 Limited	 Mr. M Sauti-Phiri	 All year	 Malawi Telecommunications 

		  Mrs. E Jiya	 All year	 Limited (MTL) except for 
		  Secretary to the Treasury	 All year	 Mr. M Sauti Phiri who had
		  Principal Secretary for Information	 All year	 interest in the shares of
		  Mr. L Katandula	 All year	 the Company through his
		  Prof. J Kamwachale Khomba	 All year	 business interest in
		  Dr. H Gombachika	 All year	 Investment Alliance Limited	

	 Mrs. H Singo	 All year – company 	 (IAL). IAL held 2.2% 
			   secretary	 shares in MTL
	

	 Open Connect 	 Dr. G Partridge	 All year – Chairman	 None of the Directors had
	 Limited	 Dr. H Gombachika	 All year	 interest in shares of Open

		  Mr. B Botolo	 All year	 Connect Limited except for
		  Mrs. E Jiya	 Up to September 2017	 Mr. M Sauti Phiri who had
		  Ms. M Mbeye	 All year	 interest in the shares of	

	 Mr. M Mikwamba	 From September 2017	 the Company through his
		  Mr. C Chibwana	 All year – company 	 business interest in
			   secretary	 Investment Alliance Limited

 				    (IAL). IAL held 2.2% 		
			   shares in OCL

	
	 Telekom Networks	 Dr. G Partridge	 From 15 June 2017	 None of the Directors had 
	 Malawi Plc 		  – chairman	 interest in shares of 
		  Dr. M Chikaonda	 Up to 15 June 2017 	 Telekom Networks Malawi
			   – chairman	 plc except for Mr. H 
		  Mr. H Anadkat	 All year – vice chairman	 Anadkat and Mr. J O’Neill 
		  Mr. D Kafoteka	 Up to 9 Oct 2017	 who had interest in shares 
		  Mr. D Lungu	 All year	 of the company through 
		  Mr. J O’Neill	 All year	 their other business 
		  Mrs. E Mafeni	 All year	 interest. Total shares held 
		  Mr. J Biziwick	 All year	 indirectly amounts to 
		  Mr. K Phiri	 From 26 Sept 2017	 1,013,600,000 
		  Mr. G Randall	 From 13 Dec 2017	 and 44,900,000 
		  Mr. D Stevenson	 Up to 13 Dec 2017 - CEO	 respectively.  
		  Mrs. C Mwansa	 All year – Company 
			   Secretary	
	 Ethanol Company	 Mr. J Biziwick	 All year – Chairman	 None of the Directors had 
	 Limited 	 Mrs. E Mafeni	 All year	 interest in shares of 		

	 Mr. W Mabulekesi	 All year	 Ethanol Company Limited
		  Mr. L. Mandala	 All year
		  Mr. L Katandula	 From July 2017
		  Mr. B W Jere	 All year
		  Mr. B Ndau	 All year
		  Mr. C Masoatengenji	 All year – Company 
			   secretary

DIRECTORS’ REPORT (Continued)
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14.	 OVERVIEW OF SUBSIDIARIES (Continued) 

14.2	 Subsidiaries board of directors (Continued) 

	 Subsidiary 	 Directors	 Tenure 	 Directors Interest in 	
			   shares of the 

				    subsidiary

	 Presscane Limited	 Mr. P Mulipa	 All year – Chairman	 None of the Directors had 
		  Mr. R Patel	 All year	 interest in shares of 
		  Mr. A Chanje	 All year	 Presscane Limited except 
		  Mr. B Msosa 	 Up to 19 June 2017	 for Mr. R Patel who had 
		  Mr. J Korea-Mpatsa	 All year	 49.9% indirect interest in 
		  Mrs. R. Chitera	 All year	 shares of the company 
		  Mr. B Ndau	 All year	 through his other 
		  Mrs. C Chihana	 All year – Company 	 business interest – Cane 
			   Secretary	 Products Limited. 
	
	 Peoples Trading	 Mr. J Biziwick	 All year – Chairman	 None of the Directors had 
	 Centre Limited 	 Mrs. E Mafeni	 All year	 interest in shares of 

		  Mrs. S Chidyaonga	 All year	 Peoples Trading Centre 
		  Mr. B Ndau	 All year	 Limited
		  Mr. J Evans	 All year
		  Mr. M Chikankheni	 All year
		  Prof. J Khomba	 All year
		  Dr. L Chithambo	 All year

		  Mr. R Kunjawa	 All year – Company 
			   Secretary
	
	 Press	 Mr. J Biziwick	 All year – Chairman	 None of the Directors had 

		  Properties Limited	 Mr. G Chipungu	 All year	 interest in shares of Press 
			   Mr. K Mthuzi	 Up to June 2017	 Properties Limited
			   Mr. F Tukula	 All year
			   Dr. C Guta	 All year
			   Ms. M Mbeye	 All year
			   Mr. D Mwanyongo	 All year – Company 
				    Secretary		

		  The Foods	 Mr. J Biziwick	 All year – chairman	 None of the Directors
		  Company Limited. 	 Dr. B Zingano	 All year	 had interest in shares of
			   Prof. K Khomba	 From May 2017	 The Foods Company
			   Prof. J Kang’ombe	 All year	 Limited
			   Dr. O Msiska	 All year
			   Mrs. A Valera	 All year
			   Mr. A Sesani	 All year
			   Mr. B Ndau	 All year
			   Mr. W Mtawali	 All year – company 
			   secretary	

         _______________________________________	                                          _______________________________________
        Chairman		         Group Chief Executive

DIRECTORS’ REPORT (Continued)
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The Directors are responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated and separate 
financial statements of Press Corporation plc and its subsidiaries, comprising the statements of financial 
position at 31 December 2017, and the statements of comprehensive income, statements of changes in equity 
and statements of cash flows for the year then ended, and the notes to the financial statements, which include 
a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory notes, in accordance with International 
Financial Reporting Standards, and in the manner required by the  Companies Act, 2013.

The Act also requires the Directors to ensure that the Group and the Company keeps proper accounting records which disclose 
with reasonable accuracy at any time the financial position of the Group and the Company and enable them to ensure that the 
financial statements comply with the Companies Act,2013.

In preparing the financial statements, the Directors accept responsibility for the following:

•	 Maintenance of proper accounting records;
•	 Selection of suitable accounting policies and applying them consistently;
•	 Making judgments and estimates that are reasonable and prudent;
•	 Compliance with applicable accounting standards, when preparing financial statements; and
•	 Preparation of financial statements on a going concern basis unless it is inappropriate to presume that the Company and 

the Group will continue in business.

The Directors are also responsible for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation 
of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error and for maintaining adequate 
accounting records and an effective system of risk management.

The Directors’ responsibility includes designing, implementing and maintaining internal controls relevant to the preparation and 
fair presentation of these financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error; selecting 
and applying appropriate accounting policies; and making accounting estimates that are reasonable in the circumstances.

The Directors have made an assessment of the Group’s and Company’s ability to continue as a going concern and have a 
reasonable expectation that the Group and Company has adequate resources to continue in operational existence for the 
foreseeable future. For this reason, they continue to adopt the going concern basis in preparing the financial statements.

The auditor is responsible for reporting on whether the annual financial statements show a true and fair view in accordance with 
the applicable financial reporting framework.

Approval of the financial statements

The financial statements of the Group and Company, as indicated above, were approved by the board of Directors on 6th April 
2018 and are signed on its behalf by

						    
						    
						    
						    
_______________________________________	                                               _______________________________________
Chairman		           Group Chief Executive

STATEMENT OF DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES
As at 31 December 2017                                                 
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT 
TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF PRESS CORPORATION PLC

Opinion

We have audited the consolidated and separate financial statements of Press Corporation plc and its subsidiaries (“the Group”), 
set out on pages 54 to 150, which comprise the consolidated and separate statements of financial position as at 31 December 
2017, and the consolidated and separate statements of comprehensive income, the consolidated and separate statements of 
changes in equity and the consolidated and separate statements of cash flows for the year then ended, and the notes to the 
consolidated and separate financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated and separate financial statements give a true and fair view of the consolidated and separate 
financial position of the Group as at 31 December 2017, and its consolidated and separate financial performance and consolidated 
and separate cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) and in 
the manner required by the Companies Act, 2013.

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (ISAs). Our responsibilities under those standards 
are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements section 
of our report. We are independent of the Group in accordance with the International Ethics Standards Board for Accountants’ 
Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (IESBA Code) together with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit 
of financial statements in Malawi. We have fulfilled our ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements and the 
IESBA code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Key Audit Matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated 
and separate financial statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the 
consolidated and separate financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate 
opinion on these matters.

P.O. Box 187
Blantyre
Malawi

Deloitte Chartered Accountants
Registered Auditors
First Floor
NBM Top Mandala House
Blantyre
Malawi

Tel	 : +265 (0) 1 822 277
	 : +265 (0) 1 820 506
Fax	 : +265 (0) 1 821 229
Email	 : btdeloitte@deloitte.co.mw
www.deloitte.com

Partners: N.T. Uka  V.W. Beza  C.A Kapenda  M.C Mwenelupembe (Mrs.)          
Associate of Deloitte Africa, a Member of Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu Limited
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Key Audit Matter 
(Separate financial statements) 

How the matter was addressed in the audit

Valuation of unlisted equity investments

The company carries its unlisted equity investments at fair 
value. Revaluation of these investments are done at the end 
of every financial year. The valuation methods adopted as well 
as the valuations are disclosed in note 13, 14 and 15.

Determination of fair values for the investments involves 
significant judgement and assumptions and is complex in 
nature. We consider this as a key audit matter.

Obtained the valuation reports which were independently 
done by NICO Asset Managers Limited and assessed the 
professional competence of the valuer by examining the 
valuer’s qualification and experience.

Assessed that the information provided by the company to 
the valuer is accurate and complete for valuation purposes 
based on our understanding of the investee companies.

Read the valuation reports and assessed the reasonableness 
of assumptions used in the valuations reports in comparison 
to market data.

Considered the relevance and appropriateness of the valua-
tion methods used.

Agreed information used in the valuation such as net assets, 
shareholding, profits, and others to relevant supporting docu-
ments of the investment companies.

We found that the assumptions used in determining the valu-
ations were reasonable and that the valuations were appropri-
ate. We further concluded that details of the valuations have 
been disclosed appropriately in the financial statements.

Key Audit Matter 
(Consolidated financial statements)

How the matter was addressed in the audit

Impairment of loans and advances to customers

Significant judgement is required by the Directors in 
assessing the impairment of loans and advances granted by 
the banking business to customers. The Groups’ credit risk 
policy is disclosed in note 6.4.5.

The impairment amounting to K6 billion of loans and advances 
balance of K127 billion as disclosed in note 16, represents 
the shortfall between the present value of future expected 
cash flows, discounted at the original effective interest rate, 
and the carrying value of the advance in respect of loans and 
advances that exhibit indications of impairment. 

The judgements applied in determining the impairment 
include: 

•	 the expected realisable value of the collateral securing 
the advance; and 

•	 the probability that loans and advances will result in 
loss. 

 
Because the determination of impairment requires significant 
judgements coupled with the requirement to comply with IAS 
39 Financial Instruments Measurements and Recognition, 
we considered determining impairment against loans and 
advances to customers as a key audit matter.

In evaluating the impairment against loans and advances, we 
assessed the judgements applied by the Directors and our 
procedures included the following: 

•	 Considered managements’ credit control processes 
to identify impaired advances and testing of relevant 
key controls in the process;

•	 Examined on a sample basis the appraised fair value 
of the collateral securing impaired advances; 

•	 Considered the qualitative factors that indicate 
impairment including the amount in arrears, period in 
arrears and the financial strength of the borrower; 

•	 Assessed the adequacy of the impairment recorded 
based on the realisable value of the collateral and the 
qualitative factors described above; and 

•	 We further assessed whether determination of 
impairment against loans and advances is in line 
with IAS 39 Financial Instruments measurements and 
recognition.

We found that the judgements applied in determining 
impairment against loans and advances were appropriate 
and that the amounts recorded were reasonable and 
complied with IAS 39 Financial Instruments Measurements 
and Recognition. We further concluded that the financial 
statements disclosures in relation to impairment of loans and 
advances to customers are appropriate.

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF PRESS CORPORATION PLC (Continued)
31 December 2017                                                 
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Key Audit Matter 
(Consolidated financial statements)

How the matter was addressed in the audit

Revenue recognition in the telecommunication segment

The Group’s billing systems for voice and data operate on 
dedicated computer platforms. These systems process 
millions of pieces of data to electronic records which enables 
the Group to charge their customers, in real time, based on 
service usage.

The operations of these systems are fairly complex with 
dynamic and intelligent tariffs regimes which provide for 
various promotions and discounts that are dependent on 
demand and individual usage profiles.  Income is determined 
taking into account the profile and usage of each individual 
customer.

In addition prepaid phone units are used over periods that can 
straddle more than one accounting period. The determination 
of the correct cut off between what has been used and can be 
included in income and what has not be used and should be 
deferred income (creditor) is also a key audit consideration.

The nature of the systems and billing profiles make this 
a complex audit area in relation to the auditor assessing 
completeness of income. Accordingly, we consider this a key 
audit matter.

The revenue recognition policy of the Group has been 
disclosed in note 3.9 and we have assessed the policy and 
found it to be in line with International Financial Reporting 
Standards and industry practice. In addition the deferred 
income which is disclosed in note 32 has been assessed to 
be in accordance with the revenue recognition policies.

We involved our Information Technology (IT) risk specialists in 
the engagement and carried out the following:

•	 Assessed the general computer controls around the 
significant revenue and billing systems;

•	 Evaluated the process for capturing the tariff plans, 
combined with testing of a sample of related transac-
tions. A key aspect of this exercise was to ensure that 
tariffs are properly approved;

•	 Obtained downloads of information recorded in the 
Group’s billing systems and by using advanced data 
analytics mirror the dynamic, intelligent tariff regimes 
to independently compute the income for the year and 
thus assess the completeness and accuracy of the fig-
ures in the revenue reports.

•	 Assessed whether revenue was recorded in the cor-
rect period.

•	 Obtained a deferred income reconciliation for the ex-
pected deferred income as at period end and tested 
the accuracy and completeness of the reconciling 
items. 

•	 Re-computed deferred revenue from Intelligent Net-
work data using Computer Assisted Audit Techniques 
(CAATS).

•	 Checked that the deferred income in the billing system 
are being reconciled to the records.

Based on the work performed, we concluded that revenue 
was properly recorded.

Key Audit Matter 
(Consolidated financial statements)

How the matter was addressed in the audit

Depreciation and capitalisation of property plant and equipment in the telecommunication segment

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment requires 
management estimation. Key judgments relate to the use 
of appropriate residual values for assets without a ready 
secondary market and determining appropriate useful lives. 

The Group also continued to invest in significant capital 
expenditure during the year ended 31 December 2017. The 
determination of when the asset has been commissioned and 
brought into use has an impact on the depreciation charged 
during the year.

Further the significant level of capital expenditure requires 
consideration of the nature of costs incurred to ensure that 
capitalisation of property, plant and equipment meets the 
specific recognition criteria in IAS 16, ‘Property, Plant and 
Equipment’ (IAS 16), specifically in relation to constructed 
assets and the application of the directors’ judgement in 
assigning appropriate useful economic lives. As a result, this 
was noted as a key audit matter.

The Group’s accounting policy in relation to property, plant 
and equipment is disclosed in note 3.15.

We assessed the reasonableness of residual values and 
useful lives in line with our understanding of the business 
and industry practice.  We made a sample of assets and 
performed the following:

•	 Assessed whether the residual values and useful lives 
were correctly determined in line with Group policy 
and industry practice. 

•	 Assessed whether depreciation was correctly 
computed.

•	 Assessed the nature of property, plant and equipment 
capitalised by the Group to test the validity of amounts 
capitalised and evaluated whether assets capitalised 
meet the recognition criteria set out in IAS 16 and note 
3.15. 

•	 Assessed if capitalisation of assets occurred when the 
asset was in the location and condition necessary for 
it to be capable of operating in the manner intended by 
the Group and that a consistent approach was applied 
by the Group across all significant operations. In this 
regard, we examined compliance to the commission 
and project completion acceptance processes used 
by the Group.

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF PRESS CORPORATION PLC (Continued)
31 December 2017 



PRESS CORPORATION PLC  |  Annual Report 2017 50

S
tr

at
eg

ic
 R

ep
or

t  
| 

 C
or

po
ra

te
 G

ov
er

na
nc

e 
  

 F
in

an
ci

al
 S

ta
te

m
en

ts
  

  O
n 

th
e 

M
al

aw
i S

to
ck

 E
xc

ha
ng

e

Key Audit Matter 
(Consolidated financial statements)

How the matter was addressed in the audit

Depreciation and capitalisation of property plant and equipment in the telecommunication segment (Continued)

•	 Assessed the useful economic lives assigned with 
reference to the Group’s historical experience, our 
understanding of the future utilisation of assets by the 
Group and by reference to the depreciation policies 
applied by third parties operating similar assets.

The capitalisation of assets was assessed to be appropriate 
and the timing of commencement of depreciation on the 
capitalised assets was also appropriate. We concluded 
that the useful economic lives assigned to these assets are 
appropriate based on the evidence obtained.

Key Audit Matter 
(Consolidated financial statements)

How the matter was addressed in the audit

Information Technology  (IT) Systems and controls over financial reporting in the banking business

A significant part of the Group’s banking business operations 
and financial reporting process is reliant on IT systems with 
automated processes and controls over the capture, storage 
and extraction of information. The banking operations are 
dependent on their IT systems to (1) serve customers, (2) 
support their business processes, (3) ensure complete and 
accurate processing of financial transactions and (4) support 
the overall internal control framework. Many of the bank’s 
internal controls over financial reporting are dependent upon 
automated application controls, completeness, and integrity 
of reports generated by the IT-systems. 

A fundamental component of these controls is ensuring that 
appropriate user access and change management protocols 
exist and are being adhered to. These protocols are important 
because they ensure that access and changes to IT systems 
and related data are made and authorised in an appropriate 
manner. 

The banking IT environment is complex with a number of 
interdependent systems, interfaces and databases. The 
Group continues to invest in the improvement of banking 
IT systems and processes as well as development of new 
IT systems and their implementation further add to the 
complexity of the IT infrastructure.

As our audit sought to place reliance on IT systems and 
application controls related to financial reporting, a high 
proportion of the overall audit effort was in this area.

Key areas where IT systems were critical in determining 
accuracy and completeness of account balances were 
interest income, interest expense, fees and commission 
income, foreign exchange transactions, classification and 
suspension of interest on non-performing loans.

We focussed our audit on those IT systems and controls that 
are significant for financial reporting. As audit procedures 
over the IT systems and application controls requires specific 
expertise, we involved our IT audit specialists and Data 
Analytics team in our audit procedures.

We understood and assessed the overall IT control 
environment and the controls in place which includes controls 
over access to systems and data, as well as system changes, 
We tailored our audit approach based on the financial 
significance of the system and whether there were automated 
procedures supported by that system.

As part of our audit procedures, we identified relevant controls 
activities and evaluated design and determine implementation. 
We further, determine the need to test operating effectiveness 
of the control over appropriate access rights and validating 
that only appropriate users had the ability to create, modify or 
delete users accounts for the relevant in scope applications. 
We also tested the operating effectiveness of controls around 
program changes to establish changes to the system were 
appropriately authorised and implemented. Additionally, we 
assessed and tested the design and implementation and 
operating effectiveness of the application controls embedded 
in the process relevant to our audit. 

Using our Data Analytics team, we recomputed on a sample 
basis, interest income, interest expense, fees and commission 
income, and foreign exchange transactions and compared 
with the amounts that were computed by the system and 
recognised in the general ledger.

For selected loans, we checked if the Bank was suspending 
interest for loans that were non-performing or recording to 
profit or loss if the loans were performing.

We identified some control deficiencies and the conclusion 
of these findings had no impact on the financial statements.

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF PRESS CORPORATION PLC (Continued)
31 December 2017                                                 
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Key Audit Matter 
(Consolidated financial statements)

How the matter was addressed in the audit

Goodwill impairment assessment

As disclosed in note 10, the carrying value of goodwill was 
K5 billion as at 31 December 2017.  Significant judgement 
is required by the Directors in assessing the impairment of 
goodwill, which is determined with reference to the value 
in use, based on the cash flow forecast for each cash-
generating unit. 

The assumptions with the most significant impact on the cash 
flow forecast were:

•	 The growth rate, which is highly subjective since it is 
based on the Directors’ experience and expectations.

•	 Cash flow projections based on expected future 
performance.

•	 The discount rate is subjective and the calculation is 
complex.

Accordingly, for the purposes of our audit, we identified the 
impairment of goodwill as a key audit matter due to significant 
assumptions used in the determination of impairment for 
goodwill and the complexity of the value in use calculation

In evaluating the impairment of goodwill, we reviewed the 
value in use calculations prepared by the Directors, with a 
particular focus on the growth rate and discount rate.  We 
performed various procedures, including the following:

•	 Tested inputs into the cash flow forecast against 
performance and in comparison to the Directors’ 
strategic plans in respect of each cash-generating 
unit.

•	 Compared the growth rates used for the cash 
generating units to available forecast economic 
growth rates.

•	 Recomputed the value in use of each cash-generating 
unit.

The results of our assessment indicated that goodwill is not 
impaired. We further concluded that disclosures made in the 
financial statements in relation to goodwill impairment are 
appropriate.

Key Audit Matter 
(Consolidated financial statements)

How the matter was addressed in the audit

Going Concern

Subsidiaries of the Group; Malawi Telecommunications 
Limited, The Foods Company Limited and Peoples Trading 
Centre Limited have been making losses for a number 
of years and have net current liability positions as at 31 
December 2017.

The continued losses and net current liability positions raises 
questions about the ability of these companies to continue 
as going concerns and the impact of this on the Group’s 
valuation of assets and liabilities using the going concern 
basis of accounting.

The Directors believe that these subsidiaries will continue as 
going concerns based on strategic plans that they have put 
in place. These plans involve making significant judgement 
and assumptions. We therefore consider the going concern 
of these subsidiaries and valuation of the respective assets 
and liabilities as a key audit matter.

In assessing the going concern of these subsidiaries we 
performed the following procedures:

•	 Evaluated management strategic plans for future 
actions and assess whether the outcome of those 
plans is likely to improve the situation and whether 
management’s plans are feasible in the circumstances. 

•	 Assessed if assumptions used in the management 
plans were based on reasonable data.

•	 Examined the financing structures for these companies 
and assessed whether adequate funds are available 
to sustain operations.

•	 Assessed if any going concern uncertainties affecting 
these companies has a material impact on the Group 
as a whole.

We concluded that despite the existence of uncertainties in 
the specific subsidiaries, the going concern assumption used 
for those subsidiaries was appropriate. As a consequence, 
we also consider the valuation of the assets appropriate.

Key Audit Matter 
(Consolidated financial statements)

How the matter was addressed in the audit

Compliance with debt covenants

As disclosed in note 29, the Group has loans and borrowings 
with a carrying value of K55 billion as at 31 December 2017. 
Non-compliance with covenants governing these loans and 
borrowings may affect the liquidity of the Group and as such 
loans may become payable on demand and can also result 
in financial penalties for the Group. We therefore consider this 
as a key audit matter.

We inspected loan agreements; reviewed liquidity and finan-
cial ratios and reviewed management calculations associat-
ed with debt covenants to determine whether any breach of 
covenants exist.

We assessed if re-payments are being made when they fall 
due.

 

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF PRESS CORPORATION PLC (Continued)
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Key Audit Matter 
(Consolidated financial statements)

How the matter was addressed in the audit

Compliance with debt covenants (Continued)

We assessed the implications of any non-compliance with 
debt covenants identified and verified that such loans have 
been appropriately disclosed and classified in the financial 
statements.

We noted instances of non-compliance with re-payment 
terms of borrowings to PTA Bank, Huawei and ZTE. These 
borrowings have been appropriately classified as current in 
the financial statements

Other Information

The Directors are responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the Directors’ Report, as required by the 
Companies Act, 2013 which we obtained prior to the date of this auditor’s report and the Annual Report, which is expected to be 
made available to us after that date. The other information does not include the consolidated and separate financial statements 
and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not express an audit opin-
ion or any form of assurance conclusion thereon. 

In connection with our audit of the consolidated and separate financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other infor-
mation and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the consolidated and separate 
financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit, or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. 

If, based on the work we have performed on the other information that we obtained prior to the date of this auditor’s report, we 
conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that fact.  We have nothing to 
report in this regard.

Responsibilities of the Directors for the Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements 

The Directors are responsible for the preparation of consolidated and separate financial statements that give a true and fair view 
in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards and the requirements of the Companies Act, 2013 and for such 
internal control as the Directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated and separate financial state-
ments that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated and separate financial statements, the Directors are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability 
to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis 
of accounting unless the Directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but 
to do so.

 
Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated and separate financial statements as a whole 
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. 
Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs will 
always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material 
if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the 
basis of these consolidated and separate financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise professional judgement and maintain professional scepticism through-
out the audit. We also:

•	 Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated and separate financial statements, whether 
due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is 
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting 
from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, mis-
representations, or the override of internal control. 

•	 Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate 
in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control. 

•	 Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related 
disclosures made by the Directors. 

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF PRESS CORPORATION PLC (Continued)
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•	 Conclude on the appropriateness of the Directors’ use of the going concern basis of accounting and based on the audit 
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt 
on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to 
draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the consolidated and separate financial statements or, 
if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up 
to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a 
going concern. 

•	 Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated and separate financial statements, including 
the disclosures, and whether the consolidated and separate financial statements represent the underlying transactions 
and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

•	 Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or business activities within 
the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervi-
sion and performance of the Group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Directors regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant 
audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit. 

We also provide the Directors with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding indepen-
dence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our inde-
pendence, and where applicable, related safeguards. 

From the matters communicated with the Directors, we determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit of the 
consolidated and separate financial statements of the current period and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these 
matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare 
circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of 
doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication. 

Chartered Accountants

Nkondola Uka
Partner

12 April 2018

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF PRESS CORPORATION PLC (Continued)
31 December 2017 
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	       	      Group		                      Company
Assets	 Notes	 31/12/	 31/12/	 1/01/	 31/12/	 31/12/
		  2017	 2016	 2016	 2017	 2016
			   Restated 	 Restated		

Non-current assets						    
Property, plant and equipment	 8	 105,908	 93,453	 89,820	 597	 830
Biological assets	 9	 21	 2	 2	 -	 -
Goodwill	 10	 4,974	 4,974	 5,026	 -	 -
Intangible assets	 11	 16,519	 13,826	 13,418	 230	 245
Investment properties	 12	 6,564	 5,360	 4,783	 231	 -
Investments in subsidiaries 	 13	 -	 -	 -	 171,429	 138,618
Investments in joint ventures	 14	 6,198	 4,897	 1,764	 20,618	 18,701
Investments in associates	 15	 34,489	 34,730	 31,071	 54,608	 74,851
Loans and advances to customers	 16	 42,478	 32,300	 33,063	 -	 -
Finance lease receivables	 17	 9,207	 8,358	 7,439	 -	 -
Long term loans receivable - group	 18	 -	 -	 -	 1,733	
Other investments 	 19	 4,378	 1,129	 1,533	 -	 -
Deferred tax assets	 20	      7,946	      7,979	      4,098	              -	              -
Total non-current assets		   238,682	  207,008	  192,017	   249,446	   233,245

Current assets						    
Inventories	 21	 11,510	 9,714	 10,165	 9	 20
Biological assets	 9	 977	 154	 138	 -	 -
Loans and advances to customers	 16	 78,196	 89,743	 70,535	 -	 -
Finance lease receivables	 17	 1,110	 1,018	 712	 -	 -
Other investments 	 19	 135,981	 88,067	 74,525	 1,246	 -
Trade and other receivables – Group companies	 22	 -	 -	 -	 2,767	 1,845
Trade and other receivables - other 	 23	 26,022	 24,187	 19,628	 559	 131
Assets classified as held for sale	 24	 743	 1,122	 944	 -	 -
Income tax recoverable	 25	 2,141	 494	 357	 128	 19
Cash and cash equivalents	 26	 75,148	 58,179	    59,624	 6,751	       104
Total current assets		  331,828	  272,678	  236,628	 11,460	   2,119

Total assets		  570,510	 479,686	  428,645	 260,906	 235,364

Equity and liabilities						    
Equity 						    
Share capital	 27	 1	 1	 1	 1	 1
Share premium		  2,097	 2,097	 2,097	 2,097	 2,097
Other reserves 	 28	 52,012	 49,423	 44,799	 187,308	 171,957
Retained earnings		    71,447	 49,790	   44,801	     23,768	      6,268
Total equity attributable to equity holders		
of the company		  125,557	 101,311 	 91,698	 213,174	 180,323
Non-controlling interest		  56,287	    46,214	    38,710	               -	               -
Total equity		  181,844	 147,525	  130,408	   213,174 	   180,323 

Non-current liabilities						    
Loans and borrowings	 29	 38,248	 20,246	 10,150	 214	 1,068
Provisions	 30	 70	 -	 -	 -	 -
Deferred tax liabilities	 20	   2,740	     2,991	     1,733	 45,066	   45,846
Total non-current liabilities		  41,058	   23,237	   11,883	   45,280	   46,914

Current liabilities						    
Bank overdraft	 26	 2,790	 7,848	 8,662	 213	 2,078
Loans and borrowings	 29	 16,916	 16,650	 26,291	 890	 957
Provisions	 30	 5,795	 5,039	 3,521	 790	 524
Income tax payable	 31	 4,538	 5,780	 2,685	 94	 42
Trade and other payables	 32	 42,496	 44,174	 33,343	 423	 422
Trade and other payables - Group companies	 33	 -	 -	 -	 42	 4,104
Customer deposits	 34	 275,073	   229,433	  211,852	            -	            -

Total current liabilities		  347,608	   308,924	  286,354	       2,452	    8,127

Total liabilities		  388,666	 332,161	  298,237	  47,732	  55,041

Total equity and liabilities		  570,510	 479,686	  428,645	 260,906	  235,364

CONSOLIDATED AND SEPARATE STATEMENTS OF FINANCIAL POSITION
As at 31 December 2017                                                 
In millions of Malawi Kwacha
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The financial statements of the Group and Company were approved for issue by the Board of Directors on 6 April 2018 and were 
signed on its behalf by:

___________________________________	 ______________________________________
Mr. P. Khembo	                                                                         Dr. G.B Patridge

The notes on pages 60 to 150 are an integral part of these consolidated and separate financial statements.

CONSOLIDATED AND SEPARATE STATEMENTS OF FINANCIAL POSITION (Continued)
As at 31 December 2017
In millions of Malawi Kwacha
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	 	 Group		 Company
	 Notes	 2017	 2016	 2017	 2016
			   Restated	 	
Continuing operations					   
Revenue	 35	 200,480	 188,857	 8,626	 7,271
Direct trading expenses	 36	  (81,996)	  (77,503)	      (14)	      (26)
Gross profit		  118,484	 111,354	 8,612	 7,245
					   
Other operating income	 37	 24,394	 5,248	 17,702	 395
Distribution expenses	 38	 (2,847)	 (2,402)	 -	 -
Administrative expenses	 39	  (83,505)	  (80,341)	   (5,160)	   (3,865)
Results from operating activities		  56,526	 33,859	 21,154	 3,775
					   
Finance income	 40	 1,714	 2,117	 955	 166
Finance costs	 40	 (8,975)	 (11,787)	   (1,682)	   (2,065)

Net finance costs		   (7,261)	   (9,670)	   (727)	   (1,899)
					   
Share of results of equity-accounted investees 	 41	 4,842	      5,543	            -	            -
Profit before income tax		  54,107	 29,732	 20,427	 1,876
					   
Income tax expense	 42	 (14,438)	 (14,418)	     (823)	     (688)
Profit from continuing operations		  39,669	 15,314	 19,604	 1,188
Discontinued operations					   
Profit from discontinued operations (net of income tax)		  4	            5	          -	          -
Profit for the year		  39,673	   15,319	 19,604	   1,188

Other comprehensive income:					   
Items that will not be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss:					   
Revaluation of property, plant and equipment		  3,308	 2,595	 -	 130
Share of other comprehensive income of equity accounted investments		  498	 3,204	 -	 -
Income tax relating to items that may not be reclassified subsequently 
to profit or loss	 20	 (25)	 2,189	 -	 -

Items that may be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss:					   
Net change in fair value of available for sale financial assets		  178	      (11)	 36,848	 78,212
Revaluation surplus on disposal of available for sale financial asset		  -	 -	 (22,277)	 -
Income tax relating to items that may be reclassified subsequently to 
profit or loss	 20	            -	            -	 780	  (17,533)

Other comprehensive income for the year (net of tax)		  3,959	    7,977	 15,351	  60,809
Total comprehensive income for the year		  43,632	  23,296	 34,955	  61,997
					   
Profit attributable to:					   
	
Owners of the Company		  23,917	 4,909	 19,604	 1,188
Non-controlling interest		  15,756	  10,410	          -	          -
 Profit for the year		   39,673	  15,319	 19,604	  1,188
					   
Total comprehensive income attributable to:					   
Owners of the Company		  26,350	 10,635	 34,955	 61,997
Non- controlling interest		  17,282	   12,661	           -	           -
Total comprehensive income for the year		  43,632	   23,296	 34,995	  61,997
					   
Earnings per share					   
Basic and diluted earnings per share (K)	 43	 198.98	 40.84

Continuing operations					   
Basic and diluted earnings per share (K)	 43	 198.94	 40.80		

In millions of Malawi Kwacha

CONSOLIDATED AND SEPARATE STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
As at 31 December 2017                                                 
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STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
For the year ended 31 December 2017
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In millions of Malawi Kwacha
	
	  Issued 	 Share	 Other	 Retained	 Total
	 capital	 premium	 reserves	 earnings	 Equity

Company					   
2017					   
	
Balance at 1 January 2017	 1	       2,097	 171,957	 6,268	 180,323

Profit for the year	 -	 -	 -	 19,604	 19,604
Other comprehensive income	 -	             -	 15,351	           -	 15,351
					   
	
Total comprehensive income for the year	 -	 -	 15,351	 19,604	 34,955
Dividends to equity holders	 -	              -	              -	   (2,104)	    (2,104)

Balance at 31 December 2017	            1	       2,097	 187,308	 23,768	 213,174

2016					   
Balance at 1 January 2016	 1	       2,097	   111,148	 6,102	 119,348

Profit for the year	 -	 -	 -	 1,188	 1,188
Other comprehensive income	 -	             -	   60,809	           -	   60,809
					   
	
Total comprehensive income for the year	 -	 -	 60,809	 1,188	 61,997
Dividends to equity holders 	   -	              -	              -	    (1,022)	    (1,022)

Balance at 31 December 2016	             1	       2,097	   171,957	      6,268	   180,323

In millions of Malawi Kwacha

STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN EQUITY (Continued)
As at 31 December 2017                                                 
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	 	               Group		        Company
	 Notes	 2017	 2016	 2017	 2016
			   Restated		
					   
Cash generated by/(used in) operations	 47	 44,643	 42,486	 (12,175)	 (1,826)
Interest paid		  (7,194)	 (8,803)	 (1,645)	 (1,963)
Income taxes paid	 25, 31	 (17,570)	 (11,895)	     (880)	     (620)

Net cash from/ (used in) operating activities		  19,879	 21,788	 (14,700)	 (4,409)
					   
Cash flows from investing activities					   
Purchase of property, plant and equipment		  (22,617)	 (16,537)	 (82)	 (31)
Purchase of intangible assets		  (4,050)	 (2,784)	 -	 (1)
Purchase of investment property		  (241)	 (99)	 -	 -
Net cash outflow on acquisition of a subsidiary		  -	 (26)	 -	 -
Proceeds from disposal of shares	 15.2	 17,216	 -	 17,216	 53
Proceeds from sale of investment property and property, plant 
and equipment 		  1,617	 1,585	 46	 1
Investment in a subsidiary	 13	 -	 -	 (92)	 (2,000)
Dividend received		  1,525	 1,955	 8,231	 6,882
Interest received 		       1,714	      2,117	      955	      166
					   
Net cash (used in)/from investing activities 		  (4,836)	 (13,789)	 26,274	 5,070
					   
Cash flows used in financing activities					   
Proceeds from long term borrowings		  25,701	 16,933	 -	 -
Repayments of long term borrowings 		  (9,404)	 (19,462)	 (958)	 (1,005)
Dividend paid to non-controlling interest		  (7,209)	 (5,079)	 -	 -
Dividend paid 		    (2,104)	   (1,022)	 (2,104)	 (1,022)
					   
Net cash from/ (used) in financing activities		  6,984	 (8,630)	 (3,062)	 (2,027)
					   
Net increase/ (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 		  22,027	 (631)	 8,512	 (1,366)

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of the year		   50,331	  50,962	  (1,974)	     (608)

Cash and cash equivalents at end of the year	 26	  72,358	  50,331	    6,538	 (1,974)
					   

In millions of Malawi Kwacha

CONSOLIDATED AND SEPARATE STATEMENTS OF CASHFLOWS
For the year ended 31 December 2017
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1.	 General Information

1.1	 Reporting entity
	
	 Press Corporation plc (‘the company’) is a company incorporated in Malawi under the Companies Act, 2013. It 

was listed on the Malawi Stock Exchange in September 1998 and as a Global Depository Receipt on the London 
Stock Exchange in July 1998. The consolidated financial statements as at, and for the year ended, 31 December 
2017 comprise the company and its subsidiaries (together referred to as the ‘Group’ and individually as ‘Group 
entities’) and the Group’s interest in associates and joint ventures.

	 The address of its registered office and principal place of business are disclosed in the directors’ report together 
with the principal activities of the Group. 

1.2	 Going concern

	 The directors have, at the time of approving the Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements, a reasonable 
expectation that the Group and the Company have adequate resources to continue in operational existence 
for the foreseeable future. Thus they continue to adopt the going concern basis of accounting in preparing the 
Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements.

1.3	 Functional and presentation currency

	 These consolidated and separate financial statements are presented in Malawi Kwacha, which is the functional 
currency of the principal subsidiaries within the Group. Except as indicated, all financial information presented in 
Malawi Kwacha has been rounded to the nearest million. 

	
2.	 Application of new and revised International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS)

2.1	 Amendments to IFRSs that are mandatorily effective for the current year

	 In the current year, the Group has applied those new and revised Standards and Interpretations issued by the 
International Accounting Standards Board (IASB) and the International Financial Reporting Interpretations 
Committee of the International Accounting Standards Board that are relevant to its operations and are effective for 
an accounting period that begins on or after1 January 2017.

	 The adoption of these new and revised Standards and Interpretations did not have a significant impact on the 
financial statements of the Group.

	
2.2	 New and revised IFRSs in issue but not yet effective

	 A number of new standards, amendments to standards and interpretations are effective for annual periods 
beginning on or after 1 January 2018, and have not been applied in preparing these financial statements. Those 
which may be relevant to the Group are set out below. The Group does not plan to adopt these standards early. 
These will be adopted in the period that they become mandatory.

Effective date Standard, Amendment or interpretation

Annual periods beginning 
on or after 1 January 
2018

IFRS 9 Financial Instruments

IFRS 9, issued in November 2009, introduced new requirements for 
the classification and measurement of financial assets.  IFRS 9 was 
subsequently amended in October 2010 to include requirements 
for the classification and measurement of financial liabilities and for 
derecognition, and in November 2013 to include the new requirements 
for general hedge accounting.  Another revised version of IFRS 9 
was issued in July 2014 mainly to include impairment requirements 
for financial assets and limited amendments to the classification and 
measurement requirements by introducing a ‘fair value through other 
comprehensive income’ (FVTOCI) measurement category for certain 
simple debt instruments.

	
	
	

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED AND SEPARATE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the year ended 31 December 2017                                                 
In millions of Malawi Kwacha
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 2.	 Application of new and revised International Financial Reporting Standards(IFRS) (Continued)

2.2	 New and revised IFRSs in issue but not yet effective (Continued)

Effective date Standard, Amendment or interpretation

IFRS 9 Financial Instruments (Continued)

Key requirements of IFRS 9:

•	 All recognized financial assets that are within the scope of IFRS 9 are 
required to be subsequently measured at amortised cost or fair value.  
Specifically, debt investments that are held within a business model 
whose objective is to collect the contractual cash flows, and that have 
contractual cash flows that are solely payments of principal and interest 
on the principal outstanding are generally measured at amortised cost 
at the end of subsequent accounting periods.  Debt instruments that 
are held within a business model whose objective is achieved both by 
collecting contractual cash flows and selling financial assets, and that 
have contractual terms that give rise on specified dates to cash flows 
that are solely payments of principal and interest on the principal 
amount outstanding, are generally measured at FVTOCI.  All other debt 
investments and equity investments are measured at their fair value at 
the end of subsequent accounting periods.  In addition, under IFRS 9, 
entities may make an irrevocable election to present subsequent changes 
in the fair value of an equity investment (that is not held for trading nor 
contingent consideration recognized by an acquirer in a business 
combination) in other comprehensive income, with only dividend income 
generally recognized in profit or loss;

•	 With regard to measurement of financial liabilities designated as at fair 
value through profit or loss, IFRS 9 requires that the amount of change 
in the fair value of a financial liability that is attributable to changes in the 
credit risk of that liability is presented in other comprehensive income, 
unless the recognition of such changes in other comprehensive income 
would create or enlarge an accounting mismatch in profit or loss.  
Changes in fair value attributable to a financial liability’s credit risk are 
not subsequently reclassified to profit or loss. Under IAS 39, the entire 
amount of the change in the fair value of the financial liability designated 
as fair value through profit or loss is presented in profit or loss;

•	 In relation to the impairment of financial assets, IFRS 9 requires an 
expected credit loss model, as opposed to an incurred credit loss model 
under IAS 39.  The expected credit losses and changes in those expected 
credit losses each reporting date to reflect changes in credit risk since 
initial recognition.  In other words, it is no longer necessary for a credit 
event to have occurred before credit losses are recognised; and

•	 The new general hedge accounting requirements retain the three types 
of hedge accounting mechanics currently available in IAS 39.  Under 
IFRS 9, greater flexibility has been introduced to the types of transactions 
eligible for hedge accounting, specifically broadening the types of 
instruments that qualify for hedging instruments and the types of risk 
components of non-financial items that are eligible for hedge accounting.  
In addition, the effectiveness test has been overhauled and replaced with 
the principle of an “economic relationship’.  Retrospective assessment 
of hedge effectiveness is also no longer required.  Enhanced disclosure 
requirements about an entity’s risk management activities have also 
been introduced.
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2.	 Application of new and revised International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) ( Continued)

2.2	 New and revised IFRSs in issue but not yet effective (Continued)

Annual periods beginning 
on or after 1 January 
2018

IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers

IFRS 15 specifies how and when an entity will recognise revenue as well as 
requiring such entities to provide users of financial statements with more 
informative, relevant disclosures.  

The core principle of IFRS 15 is that an entity will recognise revenue to depict the 
transfer of promised goods or services to customers in an amount that reflects 
the consideration to which the entity expects to be entitled in exchange for those 
goods or services. Specifically, the Standard introduces a 5-step approach to 
revenue recognition:

•	 Step 1: Identify the contract(s) with a customer;
•	 Step 2: Identify the performance obligations in the contract;
•	 Step 3: Determine the transaction price;
•	 Step 4: Allocate the transaction price to the performance obligations in 

the contract; and
•	 Step 5: Recognise Revenue when (or as) the entity satisfies a performance 

obligation.

Under IFRS15, an entity recognises Revenue when (or as) a performance 
obligation is transferred to the customer.

Far more prescriptive guidance has been added in IFRS 15 to deal with specific 
scenarios.  Furthermore, extensive disclosures are required by IFRS 15.

In April 2016, the IASB issued Classifications to IFRS 15 in relation to the 
identification of performance obligations, principal versus agent considerations, 
as well as licensing application guidance.

Annual periods beginning 
on or after 1 January 
2019

IFRS 16 Leases

IFRS 16 introduces a comprehensive model for the identification of lease 
arrangements and accounting treatments for both lessors and lessees. IFRS 16 
will supersede the current lease guide including IAS 17 Leases and the related 
interpretations when it becomes effective.

IFRS 16 distinguishes leases and service contracts on the basis of whether an 
identified asset is controlled by a customer. Distinctions of operating leases 
(off balance sheet) and finance leases (on balance sheet) are removed for 
lessee accounting, and is replaced by a model where a right-of-use asset and 
corresponding liability have to be recognized for all leases by lessees (i.e. all 
on balance sheet) except for short-term leases and leases of low value assets.

The right-of-use asset is initially measured at cost and subsequently measured 
at cost (subject to certain exceptions) less accumulated depreciation and 
impairment losses, adjusted for any re-measurement of the lease liability.  The 
lease liability is initially measured at present value of the lease payments that 
are aid at that date.  Subsequently, the lease liability is adjusted for interest and 
lease payments, as well as the impact of lease modifications, amongst others.  
Furthermore, the classification of cash flows will also be affected as operating 
lease payments under IAS 17 are presented as operating cash flows; whereas 
under the IFRS 16 model, the lease payments will be split into a principal and 
an interest portion that will be presented as financing and operating cash flows 
respectively.

In contrast to lessee accounting, IFRS 16 substantially carries forward the lessor 
accounting requirements in IAS 17, and continues to require a lessor to classify 
a lease either as an operating lease or a finance lease.

Furthermore, extensive disclosures are required by IFRS 16.
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2.	 Application of new and revised International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) ( Continued)

2.2	 New and revised IFRSs in issue but not yet effective (Continued)

Annual reporting periods 
beginning on or after 1 
January 2021

IFRS 17 Insurance Contracts

IFRS 17 requires insurance liabilities to be measured at a current fulfilment value 
and provides a more uniform measurement and presentation approach for all 
insurance contracts. These requirements are designed to achieve the goal of 
a consistent, principle-based accounting for insurance contracts. IFRS 17 
supersedes IFRS 4 Insurance Contracts as of 1 January 2021.

Annual periods beginning 
on or after 1 January 
2018

Classification and Measurement of Share-based Payment Transactions

Amends IFRS 2 Share-based Payment to clarify the standard in relation to the 
accounting for cash-settled share-based payment transactions that include a 
performance condition, the classification of share-based payment transactions 
with net settlement features, and the accounting for modifications of share-
based payment transactions from cash-settled to equity-settled.

The amendments to IFRS 
1 and IAS 28 are effective 
for annual periods 
beginning on or after 
1 January 2018

Annual Improvements to IFRS Standards 2014–2016 Cycle

Makes amendments to the following standards:
•	 IFRS 1 - Deletes the short-term exemptions in paragraphs E3–E7 of IFRS 

1, because they have now served their intended purpose 

•	 IAS 28 - Clarifies that the election to measure at fair value through profit 
or loss an investment in an associate or a joint venture that is held by 
an entity that is a venture capital organisation, or other qualifying entity, 
is available for each investment in an associate or joint venture on an 
investment-by-investment basis, upon initial recognition.

Annual reporting periods 
beginning on or after 1 
January 2018

IFRIC 22 Foreign Currency Transactions and Advance Consideration

The interpretation addresses foreign currency transactions or parts of 
transactions where:

•	 There is consideration that is denominated or priced in a foreign currency; 
•	 The entity recognises a prepayment asset or a deferred income liability in 

respect of that consideration, in advance of the recognition of the related 
asset, expense or income; and 

•	 The prepayment asset or deferred income liability is non-monetary.

The Interpretations Committee came to the following conclusion:

•	 The date of the transaction, for the purpose of determining the exchange 
rate, is the date of initial recognition of the non-monetary prepayment 
asset or deferred income liability. 

•	 If there are multiple payments or receipts in advance, a date of transaction 
is established for each payment or receipt.

Annual reporting periods 
beginning on or after 1 
January 2019

IFRIC 23 Uncertainty over Income Tax Treatments

The interpretation addresses the determination of taxable profit (tax loss), tax 
bases, unused tax losses, unused tax credits and tax rates, when there is 
uncertainty over income tax treatments under IAS 12. It specifically considers:

•	 Whether tax treatments should be considered collectively;
•	 Assumptions for taxation authorities’ examinations;
•	 The determination of taxable profit (tax loss), tax bases, unused tax 

losses, unused tax credits and tax rates; and
•	  The effect of changes in facts and circumstances.
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2.	 Application of new and revised International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) ( Continued)

2.2	 New and revised IFRSs in issue but not yet effective (Continued)

Annual periods beginning 
on or after 1 January 2019

Prepayment Features with Negative Compensation (Amendments to 
IFRS 9)

Amends the existing requirements in IFRS 9 regarding termination rights in order 
to allow measurement at amortised cost (or, depending on the business model, 
at fair value through other comprehensive income) even in the case of negative 
compensation payments.

Annual periods beginning 
on or after 1 January 2019

Long-term Interests in Associates and Joint Ventures (Amendments to 
IAS 28)

Clarifies that an entity applies IFRS 9 Financial Instruments to long-term interests 
in an associate or joint venture that form part of the net investment in the 
associate or joint venture but to which the equity method is not applied

	 The directors anticipate that other than IFRS 9 andIFRS 15  these Standards and Interpretations in future periods 
will have no significant impact on the financial statements of the Group. IFRS 9 will impact the measurement of 
financial instruments and IFRS 15 will affect recognition of revenue.

	 Assessed impact of IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers

	 IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers which establishes a single comprehensive model for 
use in accounting for revenue from contracts with customers is expected to have an impact on the Group’s 
telecommunication businesses. The directors of the Group have preliminarily assessed that the “contract handsets 
and contract packages” represent two separate performance obligations from the sale of the contract packages 
and handsets and accordingly, its revenue reported service revenues will be recognized for each of these 
performance obligations when control over the corresponding goods and services is transferred to the customer. 

	 Assessed impact of IFRS 9 Financial Instruments

	 The directors have preliminarily assessed that loans and advances to customers, finance lease receivables,  other 
investments  and trade and other receivables will be subject to the impairment provisions of IFRS 9. The Group 
expects to apply the general approach to recognise lifetime and 12-month expected credit losses for loans and 
advances to customers and finance lease receivables. Other investments have been deemed to have low credit 
risk by the directors as they include Malawi Government Bills and Notes which are guranteed by the Government 
of Malawi and Money Market deposits which are transacted with reputable financial institutions, the Group hence 
expects to recognise 12 month expected credit losses for these items. The Group expects to apply the simplified 
approach to recognise lifetime expected credit losses for its trade and other receivables as permitted by IFRS 9.

	 In general, the directors anticipate that the application of the expected credit loss model of IFRS 9 will result 
in earlier recognition of credit losses for the respective items and will increase the amount of loss allowance 
recognised for these items. The Group is in the progress of developing its models and this is expected to be 
completed in the first half of 2018.

3.	 Significant accounting policies

3.1	 Statement of compliance

	 The consolidated and separate financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial 
Reporting Standards (IFRSs) as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB) and provisions of 
the Companies Act, 2013.

3.2	 Basis of preparation

	 The consolidated and separate financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis except for the 
following items in the statement of financial position:

•	 Financial instruments at fair value through profit or loss are measured at fair value.
•	 Biological assets are measured at fair value less costs to sell.
•	 Investment property is measured at fair value.
•	 Investments in subsidiaries, joint ventures and associates are measured at fair value in the company 

financial statements.
•	 Land and buildings is measured at fair value.
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3.	 Significant accounting policies (Continued) 

3.2	 Basis of preparation (Continued)

	 The methods used to measure fair values are discussed further in note 6.7.

	 In addition, for financial reporting purposes, fair value measurements are categorised into Level 1, 2 and 3 based 
on the degree to which inputs to the fair value measurements are observable and the significance of the inputs to 
the fair value measurement in its entirety.

	 These different levels have been defined in note 6.7.

	 The accounting policies set out below have been applied consistently to all periods presented in these consolidated 
and separate financial statements, and have been applied consistently by Group entities.

3.3	 Basis of consolidation 

	 The consolidated financial statements incorporatethe financial statements of the Company and entities that are 
controlled by the Company and its subsidiaries. Under the Companies Act, 2013 and International Financial 
Reporting Standard 10, Consolidated Financial Statements, control is achieved when the company:

•	 Has power over the investee; 
•	 Is exposed, or has rights to variable returns from its involvement with the investee; and 
•	 Has the ability to use its power to affect its returns.

	 The Company reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if facts and circumstances indicate that there are 
changes to one or more of the three elements of control listed above.

	 When the Company has less than a majority of the voting rights of an investee, it has power when the voting rights 
are sufficient to give it the practical ability to direct the relevant activities of the investee unilaterally. The company 
considers all relevant facts and circumstances in assessing whether or not the Company’s voting rights in an 
investee are sufficient to give it power, including:

•	 The size of the Company’s holding of voting rights relative to the size and dispersion of holdings of the other 
vote holders; 

•	 Potential voting rights held by the company, other vote holders or other parties;
•	 Rights arising from other contractual arrangements; and 
•	 Any additional facts and circumstances that indicate that the company has, does not have, the current abil-

ity to direct the relevant activities at the time that decisions need to be made, including patterns at previous 
shareholders’ meetings.

	 Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Company obtains control over the subsidiary and ceases when 
the company loses control of the subsidiary. Specifically, assets, liabilities, income and expenses of a subsidiary 
acquired or disposed of during the year are included in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income and 
financial position from the date the company gains control until the date when the company ceases to control the 
subsidiary.

	 Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive income are attributed to the owners of the company 
and to the non-controlling interests even if this results in the non-controlling interests having a deficit balance.  

	 When necessary, adjustments are made to the financial statements of subsidiaries to bring their accounting poli-
cies in line with the Group’s accounting policies.

	 All intra-group assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses and cash flows relating to transactions between 
members of the Group are eliminated in full on consolidation.

	 In the separate financial statements the investments are measured at fair value. These are valued on a regular 
basis by external valuers.

3.3.1	 Changes in the Group’s ownership interests in existing subsidiaries

	 Changes in the Group’s ownership interests in subsidiaries that do not result in the Group losing control 
over the subsidiaries are accounted for as equity transactions. The carrying amounts of the Group’s inter-
ests and the non-controlling interests are adjusted to reflect the changes in their relative interests in the 
subsidiaries. Any difference between the amount by which the non-controlling interests are adjusted and 
the fair value of the consideration paid or received is recognised directly in equity and attributed to owners 
of the company.
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3.	 Significant accounting policies (Continued)

3.3	 Basis of consolidation (Continued)

	 When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, a gain or loss is recognized in profit or loss and is calculated as the 
difference between:

(i)	 The aggregate of the fair value of the consideration received and the fair value of any retained interest; 
and

(ii)	 The previous carrying amount of the assets (including goodwill), and liabilities of the subsidiary and 
any non-controlling interests.

	 All amounts previously recognized in other comprehensive income in relation to that subsidiary are accounted for as 
if the Group has directly disposed of the related assets or liabilities of the subsidiary. The fair value of any investment 
retained in the former subsidiary at the date when control is lost is regarded as the fair value on initial recognition for 
subsequent accounting under IAS 39, when applicable, the cost on initial recognition of an investment in an associate 
or a joint venture.

3.4	 Business combinations

	 Acquisitions of subsidiaries and businesses are accounted for using the acquisition method. The consideration 
transferred in a business combination is measured at fair value, which is calculated as the sum of the acquisition-
date fair values of the assets transferred by the Group, liabilities incurred by the Group to the former owners of the 
acquire and equity interests issued by the Group in exchange for control of the acquiree. Acquisition-related costs 
are generally recognised in profit or loss as incurred.

	 At the acquisition date, the identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed are recognised at their fair value, 
except that:

•	 Deferred tax assets or liabilities, and assets or liabilities related to employee benefit arrangements are 
recognised and measured in accordance with IAS 12 Income taxes and IAS 19 Employee benefits respectively;

 
•	 Liabilities or equity instruments related to share-based payment arrangements of the acquiree or share-based 

payment arrangements of the Group entered into to replace share-based payment arrangements of the 
acquiree are measured in accordance with IFRS 2 Share based payment at the acquisition date; and

•	 Assets (or disposal groups) that are classified as held for sale in accordance with IFRS 5 Non-current Assets 
Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations are measured in accordance with that Standard.

	 Goodwill is measured as the excess of the sum of the consideration transferred, the amount of any non-controlling 
interests in the acquiree, and the fair value of the acquirer’s previously held equity interest in the acquiree (if any) 
over the net of the acquisition-date amounts of the identifiable assets acquired and the liabilities assumed. If, after 
reassessment, the net of the acquisition-date amounts of the identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed 
exceeds the sum of the consideration transferred, the amount of any non-controlling interests in the acquiree and the 
fair value of the acquirer’s previously held interest in the acquiree (if any), the excess is recognized immediately in 
profit or loss as a bargain purchase gain.

	 Non-controlling interests that are present ownership interests and entitle their holders to a proportionate share of the 
entity’s net assets in the event of liquidation may be initially measured either at fair value or at the non-controlling 
interests’ proportionate share of the recognised amounts of the acquiree’s identifiable net assts.  The choice of 
measurement basis is made on a transaction by-transaction basis. Other types of non-controlling interests are 
measured at fair value or, when applicable on the basis specified in another IFRS. 

	 When the consideration transferred by the Group in a business combination includes assets or liabilities resulting 
from a contingent consideration arrangement, the contingent consideration is measured at its acquisition-date fair 
value and included as part of the consideration transferred in a business combination.  Changes in the fair value 
of the contingent consideration that qualify as measurement period adjustments are adjusted retrospectively, with 
corresponding adjustments against goodwill.  Measurement period adjustments are adjustments that arise from 
additional information obtained during the ‘measurement period’ (which cannot exceed one year from the acquisition 
date) about facts and circumstances that existed at the acquisition date.

	 The subsequent accounting for changes in the fair value of the contingent consideration that do not qualify as 
measurement period adjustments depends on how the contingent consideration is classified.  Contingent consideration 
that is classified as equity is not re-measured at subsequent reporting dates and its subsequent settlement is 
accounted for within equity.  Contingent consideration that is classified as an asset or liability is re-measured at 
subsequent reporting dates in accordance with IAS 39 Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement, or IAS 
37 Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets, as appropriate with the corresponding gain or loss being 
recognized in profit or loss.
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3.	 Significant accounting policies (Continued)

3.4	 Business combinations (Continued)

	 When a business combination is achieved in stages, the Group’s previously held equity interest in the acquiree 
is remeasured to its acquisition-date fair value and the resulting gain or loss, if any, is recognized in profit or loss.  
Amounts arising from interests in the acquiree prior to the acquisition date that have previously been recognized 
in other comprehensive income are reclassified to profit or loss when such treatment would be appropriate if that 
interest were disposed of.

	 If the initial accounting for a business combination is incomplete by the end of the reporting period in which the 
combination occurs, the Group reports provisional amounts for the items for which the accounting is incomplete.  
Those provisional amounts are adjusted during the measurement period (see above), or additional assets or 
liabilities are recognized, to reflect new information obtained about facts and circumstances that existed at the 
acquisition date that, if known, would have affected the amounts recognized at that date.    

 
3.5	 Goodwill

	
	 Goodwill arising on an acquisition of a business is carried at cost as established at the date of acquisition of the 

business less accumulated impairment losses, if any.

	 For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill is allocated to each of the Group’s cash-generating units that is 
expected to benefit from the synergies of the combination. 

	 A cash-generating unit to which goodwill has been allocated is tested for impairment annually, or more frequently 
when there is an indication that the unit may be impaired. If the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit is 
less than its carrying amount, the impairment loss is allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill 
allocated to the unit and then to the other assets of the unit pro-rata based on the carrying amount of each asset 
in the unit. Any impairment loss for goodwill is recognised directly in profit or loss. An impairment loss recognised 
for goodwill is not reversed in subsequent periods.

	 On disposal of the relevant cash-generating unit, the attributable amount of goodwill is included in the determina-
tion of the profit or loss on disposal.

	 The Group’s policy for goodwill arising on the acquisition of an associate and a joint venture is described at note 
3.6 below.

3.6	 Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures

	 An associate is an entity over which the Group has significant influence. Significant influence is the power to par-
ticipate in the financial and operating policy decisions of the investee but is not control or joint control over those 
policies.

	 A joint venture is a joint arrangement whereby the parties that have joint control of the arrangement have rights to 
the net assets of the joint arrangement. Joint control is the contractually agreed sharing of control of an arrange-
ment, which exists only when decisions about the relevant activities require unanimous consent of the parties 
sharing control.

	 The results and assets and liabilities of associates or joint ventures are incorporated in these consolidated financial 
statements using the equity method of accounting, except when the investment, or a portion thereof, is classified 
as held for sale, in which case it is accounted for in accordance with IFRS 5. Under the equity method, an invest-
ment in an associate or a joint venture is initially recognised in the consolidated statement of financial position at 
costand adjusted thereafter to recognise the Group’s share of the profit or loss and other comprehensive income 
of the associate or joint venture. When the Group’s share of losses of an associate or a joint venture exceeds the 
Group’s interest in that associate or joint venture (which includes any long-term interests that, in substance, form 
part of the Group’s net investment in the associate or joint venture), the Group discontinues recognising its share 
of further losses. Additional losses are recognised only to the extent that the Group has incurred legal or construc-
tive obligations or made payments on behalf of the associate or joint venture.

	 An investment in an associate or a joint venture is accounted for using the equity method from the date on which 
the investee becomes an associate or a joint venture. On acquisition of the investment in an associate or a joint 
venture, any excess of the cost of the investment over the Group’s share of the net fair value of the identifiable 
assets and liabilities of the investee is recognised as goodwill, which is included within the carrying amount of the 
investment. Any excess of the Group’s share of the net fair value of the identifiable assets and liabilities over the 
cost of the investment, after reassessment, is recognised immediately in profit or loss in the period in which the 
investmentis acquired.
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3.	 Significant accounting policies (Continued)

3.6	 Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures (Continued) 

	 The requirements of IAS 39 are applied to determine whether it is necessary to recognise any impairment loss with 
respect to the Group’s investment in an associate or a joint venture. When necessary, the entire carrying amountof 
the investment (including goodwill) is tested for impairment in accordance with IAS 36 Impairment of Assets as 
a single asset by comparing its recoverable amount (higher of value in use and fair value less costs of disposal) 
with its carrying amount, Any impairment loss recognised forms part of the carrying amount of the investment. Any 
reversal of that impairment loss is recognised in accordance with IAS 36 to the extent that the recoverable amount 
of the investment subsequently increases.

	 The Group discontinues the use of the equity method from the date when the investment ceases to be an 
associate or a joint venture, or when the investment is classified as held for sale. When the Group retains an 
interest in the former associate or joint venture and the retained interest is a financial asset, the Group measures 
the retained interest at fair value at that date and the fair value is regarded as its fair value on initial recognition in 
accordance with IAS 39. The difference between the carrying amount of the associate or joint venture at the date 
the equity method was discontinued, and the fair value of any retained interest and any proceeds from disposing 
of a part interest in the associate or joint venture is included in the determination of the gain or loss on disposal 
of the associate or joint venture. In addition, the Group accounts for all amounts previously recognised in other 
comprehensive income in relation to that associate or joint venture on the same basis as would be required if 
that associate or joint venture had directly disposed of the related assets or liabilities. Therefore, if a gain or loss 
previously recognised in other comprehensive income by that associate or joint venture would be reclassified to 
profit or loss on the disposal of the related assets or liabilities, the Group reclassifies the gain or loss from equity 
to profit or loss (as a reclassification adjustment) when the equity method is discontinued.

	 The Group continues to use the equity method when an investment in an associate becomes an investment 
in a joint venture or an investment in a joint venture becomes an investment in an associate. There is no re-
measurement to fair value upon such changes in ownership interests.

	 When the Group reduces its ownership interest in an associate or a joint venture but the Group continues to use 
the equity method, the Group reclassifies to profit or loss the proportion of the gain or loss that had previously been 
recognised in other comprehensive income relating to that reduction in ownership interest if that gain or loss would 
be reclassified to profit or loss on the disposal of the related assets or liabilities.

	 When a Group entity transacts with an associate or a joint venture of the Group, profits and losses resulting from 
the transactions with the associate or joint venture are recognised in the Group’s consolidated financial statements 
only to the extent of interests in the associate or joint venture that are not related to the Group.

	 In separate financial statements, investments in associates and joint ventures are carried at fair value.

3.7	 Interests in joint operations

	 A joint operation is a joint arrangement whereby the parties that have joint control of the arrangement haverights 
to the assets, and obligations for the liabilities, relating to the arrangement. Joint control is the contractually 
agreed sharing of control of an arrangement, which exists only when decisions about the relevant activities require 
unanimous consent of the parties sharing control.

	 When a Group entity undertakes its activities under joint operations, the Group as a joint operator recognises in 
relation to its interest in a joint operation:

•	 its assets, including its share of any assets held jointly;
•	 its liabilities, including its share of any liabilities incurred jointly;
•	 its revenue from the sale of its share of the output arising from the joint operation;
•	 its share of the revenue from the sale of the output by the joint operation; and
•	 Its expenses, including its share of any expenses incurred jointly.

	 The Group accounts for the assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses relating to its interest in a joint operation in 
accordance with the IFRSs applicable to the particular assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses.

	 When a Group entity transacts with a joint operation in which a group entity is a joint operator (such as a sale 
or contribution of assets), the Group is considered to be conducting the transaction with the other parties to the 
joint operation, and gains and losses resulting from the transactions are recognised in the Group’s consolidated 
financial statements only to the extent of other parties’ interests in the joint operation.

	 When a Group entity transacts with a joint operation in which a Group entity is a joint operator (such as a purchase 
of assets), the Group does not recognise its share of the gains and losses until it resells those assets to a third 
party.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED AND SEPARATE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
For the year ended 31 December 2017                                                 
In millions of Malawi Kwacha



Annual Report 2017   | PRESS CORPORATION PLC 69

S
tr

at
eg

ic
 R

ep
or

t  
| 

 C
or

po
ra

te
 G

ov
er

na
nc

e 
  

 F
in

an
ci

al
 S

ta
te

m
en

ts
  

  O
n 

th
e 

M
al

aw
i S

to
ck

 E
xc

ha
ng

e

3.	 Significant accounting policies (Continued)

3.8	 Non-current assets held for sale

	 Non-current assets and disposal groups are classified as held for sale if their carrying amount will be recovered 
principally through a sale transaction rather than through continuing use. This condition is regarded as met only 
when the asset (or disposal group) is available for immediate sale in its present condition subject only to terms that 
are usual and customary for sales of such asset (or disposal group) and its sale is highly probable. Management 
must be committed to the sale, which should be expected to qualify for recognition as a completed sale within one 
year from the date of classification.

	 When the Group is committed to a sale plan involving loss of control of a subsidiary, all of the assets and liabilities 
of that subsidiary are classified as held for sale when the criteria described above are met, regardless of whether 
the Group will retain a non-controlling interest in its former subsidiary after the sale.

	 When the Group is committed to a sale plan involving disposal of an investment, or a portion of an investment, in 
an associate or joint venture, the investment or the portion of the investment that will be disposed of is classified as 
held for sale when the criteria described above are met, and the Group discontinues the use of the equity method 
in relation to the portion that is classified a held for sale. Any retained portion of an investment in an associate or a 
joint venture that has not been classified as held for sale continues to be accounted for using the equity method. 
The Group discontinues the use of the equity method at the time of disposal when the disposal results in the Group 
losing significant influence over the associate or joint venture.

	 After the disposal takes place, the Group accounts for any retained interest in the associate or joint venture in 
accordance with IAS 39 unless the retained interest continues to be an associate or a joint venture, in which case 
the Group uses the equity method (see the accounting policy regarding investments in associates or joint ventures 
above).

	 Non-current assets (and disposal groups) classified as held for sale are measured at the lower of their carrying 
amount and fair value less costs to sell.

3.9	 Revenue recognition

	 Revenue represents amounts invoiced or sales otherwise made in the normal course of trade of the respective 
companies after deduction of Value Added Tax (VAT) and credit notes where applicable. Group revenue excludes 
sales between Group companies.

		
3.9.1   Sale of goods 

	 Revenue from the sale of goods is recognized when the goods are delivered and titles have passed, at 
which time all the following conditions are satisfied:

•	 The Group has transferred to the buyer the significant risks and rewards of ownership of the goods;
•	 The Group retains neither continuing managerial involvement to the degree usually associated with 

ownership nor effective control over the goods sold;
•	 The amount of revenue can be measured reliably;
•	 It is probable that the economic benefits associated with the transaction will flow to the Group; and
•	 The costs incurred or to be incurred in respect of the transaction can be measured reliably.

	 If it is probable that discounts will be granted and the amount can be measured reliably, the discount is 
recognised as a reduction of revenue as the sales are recognized. No revenue is recognised if there are 
significant uncertainties regarding recovery of the consideration due, associated costs or the possible 
return of goods.

	 Revenue from the sale of goods in the course of ordinary activities is measured at the fair value of the con-
sideration received or receivable, net of returns and allowances, trade discounts and volume rebates. 

 
	 3.9.2   Rendering of services 

	 Revenue from services rendered is recognised in profit or loss by reference to the stage of completion of 
the transaction at the reporting date. Specifically:

•	 Revenue from prepaid, post-paid and international roaming telephone service is recognised when 
airtime is used by the customer. Value of unused airtime on prepaid service sold to customers and 
unused bonuses in customer phones is recognised as deferred revenue in the consolidated state-
ment of financial position.

•	 Installation revenue is recognised on the date of installation.
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3.	 Significant accounting policies (Continued)

3.9	 Revenue recognition (Continued)

3.9.3	 Interest income

	 Interest income for all interest-bearing financial instruments except for those classified as held for trading 
or designated at fair value through profit and loss are recognised within “revenues” in the statement of 
comprehensive income using the effective interest rate method. 

	 The effective interest rate method is a method of calculating the amortised cost of a financial asset or a 
financial liability and of allocating the interest income over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is 
the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash payments or receipts through the expected life of the 
financial instrument or, when appropriate, a shorter period to the net carrying amount of the financial asset 
or financial liability. When calculating the effective interest rate, the Group estimates cash flows considering 
all contractual terms of the financial instrument (for example, prepayment options) but does not consider 
future credit losses. The calculation includes all fees and points paid or received between parties to the 
contract that are an integral part of the effective interest rate, transaction costs and all other premiums or 
discounts.

	 Once a financial asset or a group of similar financial assets has been written down as a result of an 
impairment loss, interest income is recognised using the rate of interest used to discount the future cash 
flows for the purpose of measuring the impairment loss. 

3.9.4	 Fees and commissions

	 Fees and commission income that are integral to the effective interest rate on a financial asset are included 
in the effective interest rate.Other fees and commission are generally recognised on an accrual basis when 
the services have been provided, specifically:

	
•	 Loan commitment fees for loans that are likely to be drawn down are deferred (together with related 

direct costs) and recognised as an adjustment to the effective interest rate on the loan.
•	 Loan syndication fees are recognised as revenue when the syndication has been completed and the 

bank retained no part of the loan package for itself or retained a part at the same effective interest 
rate for the other participants.

•	 Commission and fees arising from negotiating or participating in the negotiation of a transaction for 
a third party, such as the arrangement of the acquisition of shares or other securities or the purchase 
or sale of businesses are recognised on completion of the underlying transaction.

•	 Portfolio and other management advisory and service fees are recognised based on the applicable 
service contracts, usually on a time apportion basis. 

•	 Asset management fees related to investment funds are recognised rateably over the period in which 
the service is provided. The same principle is applied to wealth management, financial planning and 
custody services that are continuously provided over an extended period of time. 

•	 Performance linked fees or fee components are recognised when the performance criteria are 
fulfilled.

	 3.9.5   Rental income 

	 Rental income from investment property is recognized in the profit or loss on a straight line basis over the 
term of the lease. Lease incentives granted are recognized as an integral part of the total rental income to 
be received.

	 The Group’s policy for recognition of revenue from operating leases is description in note 3.10 below.

	 Rental income from other property is recognised as other income.

3.9.6    Dividend income

	 Dividend income from investments is recognised when the shareholder’s right to receive payment has been 
established.

3.9.7	 Premium on foreign exchange deals

	 Premium on spot foreign exchange deals are recognised as income when the deal is agreed.
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3.	 Significant accounting policies (Continued)

3.9	 Revenue recognition (Continued)

3.9.8	 Other revenue

	 Revenue on other sales is recognised on the date all risks and rewards associated with the sale are trans-
ferred to the purchaser.

	 Revenue on other services is recognised upon the performance of the contractual obligation.
	

3.10	 Leases

	 Leases are classified as finance lease when the terms of the lease transfer substantially all the risks and rewards 
of ownership to/from the Group. All other leases are classified as operating leases.

	
3.10.1	The Group as lessor 

	 Amounts due from lessees under finance leases are recognised as receivables at the amount of the 
Group’s net investment in the leases. Finance lease income is allocated to accounting periods so as to 
reflect a constant periodic rate of return on the Group’s net investment outstanding in respect of the leases.

	
	 Rental income from operating leases is recognised on a straight-line basis over the term of the relevant 

lease. Initial direct costs incurred in negotiating and arranging an operating lease are added to the carrying 
amount of the leased asset and recognised as an expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term.

	
3.10.2	The Group as lessee

	 Assets held under finance leases are recognised as assets of the Group at their fair value at the inception of 
the lease or, if lower, at the present value of the minimum lease payments. Subsequent to initial recognition, 
the asset is accounted for in accordance with the accounting policy applicable to that asset. The corre-
sponding liability to the lessor is included in the consolidated and separate statement of financial position 
as a finance lease obligation. 

	 Lease payments are apportioned between finance charges and reduction of the lease obligation so as 
to achieve a constant rate of interest on the remaining balance of the liability. Finance expenses are rec-
ognised immediately in profit or loss, unless they are directly attributable to qualifying assets, in which 
case they are capitalised in accordance with the Group’s general policy on borrowing costs (see note 3.12 
below). Contingent rentals are recognised as expenses in the periods in which they are incurred.

	
	 Operating lease payments are recognised as an expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term. 

Benefits received and receivable as an incentive to enter into an operating lease are also spread on a 
straight-line basis over the lease term. Investment property held under an operating lease is recognised on 
the Group’s statement of financial position at its fair value. 

3.11	 Foreign currencies

	 In preparing the financial statements of each individual group entity, transactions in currencies other than the enti-
ty’s functional currency (foreign currencies) are recognised at the rates of exchange prevailing at the dates of the 
transactions. At the end of each reporting period, monetary items denominated in foreign currencies are retrans-
lated at the rates prevailing at that date. Non-monetary items carried at fair value that are denominated in foreign 
currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing at the date when the fair value was determined. Non-monetary 
items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are not retranslated.

	 Exchange differences on monetary items are recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they arise except 
for:

•	 exchange differences on foreign currency borrowings relating to assets under construction for future pro-
ductive use, which are included in the cost of those assets when they are regarded as an adjustment to 
interest costs on those foreign currency borrowings;and

•	 exchange differences on monetary items receivable from or payable to a foreign operation for which set-
tlementis neither planned nor likely to occur (therefore forming part of the net investment in the foreign 
operation), which are recognised initially in other comprehensive income and reclassified from equity to 
profit or loss on repayment of the monetary items.
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3.	 Significant accounting policies (Continued)

3.11	 Foreign currencies (Continued)

	 For the purposes of presenting these consolidated financial statements, the assets and liabilities of the Group’s 
foreign operations are translated into Currency Units using exchange rates prevailing at the end of each reporting 
period. Income and expense items are translated at the average exchange rates for the period, unless exchange 
rates fluctuate significantly during that period, in which case the exchange rates at the dates of the transactions 
are used. Exchange differences arising, if any, are recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulatedin 
equity (and attributed to non-controlling interests as appropriate).

	 On the disposal of a foreign operation (i.e. a disposal of the Group’s entire interest in a foreign operation, a dis-
posal involving loss of control over a subsidiary that includes a foreign operation, or a partial disposal of an interest 
ina joint arrangement or an associate that includes a foreign operation of which the retained interest becomesa 
financial asset), all of the exchange differences accumulated in equity in respect of that operation attributable to 
the owners of the Company are reclassified to profit or loss.

	 In addition, in relation to a partial disposal of a subsidiary that includes a foreign operation that does not result 
in the Group losing control over the subsidiary, the proportionate share of accumulated exchange differencesare 
re-attributed to non-controlling interests and are not recognised in profit or loss. For all other partial disposals(i.e. 
partial disposals of associates or joint arrangements that do not result in the Group losing significant influence or 
joint control), the proportionate share of the accumulated exchange differences is reclassified to profit or loss.

	 Goodwill and fair value adjustments to identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed through acquisition of a 
foreign operation are treated as assets and liabilities of the foreign operation and translated at the rateof exchange 
prevailing at the end of each reporting period. Exchange differences arising are recognised in other comprehen-
sive income.

3.12	 Borrowing costs

	 Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of qualifying assets, which are 
assets that necessarily take a substantial period of time to get ready for their intended use or sale, are added to 
the cost of those assets, until such time as the assets are substantially ready for their intended use or sale.

	 Investment income earned on the temporary investment of specific borrowings pending their expenditure on qual-
ifying assets is deducted from the borrowing costs eligible for capitalisation.

	 All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they are incurred.

3.13	 Employee benefits

3.13.1	Defined contribution plans

	 A defined contribution plan is a post-employment benefit plan under which an entity pays fixed contri-
butions into a separate entity and will have no legal or constructive obligation to pay further amounts. 
Obligations for contributions to defined contribution pension plans are recognised as an employee benefit 
expense in profit or loss in the periods during which services are rendered by employees. 

	 The Group contributes to a number of defined contribution pension schemes on behalf of its employees, 
the assets of which are kept separate from the Group. Contributions to the Fund are based on a percentage 
of the payroll and are recognised as an expense in the profit or loss when employees have rendered service 
entitling them to the contributions. Prepaid contributions are recognised as an asset to the extent that a 
cash refund or a reduction in future payments is available.

	 Once the contributions have been paid, the Group has no further payment obligations.

3.13.2	Termination benefits

	 A liability for a termination benefit is recognised at the earlier of when the entity can no longer withdraw the 
offer of the termination benefit and when the entity recognises any related restructuring costs. If benefits are 
payable more than 12 months after the reporting period, then they are discounted to their present value.

3.13.3	Short-term benefits

	 A liability is recognised for benefits accruing to employees in respect of wages and salaries, annual leave, 
sick leave and non-monetarybenefits in the period the related service is rendered at the undiscounted 
amount of the benefits expected to be paid in exchange for that service.
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3.	 Significant accounting policies (Continued)

3.13	 Employee benefits (Continued) 

3.13.3	 Short-term benefits (Continued)

	 A liability is recognised for the amount expected to be paid under short-term cash bonus or profit sharing 
plans if the Group has a present legal constructive obligation to pay this amount as a result of past service 
provided by the employee, and the obligation can be estimated reliably.

3.14	 Taxation

	 Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently payable and deferred tax.
	

3.14.1		  Current tax
	
	 The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the year. Taxable profit differs from ‘profit before tax’ as 

reported in the consolidated and separate statements of comprehensive income because of items of income 
or expense that are taxable or deductible in other years and items that are never taxable or deductible. The 
Group’s current tax is calculated using tax rates that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end 
of the reporting period.

	 Additional income taxes that arise from the distribution of dividends are recognised at the same time as the 
liability to pay the related dividend is recognised.

3.14.2		  Deferred tax

	 Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in 
the consolidated and separate financial statements and the corresponding tax bases used in the computation 
of taxable profit. Deferred tax liabilities are generally recognised for all taxable temporary differences. Deferred 
tax assets are generally recognised for all deductible temporary differences to the extent that it is probable 
that taxable profitswill be available against which those deductible temporary differences can be utilised. Such 
deferred tax assets and liabilities are not recognised if the temporary difference arises from the initial recog-
nition (other than in a business combination) of assets and liabilities in a transaction that affects neither the 
taxable profit nor the accounting profit.In addition, deferred tax liabilities are not recognised if the temporary 
difference arises from the initial recognition of goodwill.

	 Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary differences associated with investments in subsid-
iaries and associates, and interests in joint ventures, except where the Group is able to control the reversal of 
the temporary difference and it is probable that the temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable fu-
ture. Deferred tax assets arising from deductible temporary differences associated with such investments and 
interests are only recognised to the extent that it is probable that there will be sufficient taxable profits against 
which to utilise the benefits of the temporary differences and they are expected to reverse in the foreseeable 
future.

	 The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the end of each reporting period and reduced to the 
extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available to allow all or part of the asset 
to be recovered.

	 Deferred tax liabilities and assets are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply in the period in 
whichthe liability is settled or the asset realised, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or 
substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.

	 The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets reflects the tax consequences that would follow from 
the manner in which the Group expects, at the end of the reporting period, to recover or settle the carrying 
amount of its assets and liabilities.

	 For the purposes of measuring deferred tax liabilities and deferred tax assets for investment properties that are 
measured using the fair value model, the carrying amounts of such properties are presumed to be recovered 
entirely through sale, unless the presumption is rebutted. The presumption is rebutted when the investment 
property is depreciable and is held within a business model whose objective is to consume substantially all of 
the economic benefits embodied in the investment property over time, rather than through sale. The directors 
of the Company reviewed the Group’s investment property portfolios and concluded that none of the Group’s 
investment properties are held under a business model whose objective is to consume substantially all of the 
economic benefits embodied in the investment properties over time, rather than through sale. Therefore, the 
directors have determined that the ‘sale’ presumption set out in the amendments to IAS 12 is not rebutted. As 
a result, the Group has recognisedany deferred taxes on changes in fair value of the investment properties as 
the Group is subject to any income taxes on the fair value changes of the investment properties on disposal.
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3.	 Significant accounting policies (Continued)

3.14	 Taxation (Continued)

3.14.3		  Current and deferred tax for the year

	 Current and deferred tax are recognised in profit or loss, except when they relate to items that are recognised 
in other comprehensive income or directly in equity, in which case, the current and deferred tax are also 
recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in equity respectively. Where current tax or deferred tax 
arises from the initial accounting for a business combination, the tax effect is included in the accounting for 
the business combination.

3.15	 Property, plant and equipment

3.15.1	 Recognition and measurement

	 Land and buildingsheld for use in the production or supply of goods or services, or for administrative purposes, 
are stated in the consolidated statement of financial position at their revalued amounts, being the fair value 
at the date of revaluation, less any subsequent accumulated depreciation and subsequent accumulated 
impairment losses. Revaluations are performed by independent valuers with sufficient regularity such that the 
carrying amounts do not differ materially from those that would be determined using fair values at the end of 
each reporting period. The basis of valuation used is current market value.

	 Any revaluation increase arising on the revaluation of such land and buildings is recognised in other 
comprehensive income and accumulated in equity, except to the extent that it reverses a revaluation decrease 
for the sameasset previously recognised in profit or loss, in which case the increase is credited to profit or 
loss to the extent of the decrease previously expensed. A decrease in the carrying amount arising on the 
revaluation of such land and buildings and fishing vessels is recognised in profit or loss to the extent that it 
exceeds the balance, if any, held in the revaluation reserve relating to a previous revaluation of those assets.

 
	 Properties in the course of construction for production, supply or administrative purposes are carried at cost, 

less any recognised impairment loss. Cost includes professional fees and, for qualifying assets, borrowing 
costs capitalised in accordance with the Group’s accounting policy. Such properties are classified to the 
appropriate categories of property, plant and equipment when completed and ready for intended use. 
Depreciation of theseassets, on the same basis as other property assets, commences when the assets are 
ready for their intended use.

	 Depreciation on revalued buildings is recognised in profit or loss. On the subsequent sale or retirement of 
a revalued property, the attributable revaluation surplus remaining in the properties revaluation reserve is 
transferred directly to retained earnings.

	 Freehold land is not depreciated.

	 Motor vehicles, plant, furniture and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and 
accumulated impairment losses. 

	 An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised upon disposal or when no future economic benefits 
are expected to arise from the continued use of the asset. Any gain or loss arising on the disposal or retirement 
of an item of property, plant and equipment is determined as the difference between the sales proceeds and 
the carrying amount of the asset and is recognised in profit or loss.

3.15.2	 Subsequent expenditure

	 Subsequent expenditure is capitalised only if it is probable that the future economic benefits associated with 
the expenditure will flow to the Group.

3.15.3	 Depreciation

	 Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the cost or valuation of assets (other than freehold land and 
properties under construction) less their residual values over their useful lives, using the straight-line method. 
The estimated useful lives, residual values and depreciation method are reviewed at the end of each reporting 
period, with the effect of any changes in estimate accounted for on a prospective basis. If significant parts of 
an item of property, plant and equipment have different useful lives, then they are accounted for as separate 
items (major components) of property, plant and equipment.

	 Assets held under finance leases are depreciated over their expected useful lives on the same basis as owned 
assets. However, when there is no reasonable certainty that ownership will be obtained by the end of the lease 
term, assets are depreciated over the shorter of the lease term and their useful lives.
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3.	 Significant accounting policies (Continued)

3.15	 Property, plant and equipment (Continued)

3.15.4	Reclassification to investment property

	 When the use of a property changes from owner-occupied to investment property, the property is re-
measured to fair value and reclassified accordingly. Any gain arising on this re-measurement is recognised 
in profit or loss to the extent that it reverses a previous impairment loss on the specific property, with any 
remaining gain recognised in other comprehensive income and presented in the revaluation reserve. Any 
loss is recognised in profit and loss.

3.16	 Investment property

	 Investment properties are properties held to earn rentals and/or for capital appreciation (including property under 
construction for such purposes). Investment properties are measured initially at cost, including transaction costs. 
Subsequent to initial recognition, investment properties are measured at fair value. All of the Group’s property 
interests held under operating leases to earn rentals or for capital appreciation purposes are accounted for as 
investment properties and are measured using the fair value model. Gains and losses arising from changes in the 
fair value of investment properties are included in profit or loss in the period in which they arise.

	 When the use of a property changes such that it is reclassified as property, plant and equipment, its fair value at 
the date of reclassification becomes its cost for subsequent accounting.

	 An investment property is derecognised upon disposal or when the investment property is permanently withdrawn 
from use and no future economic benefits are expected from the disposal. Any gain or loss arising on de-
recognition of the property (calculated as the difference between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying 
amount of the asset) is included in profit or loss in the period in which the property is derecognised.
		

3.17	 Intangible assets

3.17.1		  Intangible assets acquired separately

	 Intangible assets with finite useful lives that are acquired separately are carried at cost less accumulated 
amortisation and accumulated impairment losses. Amortisation is recognised on a straight-line basis over 
their estimated useful lives. The estimated useful life (five years - current and comparative years) and 
amortisation method are reviewed at the end of each reporting period, with the effect of any changes in 
estimate being accounted for on a prospective basis.

 	 Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives that are acquired separately are carried at cost less accumulated 
impairment losses.

3.17.2	 Internally-generated intangible assets – research and development expenditure

	 Expenditure on research activities is recognised as an expense in the period in which it is incurred.

	 An internally-generated intangible asset arising from development (or from the development phase of an 
internal project) is recognised if, and only if, all of the following have been demonstrated:

•	 the technical feasibility of completing the intangible asset so that it will be available for use or sale;
•	 the intention to complete the intangible asset and use or sell it;
•	 the ability to use or sell the intangible asset;
•	 how the intangible asset will generate probable future economic benefits;
•	 the availability of adequate technical, financial and other resources to complete the development 

and to use or sell the intangible asset; and
•	 The ability to measure reliably the expenditure attributable to the intangible asset during its 

development.

	 The amount initially recognised for internally-generated intangible assets is the sum of the expenditure 
incurred from the date when the intangible asset first meets the recognition criteria listed above. Where no 
internally- generated intangible asset can be recognised, development expenditure is recognised in profit 
or loss in the period in which it is incurred.

	 Subsequent to initial recognition, internally-generated intangible assets are reported at cost less 
accumulated amortisation and accumulated impairment losses, on the same basis as intangible assets 
that are acquired separately.
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3.	 Significant accounting policies (Continued)

3.17	 Intangible assets (Continued) 

3.17.3	 Intangible assets acquired in a business combination

	 Intangible assets acquired in a business combination and recognised separately from goodwill are initially 
recognised at their fair value at the acquisition date (which is regarded as their cost).

	 Subsequent to initial recognition, intangible assets acquired in a business combination are reported at 
cost less accumulated amortisation and accumulated impairment losses, on the same basis as intangible 
assets that are acquired separately.

3.17.4	Subsequent expenditure

	 Subsequent expenditure on capitalised intangible assets is capitalised only when it increases the future 
economic benefits embodied in the specific asset to which it relates. All other expenditure is expensed as 
incurred.

3.17.5	De-recognition of intangible assets

	 An intangible asset is derecognised on disposal, or when no future economic benefits are expected 
from use or disposal. Gains or losses arising from derecognition of an intangible asset, measured as the 
difference between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset, and are recognised in 
profit or loss when the asset is derecognised.

3.18	 Impairment of tangible and intangible assets other than goodwill and financial assets

	 At the end of each reporting period, the Group reviews the carrying amounts of its tangible and intangible assets to 
determine whether there is any indication that those assets have suffered an impairment loss. If any such indication 
exists, the recoverable amount of the asset is estimated in order to determine the extent of the impairment loss(if 
any). When it is not possible to estimate the recoverable amount of an individual asset, the Group estimates the 
recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs. When a reasonable and consistent 
basis of allocation can be identified, corporate assets are also allocated to individual cash-generating units, or 
otherwise they are allocated to the smallest group of cash-generating units for which a reasonable and consistent 
allocation basis can be identified.

	 Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives and intangible assets not yet available for use are tested for impairment 
at least annually, and whenever there is an indication that the asset may be impaired.

	 Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs of disposal and value in use. In assessing value in use, the 
estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current 
market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset for which the estimates of future 
cash flows have not been adjusted.

	 If the recoverable amount of an asset (or cash-generating unit) is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the 
carrying amount of the asset (or cash-generating unit) is reduced to its recoverable amount. An impairment loss is 
recognised immediately in profit or loss, unless the relevant asset is carried at a revalued amount, in which case 
the impairment loss is treated as a revaluation decrease.

	 When an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount of the asset (or a cash-generating unit) is 
increased to the revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that the increased carrying amount does not 
exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined had no impairment loss been recognised for the asset 
(or cash-generating unit) in prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss is recognised immediately in profit or loss, 
unless the relevant asset is carried at a revalued amount, in which case the reversal of the impairment loss is treated 
as a revaluation increase.

3.19	 Biological assets

	 Biological assets are measured at fair value less costs to sell, with any gain or loss recognised in profit or loss. Costs 
to sell include all costs that would be necessary to sell the assets including transportation costs.

	
	 The fair value of fish held for sale is based on the market price of fish of similar age, breed and genetic merit.
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3.	 Significant accounting policies (Continued)

3.20	 Inventories

	 Inventories are measured at the lower of cost and net realisable value. The cost of inventories is based on the first-
in-first out principle, and includes expenditure incurred in acquiring the inventories and bringing them to their existing 
location and condition. In the case of manufactured inventories and work in progress, cost includes an appropriate 
share of production overheads based on normal operating capacity. Net realisable value is the estimated selling price 
in the ordinary course of business, less the estimated costs of completion and selling expenses.

	
	 The cost of items transferred from biological assets is their fair value less costs to sell at the date of transfer.

 
3.21	 Provisions

	 Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of a past event, 
it is probable that the Group will be required to settle the obligation, and a reliable estimate can be made of the 
amount of the obligation.

	 The amount recognised as a provision is the best estimate of the consideration required to settle the present obligation 
at the end of the reporting period, taking into account the risks and uncertainties surrounding the obligation. When 
a provision is measured using the cash flows estimated to settle the present obligation, its carrying amount is the 
present value of those cash flows (when the effect of the time value of money is material).

	 When some or all of the economic benefits required to settle a provision are expected to be recovered from a third 
party, a receivable is recognised as an asset if it is virtually certain that reimbursement will be received and the 
amount of the receivable can be measured reliably.

3.21.1	 Onerous contracts

	 Present obligations arising under onerous contracts are recognised and measured as provisions. The 
provision is measured at the present value of the lower of the expected cost of terminating the contract and 
the expected net cost of continuing with the contract. Before a provision is established, the Group recognises 
any impairment loss on the assets associated with the contract.

	 An onerous contract is considered to exist where the Group has a contract under which the unavoidable costs 
of meeting the obligations under the contract exceed the economic benefits expected to be received from the 
contract.

3.21.2	 Restructuring

	 A restructuring provision is recognised when the Group has developed a detailed formal plan for the 
restructuring and has raised a valid expectation in those affected that it will carry out the restructuring by 
starting to implement the plan or announcing its main features to those affected by it. The measurement of 
a restructuring provision includes only the direct expenditures arising from the restructuring, which are those 
amounts that are both necessarily entailed by the restructuring and not associated with the ongoing activities 
of the entity. Future operating losses are not provided for.

3.21.3	 Contingent liabilities acquired in a business combination

	 Contingent liabilities acquired in a business combination are initially measured at fair value at the acquisition 
date.At the end of subsequent reporting periods, such contingent liabilities are measured at the higher of 
the amountthat would be recognised in accordance with IAS 37 and the amount initially recognised less 
cumulative amortisation recognised in accordance with IAS 18 Revenue.

	
3.22	 Discontinued operations

	 A discontinued operation is a component of the Group’s business, the operations and cash flows of which can be 
clearly distinguished from the rest of the Group and which:

•	 represents a separate major line of business or geographical area of operations;
•	 is a part of a single co-ordinated plan to dispose of a separate major line of business or geographic area 

of operations; or
•	 Is a subsidiary acquired exclusively with a view to resale.

	 Classification as a discontinued operation occurs at the earlier of disposal or when the operation meets the criteria 
to be classified as held for sale.  
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3.	 Significant accounting policies (Continued)

3.22	 Discontinued operations (Continued) 

	 When an operation is classified as a discontinued operation, the comparative statement of comprehensive income 
is represented as if the operations had been discontinued from the start of the comparative year.

3.23	 Share capital and dividends

i)	 Ordinary shares
	
	 Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of ordinary shares are recognised as a deduction from 

equity. Income tax relating to transaction costs of an equity transaction is accounted for in accordance with 
IAS 12 – Income taxes.

ii)	 Dividends on ordinary shares 
	
	 Dividends on ordinary shares are recognised in equity in the period in which they are approved by the 

directors.
	
iii)	 Dividend per share
	
	 The calculation of dividend per share is based on the ordinary dividends recognised during the period 

divided by the number of ordinary shareholders on the register of shareholders on the date of payment.

iv)	 Earnings per share
	
	 The calculation of basic earnings per share is based on the profit or loss attributable to ordinary shareholders 

for the year and the weighted average number of shares in issue throughout the year.  Diluted earnings per 
share is determined by adjusting the profit or loss attributable to ordinary shareholders and the weighted 
average number of ordinary shares outstanding for the effects of all dilutive potential ordinary shares, which 
comprise convertible notes and share options granted to employees. Where new equity shares have been 
issued by way of capitalisation or subdivision, the profit is apportioned over the shares in issue after the 
capitalisation or subdivision and the corresponding figures for all earlier periods are adjusted accordingly.

v)	 Equity instruments
	
	 Equity instruments issued by the Group are recorded at the proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.

3.24	 Financial instruments

	 Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when a group entity becomes a party to the contractual 
provisions of the instruments.

	
	 Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured at fair value. Transaction costs that are directly attributable 

to the acquisition or issue of financial assets and financial liabilities (other than financial assets and financial liabilities 
at fair value through profit or loss) are added to or deducted from the fair value of the financial assets or financial 
liabilities, as appropriate, on initial recognition. Transaction costs directly attributable to the acquisition of financial 
assets or financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss are recognised immediately in profit or loss.

3.25	 Financial assets

	 Financial assets are classified into the following specified categories: financial assets ‘at fair value through profit or 
loss’ (FVTPL), ‘held-to-maturity’ investments, ‘available-for-sale’ (AFS) financial assets and ‘loans and receivables’. 
The classification depends on the nature and purpose of the financial assets and is determined at the time of initial 
recognition. All regular way purchases or sales of financial assets are recognised and derecognised on a trade date 
basis. Regular way purchases or sales are purchases or sales of financial assets that require delivery of assets within 
the time frame established by regulation or convention in the marketplace.

 
3.25.1	 Financial assets at FVTPL

	 Financial assets are classified as at FVTPL when the financial asset is (i) contingent consideration that may be 
paid by an acquirer as part of a business combination to which IFRS 3 applies, (ii) held for trading, or (iii) it is 
designated as at FVTPL.
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3.	 Significant accounting policies (Continued)

3.25	 Financial assets (Continued) 

3.25.1	 Financial assets at FVTPL (Continued)

A financial asset is classified as held for trading if:

•	 it has been acquired principally for the purpose of selling it in the near term; or

•	 on initial recognition it is part of a portfolio of identified financial instruments that the Group manages 
together and has a recent actual pattern of short-term profit-taking; or

•	 It is a derivative that is not designated and effective as a hedging instrument.

	 A financial asset other than a financial asset held for trading or contingent consideration that may be paid by 
an acquirer as part of a business combination may be designated as at FVTPL upon initial recognition if:

•	 such designation eliminates or significantly reduces a measurement or recognition inconsistency that 
would otherwise arise; or

•	 the financial asset forms part of a group of financial assets or financial liabilities or both, which is 
managed and its performance is evaluated on a fair value basis, in accordance with the Group’s 
documented risk management or investment strategy, and information about the grouping is provided 
internally on that basis; or

•	 It forms part of a contract containing one or more embedded derivatives, and IAS 39 permits the entire 
combined contract to be designated as at FVTPL.

	 Financial assets at FVTPL are stated at fair value, with any gains or losses arising on re-measurement rec-
ognised in profit or loss. The net gain or loss recognised in profit or loss incorporates any dividend or interest 
earned on the financial asset and is included in the ‘other gains and losses’ line item. Fair value is determined 
in the manner described in note 6.7.

3.25.2	 Held-to-maturity investments

	 Held-to-maturity investments are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments and 
fixed maturity dates that the Group has the positive intent and ability to hold to maturity. Subsequent to initial 
recognition, held-to-maturity investments are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method 
less any impairment.

3.25.3	 Loans and receivables

	 Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not 
quoted in an active market. Loans and receivables (including trade and other receivables, bank balances and 
cash, and loans and advances) are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method, less 
any impairment.

	 Interest income is recognised by applying the effective interest rate, except for short-term receivables when 
the effect of discounting is immaterial.

3.25.4	Available-for-sale financial assets (AFS financial assets)

	 AFS financial assets are non-derivatives that are either designated as AFS or are not classified as (a) loans 
and receivables, (b) held-to-maturity investments or (c) financial assets at fair value through profit or loss.

	 Listed redeemable notes held by the Group that are traded in an active market are classified as AFS and 
are stated at fair value at the end of each reporting period. The Group also has investments in unlisted 
shares that are not traded in an active market but that are also classified as AFS financial assets and stated 
at fair value at the end of each reporting period in separate financial statements (because the directors 
consider that fair value can be reliably measured). Fair value is determinedin the manner described in note 
6.7. Changes in the carrying amount of AFS monetary financial assets relating to changes in foreign curren-
cy rates (see below), interest income calculated using the effective interest methodand dividends on AFS 
equity investments are recognised in profit or loss. Other changes in the carrying amount of available-for-
sale financial assets are recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated under theheading 
of investments revaluation reserve. When the investment is disposed of or is determined to be impaired, 
the cumulative gain or loss previously accumulated in the investments revaluation reserve is reclassified to 
profit or loss.
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3.	 Significant accounting policies (Continued)

3.25	 Financial assets (Continued)

3.25.4	Available-for-sale financial assets (AFS financial assets) (Continued)

	 Dividends on AFS equity instruments are recognised in profit or loss when the Group’s right to receive the 
dividends is established.

	 The fair value of AFS monetary financial assets denominated in a foreign currency is determined in that 
foreign currency and translated at the spot rate prevailing at the end of the reporting period. The foreign 
exchange gains and losses that are recognised in profit or loss are determined based on the amortised cost 
of the monetary asset. Other foreign exchange gains and losses are recognised in other comprehensive 
income.

	 AFS equity investments that do not have a quoted market price in an active market and whose fair value 
cannot be reliably measured and derivatives that are linked to and must be settled by delivery of such un-
quoted equity investments are measured at cost less any identified impairment losses at the end of each 
reporting period.

3.25.5	 Impairment of financial assets

	 Financial assets, other than those at FVTPL, are assessed for indicators of impairment at the end of each 
reporting period. Financial assets are considered to be impaired when there is objective evidence that, as 
a result of one or more events that occurred after the initial recognition of the financial asset, the estimated 
future cash flows of the investment have been affected.

	 For AFS equity investments, a significant or prolonged decline in the fair value of the security below its cost 
is considered to be objective evidence of impairment.

	 For loans and advances, the Group assess individually significant loans whether objective evidence of 
impairment exists for these loans. If there is objective evidence that an impairment loss has been incurred, 
the amount of loss is calculated as the difference between the loans’ carrying amount and the present value 
of estimated future cash flows. If the Group determines that no objective evidence of impairment exist for 
individually significant loans, it includes the loan in a group of loans with similar credit characteristics and 
collectively assess them for impairment. 

	 In the assessment of individual loans, if a borrower’s account has remained unpaid for over three months 
after attaining sub-standard status and on which collection or repayment in full is highly improbable, provi-
sioning is warranted depending on the estimated recoverable amount of the pledged collateral if any.

	 An account attains a sub-standard status when it has recorded two cumulative monthly instalments arrears 
or for those payable quarterly, biannually or yearly, an instalment has been missed.

	 In determining the collective loss, the Group makes collective evaluation of impairment by using estimated 
default rates based on historical loss experience of each group of financial asset.

	 For certain categories of financial assets, such as trade receivables, assets are assessed for impairment on a 
collective basis even if they were assessed not to be impaired individually. Objective evidence of impairment for 
a portfolio of receivables could include the Group’s past experience of collecting payments, an increase in the 
number of delayed payments in the portfolio past the average credit period of 60 days, as well as observable 
changes in national or local economic conditions that correlate with default on receivables.

For all other financial assets, objective evidence of impairment could include:

•	 significant financial difficulty of the issuer or counterparty; or

•	 breach of contract, such as a default or delinquency in interest or principal payments; or

•	 it becoming probable that the borrower will enter bankruptcy or financial re-organisation; or

•	 The disappearance of an active market for that financial asset because of financial difficulties.
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3.	 Significant accounting policies (Continued)

3.25	 Financial assets (Continued) 

3.25.5	 Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

•	 Observable data indicating that there is a measurable decrease in the estimated future cash flows from 
a group of financial assets since the initial recognition of those assets, although the decrease cannot yet 
be identified with the individual financial assets in the group, including:

 
-	 adverse changes in the payment status of borrowers in the group; and
-	 National or local economic conditions that correlate with defaults on the assets in the group.

	 For financial assets carried at amortised cost, the amount of the impairment loss recognised is the difference 
between the asset’s carrying amount and the present value of estimated future cash flows, discounted at the 
financial asset’s original effective interest rate.

	 For financial assets that are carried at cost, the amount of the impairment loss is measured as the difference 
between the asset’s carrying amount and the present value of the estimated future cash flows discounted at the 
current market rate of return for a similar financial asset. Such impairment loss will not be reversed in subsequent 
periods.

	 The carrying amount of the financial asset is reduced by the impairment loss directly for all financial assets 
withthe exception of trade receivables, where the carrying amount is reduced through the use of an allowance 
account. When a trade receivable is considered uncollectible, it is written off against the allowance account. 
Subsequent recoveries of amounts previously written off are credited against the allowance account. Changes 
in the carrying amount of the allowance account are recognised in profit or loss.

	 When an AFS financial asset is considered to be impaired, cumulative gains or losses previously recognised in 
other comprehensive income are reclassified to profit or loss in the period.

	 For financial assets measured at amortised cost, if, in a subsequent period, the amount of the impairment 
loss decreases and the decrease can be related objectively to an event occurring after the impairment was 
recognised, the previously recognised impairment loss is reversed through profit or loss to the extent that the 
carrying amount of the investment at the date the impairment is reversed does not exceed what the amortised 
cost would have been had the impairment not been recognised.

	 In respect of AFS equity securities, impairment losses previously recognised in profit or loss are not reversed 
through profit or loss. Any increase in fair value subsequent to an impairment loss is recognised in other com-
prehensive income and accumulated under the heading of investments revaluation reserve. In respect of AFS 
debt securities, impairment losses are subsequently reversed through profit or loss if an increase in the fair value 
of the investment can be objectively related to an event occurring after the recognition of the impairment loss.

3.25.6 De-recognition of financial assets

	 The Group derecognises a financial asset when the contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset expire, 
or when it transfers the financial asset and substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of the asset to 
another party. If the Group neither transfers nor retains substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership and 
continues to control the transferred asset, the Group recognises its retained interest in the asset and an associ-
ated liability for amounts it may have to pay. If the Group retains substantially all the risks and rewards of owner-
ship of a transferred financial asset, the Group continues to recognise the financial asset and also recognises a 
collateralised borrowing for the proceeds received.

	 On de-recognition of a financial asset in its entirety, the difference between the asset’s carrying amount 
and the sum of the consideration received and receivable and the cumulative gain or loss that had been 
recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated in equity is recognised in profit or loss.

	 On de-recognition of a financial asset other than in its entirety (e.g. when the Group retains an option to 
repurchase part of a transferred asset), the Group allocates the previous carrying amount of the financial 
asset between the part it continues to recognise under continuing involvement, and the part it no longer 
recognises on the basis of the relative fair values of those parts on the date of the transfer. The difference 
between the carrying amount allocated to the part that is no longer recognised and the sum of the consid-
eration received for the part no longer recognised and any cumulative gain or loss allocated to it that had 
been recognised in other comprehensive income is recognised in profit or loss. A cumulative gain or loss 
that had been recognised in other comprehensive income is allocated between the part that continues to 
be recognised and the part that is no longer recognised on the basis of the relative fair values of those 
parts.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED AND SEPARATE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
For the year ended 31 December 2017    

In millions of Malawi Kwacha



PRESS CORPORATION PLC  |  Annual Report 2017 82

S
tr

at
eg

ic
 R

ep
or

t  
| 

 C
or

po
ra

te
 G

ov
er

na
nc

e 
  

 F
in

an
ci

al
 S

ta
te

m
en

ts
  

  O
n 

th
e 

M
al

aw
i S

to
ck

 E
xc

ha
ng

e

3.	 Significant accounting policies (Continued)

3.26	 Financial liabilities

	 Debt and equity instruments issued by a group entity are classified as either financial liabilities or as equity in 
accordance with the substance of the contractual arrangements and the definitions of a financial liability and an 
equity instrument.

	 Financial liabilities are classified as either financial liabilities ‘at FVTPL’ or ‘other financial liabilities’.

3.26.1	Financial liabilities at FVTPL

Financial liabilities are classified as at FVTPL when the financial liability is: 
(i)	 contingent consideration that may be paid by an acquirer as part of a business combination to which 

IFRS 3 applies, 
(ii)	 held for trading, or 
(iii)	 It is designated as at FVTPL.

A financial liability is classified as held for trading if:

•	 it has been incurred principally for the purpose of repurchasing it in the near term; or
•	 on initial recognition it is part of a portfolio of identified financial instruments that the Group manages 

together and has a recent actual pattern of short-term profit-taking; or
•	 It is a derivative that is not designated and effective as a hedging instrument.

	 Financial liabilities at FVTPL are stated at fair value, with any gains or losses arising on re-measurement 
recognised in profit or loss. The net gain or loss recognised in profit or loss incorporates any interest paid 
on the financial liability and is included in the ‘other gains and losses’ line item. Fair value is determined in 
the manner described in note 6.7.

3.26.2	Other financial liabilities

	 Other financial liabilities (including borrowings and trade and other payables) are subsequently measured 
at amortised cost using the effective interest method.

	 The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised cost of a financial liability and of allo-
cating interest expense over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts 
estimated future cash payments (including all fees and points paid or received that form an integral part of 
the effective interest rate, transaction costs and other premiums or discounts) through the expected life of 
the financial liability, or (where appropriate) a shorter period, to the net carrying amount on initial recogni-
tion.

3.26.3	Financial guarantee contracts

	 A financial guarantee contract is a contract that requires the issuer to make specified payments to re-
imburse the holder for a loss it incurs because a specified debtor fails to make payments when due in 
accordance with the terms of a debt instrument. These contracts have several legal forms such as Letters 
of credit (LCs), Guarantees and performance bonds. 

	 Letters of credit (LCs) relate to standby LCs issued on behalf of selected customers.  By issuing these LCs, 
the Group entity is guaranteeing payment to the third party in the event that the customer defaults on their 
contractual obligations on the transaction.  These are non-cash upfront LCs.

	 Guarantees and performance bonds represent acceptances, guarantees, indemnities and credits which 
will crystallise into an asset and a liability only in the event of default on the part of the relevant counterparty.

	
	 These financial guarantee contract are initially measured at fair value and subsequently at the higher of 

the amount initially recognised less amortisation or the amount determined in accordance with IAS 37 
Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets.

3.26.4	De-recognition of financial liabilities

	 The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and only when, the Group’s obligations are discharged, 
cancelled or have expired. The difference between the carrying amount of the financial liability derecognised 
and the consideration paid and payable is recognised in profit or loss.
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3.	 Significant accounting policies (Continued)  

3.27	 Equity instruments

	 An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual interest in the assets of an entity after deducting all 
of its liabilities. Equity instruments issued by a group entity are recognised at the proceeds received, net of direct 
issue costs.

	 Repurchase of the Company’s own equity instruments is recognised and deducted directly in equity. No gain 
or loss is recognised in profit or loss on the purchase, sale, issue or cancellation of the Company’s own equity 
instruments.

3.28	 Derivative financial instruments

	 The Group enters into a variety of derivative financial instruments to manage its exposure to interest rate and 
foreign exchange rate risks.

	 Derivatives are initially recognised at fair value at the date the derivative contracts are entered into and are 
subsequently remeasured to their fair value at the end of each reporting period. The resulting gain or loss is 
recognised in profit or loss immediately unless the derivative is designated and effective as a hedging instrument, 
in which event the timing of the recognition in profit or loss depends on the nature of the hedge relationship.

	 Certain derivatives embedded in other financial instruments, such as the conversion option in a convertible bond, 
are treated as separate derivatives when their economic characteristics and risks are not closely related to those 
of the host contract and the host contract is not carried at fair value through profit or loss. These embedded 
derivatives are measured at fair value with changes in fair value recognised in the statement of comprehensive 
income. 

 
3.29	 Offsetting financial instruments

	 Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount reported in the statement of financial position when 
there is a legally enforceable right to offset the recognised amounts and there is an intention to settle on a net 
basis, or realise the assets and settle the liability simultaneously.

3.30	 Fiduciary activities

	 The Group commonly acts as trustees and in other fiduciary capacities that result in the holding or placing of 
assets on behalf of individuals, trusts, retirement benefit plans and other institutions. 

	 These assets and income arising thereon are excluded from these financial statements, as they are not assets of 
the Group.

3.31	 Sale and repurchase agreements

	 Securities sold subject to repurchase agreements (‘repos’) are reclassified in the financial statements as pledged 
assets when the transferee has the right by contract or custom to sell or repledge the collateral; the counterparty 
liability is included in amounts due to other banks, deposits from banks, other deposits or deposits due to 
customers, as appropriate. Securities purchased under agreements to resell (‘reverse repos’) are recorded as 
loans and advances to other banks or customers, as appropriate. The difference between sale and repurchase 
price is treated as interest and accrued over the life of the agreements using the effective interest rate method. 
Securities lent to counterparties are also retained in the financial statements.

4	 Critical accounting judgements and key sources of estimation uncertainty

	 In the application of the Group’s accounting policies, which are described in note 3, the directors of the Company are 
required to make judgements, estimates and assumptions about the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities that are 
not readily apparent from other sources. The estimates and associated assumptions are based on historical experience 
and other factors that are considered to be relevant. Actual results may differ from these estimates.

	 The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are 
recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only that period, or in the period of the 
revision and future periods if the revision affects both current and future periods.

4.1	 Critical judgements in applying accounting policies

	 The following are the critical judgements, apart from those involving estimations (see note 4.2 below), that the 
directors have made in the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies and that have the most significant 
effect on the amounts recognised in the consolidated financial statements.
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4	 Critical accounting judgements and key sources of estimation uncertainty (Continued)

4.1	 Critical judgements in applying accounting policies (Continued)

4.1.1	 Control over Telekom Networks Malawi (TNM) 

	 The directors of the Company assessed whether or not the Group has control over TNM based on whether 
the Group has the practical ability to direct the relevant activities of TNM unilaterally.  In making their judge-
ment, the directors considered the Group’s absolute size of holding in TNM of 41.31% (2016: 41.31%) and 
the relative size of and dispersion of the shareholdings owned by the other shareholders.  After assessment, 
the directors concluded that the Group has a sufficiently dominant voting interest to direct the relevant 
activities of TNM Limited and therefore the Group has control over TNM.

4.1.2	 Held-to-maturity financial assets

	 The Group follows the guidance of IAS 39 on classifying non-derivative financial assets with fixed or deter-
minable payments and fixed maturity as held to maturity. This classification requires significant judgment. In 
making this judgment, the Group evaluates its intention and ability to hold such investments to maturity. If 
the Group fails to keep these investments to maturity other than for the specific circumstances- for example, 
selling an insignificant amount close to maturity- it will be required to reclassify the entire class as available 
for sale. Details of assets held for sale are set out in note 23.

4.1.3	 Deferred taxation on investment properties

	 For the purposes of measuring deferred tax liabilities or deferred tax assets arising from investment prop-
erties that are measured using the fair value model, the directors have reviewed the Group’s investment 
property portfolios and concluded that the Group’s investment properties are not held under a business 
model whose objective is to consume substantially all of the economic benefits embodied in the investment 
properties over time, rather than through sale. Therefore, in determining the Group’s deferred taxation 
on investment properties, the directors have determined that the presumption that the carrying amounts 
of investment properties measured using the fair value model are recovered entirely through sale is not 
rebutted. As a result, the Group has recognised any deferred taxes on changes in fair value of investment 
properties as the Group is subject to income taxes on the fair value changes of the investment properties 
on disposal.

4.1.4	 Income taxes

	 Significant judgment is required in determining the provision for income taxes. There are many transactions 
and calculations for which the ultimate tax determination is uncertain. The Group recognizes liabilities for 
anticipated tax audit issues based on estimates of whether additional taxes will be due. Where the final tax 
outcome of these matters is different from the amounts that were initially recorded, such differences will 
impact the current and deferred income tax assets and liabilities in the period in which such determination 
is made.

4.2	 Key sources of estimation uncertainty

	 The following are the key assumptions concerning the future, and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at 
the end of the reporting period that may have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying 
amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year.

4.2.1	 Fair value measurements and valuation processes

	 Some of the Group’s assets and liabilities are measured at fair value for financial reporting purposes. In 
estimating the fair value of an asset or a liability, the Group uses market-observable data (level 1 inputs) 
to the extentit is available. Where Level 1 inputs are not available, the Group engages third party qualified 
valuers to perform the valuation. Management works closely with the qualified external valuers to establish 
the appropriate valuation techniques and inputs into the model. 

	 Information about the valuation techniques and inputs used in determining the fair value of various assets 
and liabilities are disclosed in the notes specific to those assets or liabilities.

		
4.2.2	 Impairment losses on financial assets

	 The Group reviews its financial assets to assess impairment at least on a quarterly basis. The impairment 
evaluation is done both individually and collectively. 
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4.	 Critical accounting judgements and key sources of estimation uncertainty (Continued)

4.2	 Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Continued) 

4.2.2	 Impairment losses on financial assets (Continued)

	 Key assumptions used:

a)	 Cash flows arising from collateral realisation crystallise at an average period of 12 months and arise 
at the end of the 12 months period. Where cash flows are doubtful, they are assumed to be nil.

b)	 Where there is a borrowing agreement but no collateral in place, expected future cash flows are 
assumed to be nil.

c)	 Unsupported guarantees which are not backed by any tangible asset (by companies or individuals 
except bank guarantees) are assumed to result in nil cash flows; and

d)	 No cash flows are assumed to arise where there is no repayment agreement i.e. in instances of 
unsanctioned borrowing for exampleexceeding authorised overdraft limits.

4.2.3	 Residual values and useful lives of tangible assets

	 The estimated residual values and useful lives of property, plant and equipment are reviewed and adjust-
ed, if appropriate, at each reporting date to reflect current thinking on their remaining lives in the light of 
technological change, prospective economic utilisation and physical conditions of the assets concerned 
as described in note 3.15.

4.2.4	 Impairment of goodwill
	
	 In determining whether goodwill is impaired, the Group estimates the value in use of the cash-generating 

unit to which goodwill has been allocated. In calculating the value in use, the Group estimates the future 
cash flows expected to arise from the cash-generating unit and a suitable discount rate in order to calculate 
present value. Where the value in use is less than the carrying amount of the assets and liabilities of the 
cash-generating unit plus its goodwill, an impairment is recognised.

 
5.	 Capital management

	 The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in the Group will be able to continue as going concerns while 
maximising the returns to stakeholders through optimisation of the debt and equity balance. The overall Group strategy 
remains unchanged from 2016.

	 The capital structure of the Group consists of equity of the Group (comprising issued capital, reserves, retained earnings 
and non-controlling interests as detailed in notes 27 and 28).

	
	 The banking business of the Group is subjected to the following capital requirements:

5.1	 Regulatory capital

	 The Reserve Bank of Malawi sets and monitors capital requirements for the Group’s banking business as a whole. 
Regulatory capital requirement is the minimum amount of capital required by the Reserve Bank of Malawi, which 
if not maintained will usually permit or require supervisory intervention. 

	 In implementing current capital requirements, The Reserve Bank of Malawi requires the Group’s banking business 
to maintain a prescribed ratio of total capital to total risk-weighted assets. The minimum capital ratios under the 
implemented Basel II are as follows:  

•	 A core capital (Tier 1) of not less than 10% of total risk-weighted on statement of financial position assets 
plus risk-weighted off-statement of financial position items; and

•	 A total capital (Tier 2) of not less than 15% of its total risk-weighted on statement of financial position assets 
plus risk-weighted off-statement of financial position items.

	 The Group’s banking business regulatory capital is analysed into two tiers as follows:

•	 Core capital (Tier 1) which consists of ordinary share capital, share premium, retained profits, 60% of af-
ter-tax profits in the current year (or less 100% of current year loss), less any unconsolidated investment in 
financial companies.

•	 Total capital (Tier 2), which consists of revaluation reserves and general provisions, when such general 
provisions have received prior approval of the Reserve Bank of Malawi plus tier 1 capital. Supplementary 
capital must not exceed core capital i.e. shall be limited to 100% of total core capital.
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5.	 Capital management (Continued)

5.1	 Regulatory capital (Continued) 

	 Banking operations are categorised as either trading book or banking book and risk-weighted assets are deter-
mined according to specified requirements that seek to reflect the varying levels of risk attached to assets and 
off-statement of financial position exposures.

	 The Board of Directors are responsible for establishing and maintaining at all times an adequate level of capital. 
The Group’s policy is to maintain a strong capital base so as to maintain investor, creditor and market confidence 
and to sustain future development of the business.  The impact of the level of capital on shareholders’ return is 
also recognised and the Group recognises the need to maintain a balance between the higher returns that might 
be possible with greater gearing and the advantages and security afforded by a lower gearing position.

	 The Group and individually regulated operations have complied with all externally imposed capital requirements 
throughout the period. The Group also complied with these requirements in prior years. 

	 The Group’s banking business regulatory capital position at 31 December was as follows:

		  2017	 2016
	
	 Tier 1 capital		
	 Ordinary share capital	 467	 467
	 Share premium	 613	 613
	 Retained earnings                                                                                             	 51,740	 43,612
	 Unconsolidated investments	  (3,459)	  (3,369)
		  49,361	 41,323
	 Tier 2 capital		
	 Supplementary capital		
	 Loan loss reserve	 1,160	 708
	 Deferred tax	 (6,332)	 (6,811)
	 Revaluation reserve                                                                                            	 18,158	 15,459
	 Unconsolidated investments	  (3,459)	  (3,369)
	 Total tier 2 capital(total regulatory capital)	 58,888	 47,310
		
	 Risk-weighted assets		
	 Retail bank, corporate bank and treasury                                                              	 263,452	   254,303
		
	 Capital ratios		
	 Total regulatory capital expressed as a percentage of total risk-weighted assets	 22%	 19%
		
	 Total tier 1 capital expressed as a percentage of risk-weighted assets             	    19%	    16%

6	 Financial instruments

6.1	 Categories of financial instruments

	 The table below sets out the Group’s and Company’s classification of each class of financial assets and liabilities:

	 	 Notes	 Loans and	 Available	 Amortised	 Total	
		  receivables	 for sale	 cost	 carrying 

						      amount
					   
	 Group					   
	 At 31 December 2017					   
	 Financial assets					   
	 Cash and cash equivalents	 26	 75,148	 -	 -	 75,148
	 Trade and other receivables	 23	 26,022	 -	 -	 26,022
	 Other investments	 19	 -	 48	 140,311	 140,359
	 Finance lease receivables	 17	 10,317	 -	 -	 10,317
	 Loans and advances to customers	 16	 120,674	          -	           -	 120,674

			   232,161	 48	 140,311	 372,520

Financial liabilities					   
Bank overdraft	 26	 -	 -	 2,790	 2,790
Loans and borrowings	 29	 -	 -	 55,164	 55,164
Trade and other payables	 32	 -	 -	 42,496	 42,496
Customer deposits 	 34	          -	          -	  275,073	  275,073
		          	  -	          -	  375,523	  375,523
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6	 Financial instruments (Continued)

6.1	 Categories of financial instruments (Continued)

Group (Continued)	 Notes	 Loans and	 Available	 Amortised	 Total
			   receivables 	 for sale	 cost  	 carrying 
						      amount

At 31 December 2016 - Restated					   
Financial assets					   
Cash and cash equivalents	 26	 58,179	 -	 -	 58,179
Trade and other receivables	 23	 24,187	 -	 -	 24,196
Other investments	 19	 -	 1,100	 88,096	 89,196
Finance lease receivables	 17	 9,376	 -	 -	 9,376
Loans and advances to customers	 16	   122,043	          -	            -	  122,043
		    	 213,785	   1,100	  88,096	  302,981

Financial liabilities					   
Bank overdraft	 26	 -	 -	 7,848	 7,848
Loans and borrowings	 29	 -	 -	 36,896	 36,896
Trade and other payables	 31	 -	 -	 44,174	 44,174
Customer deposits 	 34	          -	          -	  229,433	  229,433
		         	   -	          -	  318,351	  318,351

Company					   
At 31 December 2017					   
Financial assets					   
Cash and cash equivalents	 26	 6,751	 -	 -	 6,751
Trade and other receivables – Group	 22	 4,500	 -	 -	 4,500
Trade and other receivables	 23	 559	 -	 -	 559
Other investments	 19	 -	 -	 1,246	 1,246
Investments in associates	 15	 -	 54,608	 -	 54,608
Investments in joint ventures	 14	 -	 20,618	 -	 20,618
Investments in subsidiaries	 13	            -	  171,429	          -	  171,429
			   11,810	  246,655	 1,246	 259,711

Financial liabilities					   
Bank overdraft	 26	 -	 -	 213	 213
Loans and borrowings	 29	 -	 -	 1,104	 1,104
Trade and other payables	 32	 -	 -	 423	 423
Trade and other payables to Group companies	 33	         -	         -	       42	       42
		          	 -	         -	  1,782	  1,782

At 31 December 2016					   
Financial assets					   
Cash and cash equivalents	 26	 104	 -	 -	 104
Trade and other receivables – Group	 22	 1,845	 -	 -	 1,845
Trade and other receivables	 23	 131	 -	 -	 131
Investments in associates	 15	 -	 74,851	 -	 74,851
Investments in joint ventures	 14	 -	 18,701	 -	 18,701
Investments in subsidiaries	 13	          -	  138,618	          -	   138,618
		   	 2,080	  232,170	         -	  234,250

Financial liabilities					   
Bank overdraft	 26	 -	 -	 2,078	 2,078
Loans and borrowings	 29	 -	 -	 2,025	 2,025
Trade and other payables	 32	 -	 -	 422	 422
Trade and other payables to Group companies	 33	         -	         -	   4,104	   4,104
		        	   -	         -	  8,629	  8,629
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6	 Financial instruments (Continued)

6.2	 Financial risk management

The Group has exposure to the following risks from its transactions in financial instruments:

•	 Credit risk;
•	 Liquidity risk; and
•	 Market risk (Currency risk, interest rate risk and price risk); 

	
	 This note presents information about the Group’s exposure to each of the above risks, the Group’s objectives, 

policies and processes for identification, measurement, monitoring and controlling risk, and the Group’s 
management of capital.

6.3	 Risk management framework

	 The Group’s approach to risk management is based on a well-established governance process and relies both on 
individual responsibility and collective oversight, supported by comprehensive reporting. This approach balances 
stringent corporate oversight with independent risk management structures within the business units. 

	 The Board of Directors has overall responsibility for the establishment and oversight of the Group’s risk 
management framework. The Board approves the risk appetite and risk tolerance limits appropriate to the Group’s 
strategy and requires that management maintains an appropriate system of internal controls to ensure that these 
risks are managed within the agreed parameters. The Board delegates risk related responsibilities to the Risk 
Committeewhich is responsible for developing and monitoring Group risk management policies. 

	 The Risk Committee is responsible for monitoring compliance with the Group’s risk management policies and 
procedures, and for reviewing the adequacy of the risk management framework in relation to the risks faced by 
the Group. The Risk Committee is assisted in these functions by the Group Risk Department which undertakes 
both regular and ad-hoc reviews of risk management controls, the results of which are reported back to the Risk 
Committee.

	 At management level, there is Risk Department which provides a holistic oversight of the risks affecting the Group 
and the control measures that should be put in place to mitigate the risks and thereby reduce the potential losses. 

	 The Group’s risk management policies are established to identify and analyse the risks faced by the Group, to set 
appropriate risk limits and controls, and to monitor risks and adherence to limits. Risk management policies and 
systems are reviewed regularly to reflect changes in market conditions, products and services offered. The Group 
strives to maintain a disciplined and constructive control environment, in which all employees understand their 
roles and obligations.

6.4	 Credit risk 

	 Credit risk refers to the risk that a counterparty will default on its contractual obligations resulting in financial 
loss to the Group. Group’s credit risk arises principally from the Group’s receivables from customers, cash and 
cash equivalents, investment securities and loans and advances. The amounts presented in the statement of 
financial position are net of provisions for impairment.  The specific provision represents allowances for estimated 
irrecoverable amounts when there is objective evidence that the asset is impaired.

6.4.1	 Exposure of credit risk

	 The table below shows the maximum exposure to credit risk by class of financial instrument without 
taking into account any collateral or other credit enhancements. Financial instruments include financial 
instruments defined and recognized under IAS39 Financial instruments: recognition and measurement 
as well as other financial instruments not recognised. The maximum exposure is shown gross, before the 
effect of mitigation through the use of master netting and collateral agreements.
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6.	 Financial instruments (Continued)

6.4	 Credit risk (Continued)

6.4.1	 Exposure of credit risk (Continued)

		                                                                                                                   Group	                            Company
		  2017	 2016	 2017	 2016

Gross maximum exposure				  
Trade and other receivables	 26,022	 24,187	 559	 131
Trade and other receivables – Group companies	 -	 -	 4,500	 1,845
Other investments	 140,359	 89,196	 1,246	 -
Loans and advances to customers	 120,674	 122,043	 -	 -
Finance lease receivables	 10,317	 9,376	 -	 -
Cash and cash equivalents	 75,148	    58,179	 6,751	     104

Total recognised financial instruments	 372,520	 302,981	 13,056	  2,080
				  
Guarantees and performance bonds	 25,495	 16,950	 16,470	 14,700
Letters of credit	 28,808	  16,855	            -	            -

Total unrecognised financial instruments	 54,303	 33,805	 16,470	  14,700
				  
Total credit exposure	 426,823	 336,786	 29,526	  16,780

	
	 In respect of certain financial assets, the Group has legally enforceable rights to offset them with financial 

liabilities. However, in normal circumstances, there would be no intention of settling net, or of realising the 
financial assets and settling the financial liabilities simultaneously. Consequently, the financial assets are 
not offset against the respective financial liabilities for financial reporting purposes. As at the end of the year, 
the Group had financial liabilities in the form of cash deposits amounting to K8,150 million (2016: K3,314 
million) held as security for some loans and advances which in the event of default will be offset against 
such loans and advances.

6.4.2	 Trade and other receivables

	 The Group’s exposure to credit risk is influenced mainly by the individual characteristics of each customer. 
However, geographically there is no concentration of credit risk. 

	 The Group has established a credit policy under which each new customer is analysed individually for 
creditworthiness before the Group’s standard payment and delivery terms and conditions are offered. The 
Group’s review includes external ratings, if they are available, financial statements and in some cases 
bank references. Sales limits are established for each customer, which represents the maximum open 
amount without requiring approval from the credit control department; these limits are reviewed regularly. 
Customers that fail to meet the Group’s benchmark creditworthiness may transact with the Group only on 
a prepayment or cash basis.

	 Most of the Group’s customers have been transacting with the Group for many years, and losses have 
occurred infrequently. In monitoring customer credit risk, customers are grouped according to their credit 
characteristics, including whether they are an individual or legal entity, whether they are a wholesale, retail 
or end-user customer, industry, aging profile, maturity and existence of previous financial difficulties. 

 
		 The average credit period on sales of goods and services is 30 days except for international incoming 

receivables whose credit period is 60 days. No interest is charged on the trade and other receivables 
settled beyond these periods. The Group has provided fully for all receivables over 120 days, except those 
deemed recoverable based on past payments pattern or settlement agreements in place. Trade and other 
receivables between 30 days and 120 days are provided for based on the estimated recoverable amounts 
determined by reference to past default experience and prevailing economic conditions.

	 The Group does not require collateral in respect of credit sales.
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6.	 Financial instruments (Continued)

6.4	 Credit risk (Continued)

6.4.2	 Trade and other receivables (Continued)

	 There is no significant concentration of credit risk, with exposure spread over a number of counter parties 
and customers and they are unrelated.

	 Age of trade receivables that are past due but not impaired

	 Trade and other receivables that are past due at the end of the reporting period for which the Group has 
not recognised an allowance for doubtful debts because there has not been a significant change in credit 
quality and the amounts are still considered recoverable.

	
		                                                                                                                                      Group

		  2017	 2016
		
30-120 days 	 2,056	 1,836
Over 120 days 	 5,442	   2,709
		  7,498	  4,545
		
Movement in the allowance for doubtful debts

	 The Group establishes an allowance for doubtful debts that represents its estimate of incurred losses 
in respect of trade and other receivables. The main components of this allowance are a specific loss 
component that relates to individually significant exposures.

	 The movement in the allowance for doubtful debts in respect of trade and other receivables during the year 
was as follows:

		
	 Group
		  2017	 2016
		
 	  Balance at beginning of the year 	 897	 814
	 Impairment (reversal)/charge recognised in the year	 1,128	 98
	 Provision previously recognised in statement of comprehensive income written off 	 -	        (15)
	 Balance at end of the year	 2,025	        897

6.4.3	 Cash and cash equivalents

	 The Group held cash and cash equivalents comprising of cash and bank balances net of bank overdrafts 
amounting to K72,358 million as at 31 December 2017(2016: K50,331 million). The cash and cash 
equivalents are held with bank and financial institution counterparties which have high credit ratings.

	 The Group’s banking business deposits its cash with the Reserve Bank of Malawi and other highly reputable 
banks in and outside Malawi.

	
6.4.4	 Investments

	 The Group limits its exposure to credit risk by only investing in liquid securities and only with counterparties 
that have a good credit rating and ventures into profitable businesses. Given these high credit ratings and 
a track record of profitable business management, the Group does not expect any counterparty to fail to 
meet its obligations.

6.4.5	 Loans and advances

	 Loans and advances are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not 
quoted in an active market and that the Group’s banking business does not intend to sell immediately or in 
the near term.

	 When the Group’s banking business is the lessor in a lease agreement that transfers substantially all of the 
risks and rewards incidental to ownership of an asset to the lessee, the arrangement is presented within 
loans and advances.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED AND SEPARATE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
For the year ended 31 December 2017                                                 
In millions of Malawi Kwacha



Annual Report 2017   | PRESS CORPORATION PLC 91

S
tr

at
eg

ic
 R

ep
or

t  
| 

 C
or

po
ra

te
 G

ov
er

na
nc

e 
  

 F
in

an
ci

al
 S

ta
te

m
en

ts
  

  O
n 

th
e 

M
al

aw
i S

to
ck

 E
xc

ha
ng

e

6.	 Financial instruments (Continued)

6.4	 Credit risk (Continued)

6.4.5	 Loans and advances (Continued)

	 When the Group’s banking business purchases a financial asset and simultaneously enters into an 
agreement to resell the asset (or a substantially similar asset) at a fixed price on a future date (“reverse 
repo”), the arrangement is accounted for as a loan or advance, and the underlying asset is not recognised 
in the Group’s financial statements.

	 Maximum exposure to credit risk for Loans and advances by sector

	 The Group monitors loans and advances concentration of credit risk by sector.  An analysis of concentrations 
of credit risk at the reporting date is shown below:

		  2017	 %	 2016	 %
					   
	 Wholesale and retail	 48,632	 38	 34,559	 28
	 Other	 9,429	 7	 9,831	 8
	 Personal	 17,670	 14	 18,967	 15
	 Agriculture 	 22,200	 18	 28,210	 23
	 Manufacturing	 26,113	 21	 30,493	 25
	 Finance and insurance	 2,585	        2	      1,007	        1

		  126,629	    100	 123,067	    100

	 Credit quality analysis of loans and advances

	 The credit quality of loans and advances is managed by the Group using its internal credit rating. The table 
below shows the credit quality of the loans and advances, based on the Group’s credit rating system.

		                                                                                                                                                   Group		
	 2017	 2016

	 Individually impaired		
	 Grade 9: Impaired	 8,041	 1,416
	 Allowance for impairment	  (4,828)	    (338)
	 Carrying amount	    3,213	   1,078
		
	 Past due but not impaired		
	 Grade 8: sub-standard	 3,372	 3,201
	 Grade 7: Watch list	  14,573	    25,028
	 Carrying amount	  17,945	    28,229
		
	 Neither past due nor impaired		
	 Grade 1-3 Low risk	 6,066	 7,310
	 Grade 4-6 Fair risk	    94,577	   86,111
	 Carrying amount	  100,643	   93,421
	 Collective impairment	   (1,127)	     (685)
	 Total carrying amount	  120,674	  122,043

	 Impaired loans and advances

	 Impaired loans and advances are loans and advances for which the Group determines that it is probable 
that it will be unable to collect all principal and interest due according to the contractual terms of the loan /
advances agreement(s).  These loans are graded 9 in the Group’s internal credit risk grading system.

	 Past due but not impaired loans

	 These are loans and advances where contractual interest or principal payments are past due but the Group 
believes that impairment is not appropriate on the basis of the level of security/collateral available and/or the 
stage of collection of amounts owed to the Group. These are graded 7 and 8 in the Group’s internal credit 
risk grading system.

	 Neither past due nor impaired loans

	 These are performing loans that have no indication of impairment and the Group expects to fully recover the 
estimated future cash flows.These are graded 1 to 6 in the Group’s internal credit risk grading system. 
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6.	 Financial instruments (Continued)

6.4	 Credit risk (Continued)

6.4.5	 Loans and advances (Continued)

	 Credit quality analysis of loans and advances (Continued)

	 In ensuring this, the Group puts in place the following credit quality measures;
(ii)	 For corporate and business accounts with overdraft facilities, the Group ensures that it receives 

customer initiated deposits at least once every fortnight that will swing the account into a credit 
balance or at least decrease in exposure to below 50% of the marked limit at least once a month. For 
personal accounts, there should be such a deposit or salary at least once a month. 

(iii)	 For unauthorised overdrawn accounts with no limit or in excess of marked limits the Group ensures 
that the situation is regularised within a month (30 days). 

(iv)	 For loans, repayable monthly, quarterly, biannually or yearly, the Group expect the amount due to be 
settled on the agreed date and that any arrears are cleared before the expiry of 30 days. 

(v)	 Where the exposure emanates from seasonal facilities, full repayment is expected to be made 1 month 
(30 days) after end of the selling period or expiry date just as is the case where bullet or balloon 
arrangements are in place . 

	 Allowance for impairment

	 The Group establishes an allowance for impairment losses that represents its estimate of incurred losses in its 
loan portfolio. The components of this allowance are a specific loss component that relates to individual significant 
exposures and collective allowance based on sector performance. 

					   
	 Write-off policy

	 The Group writes off a loan balance (and any related allowances for impairment losses) when it is determined that 
the loans are uncollectible. This determination is reached after considering information such as the occurrence of 
significant changes in the borrower/issuer’s financial position such that the borrower/issuer can no longer pay the 
obligation, or that proceeds from collateral will not be sufficient to pay back the entire exposure. 

	 Collateral held as security against loans and advances

	 The Group holds collateral against loans and advances to customers in the form of mortgage interests over property, 
cash, equities, registered securities over assets, guarantees and other forms of collateral.  Estimates of fair value are 
based on the value of collateral assessed at the time of borrowing, and generally are only updated when performing 
the annual review except when a loan is individually assessed as impaired.  Collateral generally is not held over loans 
and advances to banks, except when securities are held as part of reverse repurchase and securities lending activity.  

	 An estimate of the fair value of collateral and other security enhancements held against financial assets is shown below: 

	 Group                                           	 2017	 2016
		
	 Against individually impaired		
	 Motor vehicles	 133	 232
	 Commercial property	 1,594	 283
	 Residential property	 474	     176
	 Total	 2,201	     691
		
	 Against the rest of the loan book		
	 Motor vehicles	 15,203	 14,451     
	 Commercial property	 12,673	 11,217
	 Residential property	 50,978	 35,864
	 Cash 	 8,150	 3,314
	 Equities	 1,514	 11,218
	 Treasury bill	 25	 25
	 Mortgages over farmland 	 9,207	 5,504
	 Debentures 	 24,330	 22,181
	 Bank guarantees	  1,036	   1,036
	 Total	 123,116	 104,810

	 Grand total	 125,317	 105,501
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6.	 Financial instruments (Continued)

6.4	 Credit risk (Continued)

6.4.5	 Loans and advances (Continued)

	 Collateral repossessed

	 It is the Group’s policy to dispose of repossessed collateral in an orderly fashion. The proceeds are used 
to reduce or repay the outstanding loan balance. In general the Group does not occupy repossessed 
properties for its business.

 
6.5	 Liquidity risk

	 Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group will encounter difficulty in meeting the obligations associated with its financial 
liabilities that are settled by delivering cash or another financial asset. 

6.5.1	 Management of liquidity risk

	 The Group’s approach to managing liquidity is to ensure, as far as possible, that it will always have sufficient 
liquidity to meet its liabilities when they are due, under both normal and stressed conditions, without incurring 
unacceptable losses or risking damage to the Group’s reputation.

	 Ultimate responsibility for liquidity risk management rests with the board of directors which has built an 
appropriate liquidity risk management framework for the management of the Group’s short, medium and 
long-term funding and liquidity requirements. The responsibility for the day to day management of these risks 
lies with management.

	 The Group manages liquidity risk by maintaining adequate reserves and banking facilities, by continuously 
monitoring forecast and actual cash flows, by matching the maturity profiles of financial assets and liabilities.

	 The Group’s banking business has a Liquidity and Funds Management Policy that provides guidance in the 
management of liquidity.

	 The daily management of liquidity of the Group’s banking business is entrusted with the Treasury and Financial 
Institutions Division (TFID). TFID receives information from other business units regarding the liquidity profile 
of their financial assets and liabilities and details of other projected cash flows arising from projected future 
business. TFID then maintains a portfolio of short-term liquid assets, largely made up of short-term liquid 
investment securities, loans and advances to banks and other inter-bank facilities, to ensure that sufficient 
liquidity is maintained within the Group’s banking business.  The liquidity requirements of business units are 
funded through deposits from customers. Any short-term fluctuations are funded through treasury activities 
such as inter-bank facilities, repurchase agreements and others.TFID monitors compliance of all operating 
units of the Group’s banking business with local regulatory limits on a daily basis.

	 The daily liquidity position is monitored and regular liquidity stress testing is conducted under a variety of 
scenarios covering both normal and more severe market conditions.  All liquidity policies and procedures 
are subject to review and approval by Asset and Liability Committee (ALCO).  Daily reports cover the liquidity 
position of both the Group and operating units.  A summary report, including any exceptions and remedial 
action taken, is submitted regularly to ALCO.

6.5.2	 Measurement of liquidity risk – Group’s banking business

	 The key measure used by the Group’s banking business for managing liquidity risk is the ratio of net liquid 
assets to deposits from customers.  For this purpose net liquid assets are considered as including cash and 
cash equivalents and investment securities for which there is an active and liquid market less any deposits 
from banks, other borrowings and commitments maturing within the next month.  A similar, but not identical, 
calculation is used to measure the Group’s banking business compliance with the liquidity limit established 
by the Reserve Bank of Malawi.  Details of the reported Group’s banking business ratio of net liquid assets to 
deposits from customers at the year-end date and during the reporting period were as follows:
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6.	 Financial instruments (Continued)

6.5	 Liquidity risk (Continued)

6.5.2	 Measurement of liquidity risk – Group’s banking business	 (Continued)

		  2017	 2016
		
At 31 December	 65%	       54%
		
Average for the period	 60%	 51%
		
Maximum for the period	 67%	 54%
		
Minimum for the period	 55%	       47%

 

6.5.3	 Liquidity risk table

	 The following table details the Group’s remaining contractual maturity for its non-derivative financial liabilities 
with agreed repayment periods. The table has been drawn up based on the undiscounted cash flows of 
financial liabilities based on the earliest date on which the Group can be required to pay. The table includes 
both interest and principal cash flows but excludes the impact of netting agreements:-

Group	
		  Less than	 1-3	 3-12	 2-5	 Over	 Total	 Carrying
		  1 month	 months	 months	 years	 5 years		  amount
							     
At 31 December 2017							     
Bank overdraft	 2,843	 -	 -	 -	 -	 2,843	 2,790
Loans and borrowings	 12,456	 608	 4,582	 64,637	 -	 82,283	 55,164
Customer deposits	 237,334	 36,316	 1,590	 -	 -	 275,240	 275,073
Trade and other payables	    15,785	    7,702	  19,009	            -	         -	    42,496	    42,496

Total financial liabilities	 268,418	  44,626	  25,181	  64,637	         -	 402,862	  394,652
							     
At 31 December 2016							     
Bank overdraft	 7,904	 -	 -	 -	 -	 7,904	 7,848
Loans and borrowings	 6,974	 2,807	 12,239	 32,396	 240	 54,656	 36,896
Customer deposits	 201,343	 26,963	 3,648	 -	 -	 231,954	 229,433
Trade and other payables	 11,685	  19,655	  12,834	           -	         -	 44,174	 44,174

Total financial liabilities	  227,906	  49,425	  28,721	  32,396	    240	  338,688	 318,351
							     
Company							     
At 31 December 2017							     
Bank overdraft	 213	 -	 -	 -	 -	 213	 213
Loans and borrowings	 305	 -	 742	 225	 -	 1,272	 1,104
Trade and other payables to 
Group companies	 42		  -		  -	 42	 42
Trade and other payables	    423	 -	 -	 -	         -	       423	      423

Total financial liabilities	    983	 -	 742	 225	         -	 1,950	   1,782
							     
At 31 December 2016							     
Bank overdraft	 2,078	 -	 -	 -	 -	 2,078	 2,078
Loans and borrowings	 -	 358	 977	 1,308	 -	 2,643	 2,025
Trade and other payables to 
Group companies	 -	 -	 5,335	 -	 -	 5,335	 4,104
Trade and other payables	 422	        -	           -	          -	         -	       422	      422

Total financial liabilities	   2,500	   358	   6,312	   1,308	         -	  10,478	   8,629
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6.	 Financial instruments (Continued)

6.6	 Market risk

	 Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices, such as foreign exchange rates, interest rates and equity 
and commodity prices will affect the Group’s income or the value of holding financial instruments. The objective 
of market risk management is to manage and control market risk exposures within acceptable parameters, while 
optimising the return on risk.

	 The Group monitors this risk on a continuing basis. There has been no change to the Group’s exposure to market 
risks or the manner in which these risks are managed and measured.

6.6.1	 Currency risk

	 The Group undertakes transactions denominated in foreign currencies consequently, exposure to exchange 
rate fluctuations arise. 

	 The Group is exposed to currency risk mainly on commercial transactions and borrowings that are 
denominated in a currency other than the functional currencies of Group entities, primarily U.S. Dollars 
(USD), Great British Pound (GBP), Euro and South African Rand (ZAR) and in foreign exchange deals in the 
financial services sector. 

	 Management of currency risk

	 To manage foreign currency risk arising from future commercial transactions and recognized assets 
and liabilities, some of the Group’s goods and services pricing is pegged to the United States dollar.
Management monitors the exchange rate exposure on a daily basis.

	 The Group also mitigates currency risk by utilising borrowing facilities from local banks and minimizing 
foreign supplier credit.

	 In respect of other monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies, the Group ensures 
that its net exposure is kept to an acceptable level by buying or selling foreign currencies at spot rates when 
necessary to address short-term imbalances.

	 The Group’s investments in subsidiaries are not hedged as those currency positions are considered to be 
long-term in nature.

	 Currency risk exposure

	 The carrying amounts of the Group’s foreign currency denominated monetary assets and monetary 
liabilities at the end of the reporting period are as follows;

		                                                                                                         Liabilities                    Assets
			   2017	 2016	 2017	 2016
		  Group				  

		  United States Dollars (USD)	 72,344	 72,417	 77,931	 62,247
		  British Pound (GBP)	 1,800	 2,005	 2,707	 2,184
		  EURO	 8,927	 8,640	 9,954	 8,544
		  South African Rand (ZAR)	 2,364	 1,597	 2,309	 781
		  Other currencies	 263	          25	 25	        662
				  
		  Company				  
		  United States Dollars (USD)	 -	 -	 44	 39
		  South African Rand (ZAR)	           -	           -	        1	        1

	

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED AND SEPARATE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
For the year ended 31 December 2017    

In millions of Malawi Kwacha



PRESS CORPORATION PLC  |  Annual Report 2017 96

S
tr

at
eg

ic
 R

ep
or

t  
| 

 C
or

po
ra

te
 G

ov
er

na
nc

e 
  

 F
in

an
ci

al
 S

ta
te

m
en

ts
  

  O
n 

th
e 

M
al

aw
i S

to
ck

 E
xc

ha
ng

e

6.	 Financial instruments (Continued)

6.6	 Market risk (Continued)

6.6.1	 Currency risk (Continued)

	 Foreign currency sensitivity analysis 

	 The following table details the Group’s sensitivity to a 10% increase and decrease in the Malawi Kwacha 
against the relevant foreign currencies. The sensitivity analysis includes only outstanding foreign currency 
denominated monetary items and adjusts their translation at the period end for a 10% change in foreign 
currency rates. A positive number below indicates an increase in profit before tax where the Malawi Kwacha 
strengthens 10% against the relevant currency. For a 10% weakening of the Malawi Kwacha against the 
relevant currency, there would be a comparable impact on the profit before tax, and the balances below 
would be negative.

			                                                                                                                  Group	             Company
			  2017	 2016	 2017	 2016
				 
	 United States Dollars (USD)	 559	 (1,017)	 4	 4
	 British Pound (GBP)	 91	 18	 -	 -
	 EURO	 103	 (10)	 -	 -
	 South African Rand (ZAR)	      (6)	      (82)	             -	             -

6.6.2	 Interest rate risk

	 The Group is exposed to interest rate risk because entities in the Group borrow funds at floating interest 
rates. 

	 Management of interest rate risk

	 The risk is managed by the Group by maintaining an appropriate mix betweenfixed and floating interest 
rates on borrowings.

	 The Group’s banking business principal risk to which non-trading portfolio are exposed is the risk of loss 
from fluctuations in the future cash flows or fair values of financial instruments because of a change in 
market interest rates.  Interest rate risk is managed principally through monitoring interest rate gaps and by 
having pre-approved limits for repricing bands.  The Asset and Liability Committee is the monitoring body 
for compliance with these limits and is assisted by Treasury and Financial Institutions Division in its day-to-
day monitoring activities.

	 Exposure to interest rate risk on financial assets and financial liabilities

	 The Group does not bear any interest rate risk on off balance sheet items. A summary of the Group’s 
interest sensitivity gap position on non-trading portfolio is as follows:
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6.	 Financial instruments (Continued)

6.6	 Market risk (Continued)

6.6.2	 Interest rate risk (Continued)

Group		 Less	 1-3	 3-12	 Over	 Non	 Total
		  than	 months	 months	 1 year	 -interest
		  1 month				    sensitive	
At 31 December 2017					   
Financial assets						    
Investments in joint ventures and associates	 -	 -	 -	 -	 40,687	 40,687
Other investment	 104,243	 6,638	 -	 -	 29,478	 140,359
Cash and cash equivalents	 43,350	 -	 4,700	 -	 27,098	 75,148
Loans and advances to customers       	 10,338	 10,025	 57,833	 42,478	 -	 120,674
Finance lease receivables	 -	 78	 1,032	 9,207	 -	 10,317
Trade and other receivables	              -	            -	            -	            -	    26,022	    26,022

Total financial assets	 157,931	  16,741	 63,565	  51,685	  123,285	  413,207
						    
Financial liabilities						    
Bank overdraft	 2,790	 -	 -	 -	 -	 2,790
Loans and borrowings	 2,016	 8,341	 360	 44,211	 236	 55,164
Customer deposits	 222,844	 36,278	 1,585	 -	 14,366	 275,073
Trade and other payables	             -	            -	            -	            -	  42,496	 42,496

Total financial liabilities	  227,650	  44,619	    1,945	  44,211	  57,098	  375,523

Interest sensitivity gap	  (69,719)	 (27,878)	 61,620	  7,474	  66,187	   37,684
						    
At 31 December 2016					   
Financial assets						    
Investments in joint ventures and associates	 -	 -	 -	 -	 39,627	 39,627
Other investment	 60,479	 2,873	 -	 -	 25,844	 89,196
Cash and cash equivalents	 30,963	 -	 -	 -	 27,216	 58,179
Loans and advances to customers       	 19,456	 10,955	 48,327	 43,305	 -	 122,043
Finance lease receivables	 -	 -	 9,376	 -	 -	 9,376
Trade and other receivables	              -	            -	            -	            -	    24,187	    24,187

Total financial assets	  110,898	  13,828	  57,703	  43,305	  116,874	  342,608
						    
Financial liabilities						    
Bank overdraft	 7,848	 -	 -	 -	 -	 7,848
Loans and borrowings	 6,831	 1,246	 6,761	 21,822	 236	 36,896
Customer deposits	 194,247	 26,630	 3,309	 -	 5,247	 229,433
Trade and other payables	             -	            -	            -	            -	  44,174	    44,174

Total financial liabilities	  208,926	  27,876	  10,070	  21,822	  49,657	  318,351

Interest sensitivity gap	  (98,028)	 (14,048)	  47,633	  21,483	  67,217	   24,257
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6.	 Financial instruments (Continued)

6.6	 Market risk (Continued)

6.6.2	 Interest rate risk (Continued)

Company	 Less	 1-3	 3-12	 Over	 Non	 Total
		  than	 months	 months	 1 year	 -interest
		  1 month				    sensitive	
At 31 December 2017					   
Financial assets						    
Investments in subsidiaries joint ventures 
and associates	 -	 -	 -	 -	 246,655	 246,655
Cash and cash equivalents	 -	 48	 6,703	 -	 -	 6,751
Trade and other receivables – Group companies	 -	 -	 2,091	 -	 2,409	 4,500
Other investments	 -	 -	 1,246	 -	 -	 1,246
Trade and other receivables	           -	         -	          -	        -	         559	         559

Total financial assets	           -	      48	 10,040	       -	  249,623	 259,711
						    
Financial liabilities						    
Bank overdraft	 213	 -	 -	 -	 -	 213
Loans and borrowings	 249	 -	 641	 214	 -	 1,104
Trade and other payables to Group companies	 -	 -	 -	 -	 42	 42
Trade and other payables	         -	        -	        -	         -	   423	      423

Total financial liabilities	    462	       -	   641	    214	   465	   1,782

Interest sensitivity gap	   (462)	    48	 9,399	  (214)	  249,158	 257,929
						    
At 31 December 2016						    
Financial assets						    
Investments in subsidiaries joint ventures 
and associates	 -	 -	 -	 -	 232,170	 232,170
Cash and cash equivalents	 -	 104	 -	 -	 -	 104
Trade and other receivables – Group companies	 -	 -	 276	 -	 1,569	 1,845
Trade and other receivables	           -	         -	          -	        -	         131	         131

Total financial assets	           -	    104	  276	       -	  233,870	  234,250
						    
Financial liabilities						    
Bank overdraft	 2,078	 -	 -	 -	 -	 2,078
Loans and borrowings	 -	 313	 642	 1,070	 -	 2,025
Trade and other payables to Group companies	 -	 -	 4,063	 -	 41	 4,104
Trade and other payables	           -	        -	          -	          -	   422	      422

Total financial liabilities	   2,078	   313	  4,705	  1,070	   463	   8,629

Interest sensitivity gap	  (2,078)	  (209)	  (4,429)	  (1,070)	  233,407	  225,621

	 Interest rate sensitivity analysis

	 The sensitivity analyses below have been determined based on the exposure to interest rates on the finan-
cial assets and liabilities at the reporting date. The interest rate sensitivity is also calculated based on a 5% 
movement on the carrying amounts.  If the interest rates had gone up or down by 5% the Group’s profit for 
the year ended 31 December 2017 would decrease/increase by K1.8 billion (2016: K1.2 billion).

6.6.3	 Other market price risk

	 The Group is exposed to equity price risks arising from equity investments listed on the Malawi Stock 
Exchange. The Group’s equity investments are held for strategic rather than trading purposes. The Group 
does not actively trade these investments. 
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6.	 Financial instruments (Continued)

6.6	 Market risk (Continued)

6.6.3	 Other market price risk  (Continued)

	 Exposure to equity price risk 

	 As at 31 December 2017, the Company had the following financial assets that exposed it to equity price 
risk.

	 Financial asset	 2017	 2016
		
	 Investment in National Bank of Malawi	 64,924	 60,110
	 Investment in Telekom Networks Malawi Limited	    60,141	  26,960

	  	 125,065	  87,070

	 Equity price sensitivity analysis

	 The sensitivity analyses below have been determined based on the exposure to equity price risks at the end 
of the reporting period.

	 At 31 December 2017, if the equity price had weakened/strengthened by 5% with all other variables held 
constant, the Company’s other comprehensive income for the year would have been higher/lower as 
follows: 

		  Financial asset	 2017	 2016
				  
		  Investment in National Bank of Malawi	 3,246	 3,006
		  Investment in Telekom Networks Malawi Limited	   3,007	   1,348
			   6,253	 4,354

	 The analysis is performed on the same basis for 2017 and 2016 and assumes that all other variables 
remain the same.  

 
6.7	 Fair values measurements

	 This note provides information about how the Group determines fair values of various financial assets and financial 
liabilities

6.7.1	 Fair value hierarchy 

	 The table below shows an analysisof financial instruments carried that are measured subsequent to 
initial recognition at fair value, grouped into Levels 1 to 3 based on the degree to which the fair value is 
observable. The different levels have been defined as follows: 

•	 Level 1: inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities that 
the entity can access at the measurement date; 

•	 Level 2: inputs are inputs, other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable for 
the asset or liability, either directly (i.e., as prices) or indirectly (i.e., derived from prices) ; and 

•	 Level 3: inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data (unobservable 
inputs).
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6.	 Financial instruments (Continued)

6.7	 Fair values measurements (Continued)

6.7.1	 Fair value hierarchy (Continued)

	 Group	 Notes	 Level 1	 Level 2	 Level 3         	 Total 
	 				  
	 At 31 December 2017					   
	 Government promissory notes	 19	              -	 48	              -	 48
					   
	 At 31 December 2016					   
	 Government promissory notes	 19	              -	 1,100	            -	 1,100

	 Company					   
	 At 31 December 2017					   
	 Investments in associates	 15	 -	 -	 54,608	 54,608
	 Investments in joint ventures	 14	 -	 -	 20,618	 20,618
	 Investments in subsidiaries	 13	 125,065	            -	 46,364	 171,429
			   125,065	            - 	 121,590	 246,655
	
	 At 31 December 2016					   
	 Investments in associates	 15	 -	 -	 74,851	 74,851
	 Investments in joint ventures	 14	 -	 -	 18,701	 18,701
	 Investments in subsidiaries	 13	   87,070	            -	    51,548	  138,618 
			      87,070	            - 	  145,100	  232,170

6.7.2	 Fair value of the Company’s financial assets and financial liabilities that are measured at fair value on a 
recurring basis

	 Some of the Group’s financial assets and liabilities are measured at fair value at the end of each reporting 
period. The following table gives information about how the fair values of these financial assets and financial 
liabilities are determined (in particular, the valuation technique(s) and inputs used).

	 Group                             Fair value as at		 Fair value	 Valuation technique(s)	
	 Financial			   hierarchy	 and key input(s)	  
	 asset	 2017	 2016

	 Government 	 48	 1,100	 Level 2	 Discounted cash flows
	 promissory 				    using applicable interest
	 notes				    rates and agreed 
					     repayment plan
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6	 Financial instruments (Continued)

6.7	 Fair values measurements (Continued)

6.7.2	 Fair value of the Company’s financial assets and financial liabilities that are measured at fair value on a 
recurring basis (Continued)

Company

Asset Fair value 
as at 2017

Fair value 
as at 2016

Fair value 
hierarchy

Valuation 
technique(s) 

and key 
input(s)

Significant 
unobservable 

input(s)

Relationship of 
unobservable 
inputs to fair 

value

Investment 
in National 
Bank of 
Malawi Plc 
and Telekom 
Networks 
Malawi 
Limited	

125,065 87,070 Level 1 Stock market 
share prices.

N/A N/A

Investment in 
Limbe Leaf 
Tobacco 
Company, 
Macsteel 
(Malawi) 
Limited, 
Castel 
Malawi 
Limited, 
Puma Malawi 
Limited, 
Presscane 
Limited, 
Ethanol 
Company 
Limited, 
Open 
Connect 
Limited, 
Press 
Properties 
Limited and 
Peoples 
Trading 
Centre 
Limited

116,559 138,517 Level 3 Price multiples 
method: The 
method uses 
weighted 
average value 
of various 
relevant valuation 
methods. 
Methods used 
include Net 
Asset valuation 
method, Price to 
Sales Relative 
valuation 
method, Price 
to Book Value 
Relative valuation 
method, Price to 
Earnings (P/E) 
Relative valuation 
method, EV/
EBITDA Relative 
valuation 
method, 
Economic Profit 
valuation method 
and Discounted 
Free Cash Flow 
valuation method

•	 Long term 
revenue growth 
rates, taking 
into account 
management’s 
experience 
and knowledge 
of the market 
conditions of 
the specific 
industries, 
ranging from 
10% to 26%.

•	 Accounting 
policies, 
judgements and 
assumptions for 
recognition and 
measurement 
of asset and 
liabilities.

•	 Weighted 
average cost of 
capital ranging 
from 19% to 
26% determined 
using a capital 
asset pricing 
model.

•	 Price earnings 
ratio ranging 
from 8 to 16. 

•	 Market price 
to sales ratio 
ranging from 
0.61 to 1.65.

The higher the 
revenue growth 
rate and pre-tax 
operating margin 
the higher the fair 
value.

The more 
favourable the 
accounting 
policies used 
in a particular 
economic 
environment, the 
higher the fair 
value.

The higher the 
weighted average 
cost of capital 
and the discount 
rate the lower the 
fair value.

The higher the 
discount applied 
on the multiple 
the lower the fair 
value.
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6	 Financial instruments (Continued)

6.7	 Fair values measurements (Continued)

6.7.2	 Fair value of the Company’s financial assets and financial liabilities that are measured at fair value on a 
recurring basis (Continued)

Company

Asset Fair value 
as at 2017

Fair value 
as at 2016

Fair value 
hierarchy

Valuation 
technique(s) 

and key 
input(s)

Significant 
unobservable 

input(s)

Relationship of 
unobservable 
inputs to fair 

value

Investment 
in The Foods 
Company 
Limited

1,083 1,049 Level 3 Price to sales 
method: The 
approach 
compares a 
company’s 
stock price to 
its projected 
sales. The ratio 
is calculated 
by dividing the 
company’s 
stock price per 
share by sales 
per share for 
a 12 month 
period. Industry 
comparable 
multiple was 
used. The 
multiple was 
discounted 
to reflect the 
differences 
between the 
comparable and 
the company 
being valued.

•	 A discount of 
50% was applied 
to the multiple 
average of the 
comparable 
industry 
companies.

•	 Projected sales 
were used which 
are determined 
using accounting 
policies, 
judgements and 
assumptions.

The higher the 
sales the higher 
the fair value.

The higher the 
discount applied 
on the multiplethe 
lower the fair 
value

Investment in 
Malawi Tele-
communica-
tions Limited, 
Manzinzi 
Bay Limited 
and Malawi 
Pharmacies 
Limited.

3,948 5,536 Level 3  Net asset val-
ues:The method 
measure the 
equity holders’ 
claim on the 
residual assets 
after paying off 
the company’s 
liabilities.

Accounting policies, 
judgements and 
assumptions for 
recognition and 
measurement of asset 
and liabilities

The more fa-
vourable the ac-
counting policies 
used in a partic-
ular economic 
environment, the 
higher the fair 
value.
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6	 Financial instruments (Continued)

6.7	 Fair values measurements (Continued)

6.7.3	 Fair value hierarchy of financial assets and financial liabilities that are not measured at fair value on a recur-
ring basis (but fair value disclosures are required)

	 Except as detailed in the following table, the directors consider that the carrying amounts of financial assets 
and financial liabilities recognised in the consolidated financial statements to approximate their fair values.

				                     2017	                       2016
Group		 Notes	 Carrying	 Fair	 Carrying	 Fair 	

		  amount 	 Value	 amount	 Value
					   
Financial assets					   
Other investments	 19	 140,359	 140,567	 89,196	 89,462
Finance lease receivables	 17	 10,317	 11,414	 9,376	 10,206
Loans and advances to customers	 16	 120,674	 132,331	   122,043	  127,506
			   271,350	 284,312	   220,615	  227,174
Financial liabilities					   
Loans and borrowings	 29	 55,164	 63,079	   36,896	  39,650
			   55,164	 63,079	   36,896	  39,650
Company					   

Financial liabilities					   
Loans and borrowings	 29	 1,104	 1,115	   2,025	    2,087
		
			   1,104	 1,115	 2,025	  2,087

7	 Operating segments

	 An operating segment is a component of the Group that engages in business activities from which it may earn revenues 
and incur expenses, including revenues and expenses that relate to transactions with any of the Group’s other compo-
nents. All operating segments’ operating results are reviewed regularly by the Group’s Chief Executive Officer (“CEO”) 
to make decisions about resources to be allocated to the segment and assess its performance, and for which discrete 
financial information is available.

	 Segment results that are reported to the CEO include items directly attributable to a segment as well as those that can be 
allocated on a reasonable basis. Unallocated items comprise mainly corporate assets (primarily the Company’s head-
quarters), head office expenses, and income tax assets and liabilities.

	 Segment capital expenditure is the total cost incurred during the year to acquire property, plant and equipment, invest-
ment property and intangible assets other than goodwill.

7.1	 Basis for segmentation

	 The Group has five reportable segments which are based on the type of business among its subsidiary, associat-
ed companies and joint ventures. These segments are: Financial Services, Telecommunication, Energy, Consumer 
Goods, and All Other Reportable Segments. The segments offer different products and services, and are man-
aged separately because they require different technology and marketing strategies. 

	 The following summary describes the operations in each of the Group’s reportable segments:

Reportable segments Operations

Financial Services segment Provides retail, corporate and investment banking as well as stockbroking, 
insurance and pension administration services.  

Telecommunications segment Provides a wide range of Information and Communications Technology (ICT) 
based products and services

Energy segment Ethanol manufacturers

Consumer Goods segment Supermarket chain

All other segments Property investment and development, Holding company, Manufacturer and 
distributor of food products.
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7	 Operating segments (Continued)

7.2	 Geographical segment presentation

	 All operations of the Group are in Malawi and therefore geographical segment presentation has not been made.

7.3	 Information about major customers

	 The Group revenues are earned from a range of customers, none of which constitute ten percent or more of the 
total Group’s revenues.	

7.4	 Information about reportable segments

	 Information regarding the results of each reportable segment is set out below. Performance is measured based on 
segment profit after income tax, as included in the internal management reports that are reviewed by the Group’s 
CEO. Segment profit is used to measure performance as management believes that such information is the most 
relevant in evaluating the results of certain segments relative to other entities that operate within these industries. 

	 Inter-segment pricing is determined on an arm’s length basis. 

	 Segment results, assets and liabilities include items directly attributable to a segment as well as those that can be 
allocated on a reasonable basis. Unallocated items mainly comprise income earning assets and revenue, interest 
bearing loans, borrowings and expenses, and corporate assets and expenses.

	
	 Segment capital expenditure is the total cost incurred during the year to acquire segment assets that are expected 

to be used for more than one year.
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7	 Operating segments (Continued)

7.4	 Information about reportable segments (Continued)

			       Reportable segments	
	
		  Financial	 Tele-	 Energy	 Consumer	 All other 	 Total
		  services	 communi-		  goods	 segments	
			   cations	

2017						    
Revenue 						    
External revenues	 68,163	 85,395	 11,682	 33,003	 2,237	 200,480
Inter-segment revenue	       877	    7,639	           -	        47	     571	      9,134

Segment revenue	 69,040	 93,034	 11,682	 33,050	 2,808	 209,614
						    
Segment operating profit/(loss)	 27,551	 20,632	 200	 (2,207)	 21,359	 67,535
Segment interest income	 -	 48	 1,386	 7	 959	 2,400
Segment interest expense	 -	 (7,215)	 (2)	 (1,163)	 (2,444)	 (10,824)
Segment income tax expense	 (8,403)	 (5,095)	 63	 -	 (1,004)	 (14,439)

Profit for the year	 19,148	 8,370	 1,647	 (3,363)	 18,870	 44,672
						    
Depreciation and amortization	 2,896	 10,507	 454	 463	 401	 14,721
Segment assets	 392,267	 117,300	 21,045	 6,308	 273,717	 810,637
Segment liabilities	 310,054	 84,171	 3,588	 14,208	 56,541	 468,562
Capital additions	 4,984	 19,574	 1,271	 483	 595	 26,907
						    
2016						    
Revenue 						    
External revenues	 62,603	 74,548	 15,196	 34,017	 2,493	 188,857
Inter-segment revenue	       975	    5,697	           -	         52	   5,431	    12,155

Segment revenue	 63,578	 80,245	 15,196	 34,069	 7,924	 201,012
						    
Segment operating profit/(loss)	 25,177	 22,811	 3,038	 (2,996)	 3,846	 51,876
Segment interest income	 -	 1,180	 1,908	 9	 169	 3,266
Segment interest expense	 -	 (10,289)	 -	 (1,238)	 (2,609)	 (14,136)
Segment income tax expense	  (8,642)	   (3,238)	  (1,727)	             -	     (811)	  (14,418)

Profit for the year	 16,535	 10,464	 3,219	 (4,225)	 595	 26,588
						    
Depreciation and amortization	 2,782	 10,523	 438	 383	 423	 14,549
Segment assets	 329,501	 100,055	 19,864	 7,193	 245,030	 701,643
Segment liabilities	 260,552	 70,479	 4,123	 11,730	 60,060	 406,944
Capital additions	 6,168	 30,269	 1,953	 810	 453	 39,653
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7	 Operating segments (Continued)

7.5		 Reconciliations of information on reportable segments to IFRS measures

		  2017	 2016

Revenues		
Total revenues for reportable segments	 209,614	 201,012
Elimination of inter-segment revenue	 (9,134)	  (12,155)

Consolidated revenue	 200,480	  188,857
		
Depreciation and amortisation		
Total depreciation and amortisation for reportable segments	 14,721	 14,549
Adjustment due to different accounting policies relating to telecommunication plant	     (777)	     (311)

Consolidated depreciation and amortisation	 13,944	  14,238
		
Profit	 	
Total profit for reportable segments	 44,672	 26,588
Profit for other non-reportable segments	 363	 311
Elimination of dividend income from Group companies	 (8,231)	 (6,882)
Adjustment due to different accounting policies	 (1,977)	 (10,246)
Share of profit of equity accounted investees	 4,842	 5,543
Profit for discontinued operation	 4	           5

Consolidated profit	  39,673	 15,319
		
Assets	 	
Total assets for reportable segments	 810,637 	 701,643
Assets for discontinued operations	 163 	 151
Inter-segment eliminations	 (22,562)	 (16,019)
Assets for other segments	 1,449 	 1,063
Elimination of fair value relating to equity accounted investees	 (34,542)	 (53,927)
Elimination of investment in subsidiaries	 (171,429)	 (138,618)
Adjustment due to different accounting policies realting to telecomunication plant	  (13,206)	   (14,607)

Consolidated total assets	  570,510	   479,686
		
Liabilities		
Total liabilities for reportable segments	 468,562  	 406,944
Liabilities for discontinued operations	 112 	 105
Inter-segment eliminations	 (29,839)	 (29,042)
Elimination of deferred tax liabilities  due to different accounting policies	 (5,103)	 -
Elimination of deferred tax liabilities arising from fair value measurement of investments
in separate financial statements	  (45,066)	  (45,846)

Consolidated total liabilities	   388,666 	  332,161
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8	 Property, plant and equipment

Group		 Land and 	 Plant,	 Motor 	 Capital	 Total
		  buildings	 furniture	 vehicles	 work in
			   and 		  progress	
			   equipment		
Cost or valuation					   
Balance at 1 January 2017	 41,767	 85,632	 7,785	 6,286	 141,470
Additions	 485	 14,695	 1,792	 5,645	 22,617
Disposals	 (531)	 (2,320)	 (1,093)	 -	 (3,944)
Transfers between classes	 375	 4,094	 -	 (4,469)	 -
Transfer to intangibles (note 11)	 -	 (87)	 -	 (87)	 (174)
Transfer to investment property (note 12)	 (231)	 -	 -	 -	 (231)
Reclassified from held for sale (note 24)	 -	 -	 28	 -	 28
Reclassified as held for sale (note 24)	 (118)	 -	 -	 -	 (118)
Revaluation increase	 3,026	           1	          -	          -	 3,027

Balance at 31 December 2017	 44,773	 102,015	 8,512	   7,375	 162,675
					   
Balance at 1 January 2016	  39,143	     77,653	   5,739	   6,040	   128,575
Additions	 251	 8,526	 3,082	 4,678	 16,537
Disposals	 (203)	 (3,986)	 (866)	 (46)	 (5,101)
Transfers between classes	 809	 3,439	 48	 (4,296)	 -
Transfer to intangibles (note 11)	 -	 -	 -	 (90)	 (90)
Reclassified as held for sale (note 24)	 (672)	 -	 (218)	 -	 (890)
Revaluation increase	    2,439	            -	          -	          -	      2,439

Balance at 31 December 2016	  41,767	  85,632	  7,785	   6,286	  141,470
Accumulated depreciation and impairment					   
Balance at 1 January 2017	 1,864	 41,672	 3,804	 677	 48,017
Depreciation expense	 1,006	 9,931	 1,476	 -	 12,413
Eliminated on revaluation	 (596)	 -	 -	 -	 (596)
Eliminated on disposal of assets	   (3)	   (2,144)	   (920)	        -	  (3,067)
Balance at 31 December 2017	 2,271	 49,459	 4,360	   677	 56,767
					   
Balance at 1 January 2016	   1,218	    34,479	     3,058	        -	   38,755
Depreciation expense	 1,007	 9,651	 1,408	 -	 12,066
Eliminated on revaluation	 (363)	 -	 -	 -	 (363)
Impairment losses recognised in profit or loss	 134	 1,297	 -	 677	 2,108
Eliminated on reclassification as held for sale (note 24)	 (29)		  (103)		  (132)
Eliminated on disposal of assets	   (103)	   (3,755)	   (559)	        -	  (4,417)
Balance at 31 December 2016	   1,864	   41,672	   3,804	   677	  48,017
					   
Carrying amounts					   

At 31 December 2017	 42,502	 52,556	 4,152	 6,698	 105,908

At 31 December 2016	   39,903	   43,960	   3,981	   5,609	   93,453
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8	 Property, plant and equipment (Continued)

Company	 Land and 	 Plant,	 Motor	 Total
		  buildings	 furniture	 vehicles
			   and 		
			   equipment		

Cost or valuation
Balance at 1 January 2017	 691	 526	     75	 1,292
Additions	 1	 81	 -	 82
Transfer to investment property	 (231)	 -	 -	 (231)
Disposals	 -	 (82)	 (49)	 (131)

Balance at 31 December 2017	 461	 525	 26	 1,012
				  
Balance at 1 January 2016	      561	     512	     75	  1,148
Additions	 -	 31	 -	 31
Revaluation increase	 130	 -	 -	 130
Disposals	         -	    (17)	       -	     (17)

Balance at 31 December 2016	    691	    526	    75	  1,292

Accumulated depreciation 			 
Balance at 1 January 2017	 -	 402	 60	 462
Depreciation expense	 -	 58	 5	 63
Eliminated on disposal of assets	            -	    (65)	   (45)	   (110)
Balance at 31 December 2017	            -	 395	 20	 415
				  
Balance at 1 January 2016	 -	 328	 42	 370
Depreciation expense	 -	 87	 18	 105
Eliminated on disposal of assets	            -	        (13)	         -	     (13)
Balance at 31 December 2016	            -	        402	      60	     462
				  
Carrying amounts
				  
At 31 December 2017	 461	 130	 6	     597

At 31 December 2016	       691	       124	      15	      830

	 Registers of land and buildings giving details required under the Companies Act 2013 are maintained at the respective 
registered offices of each company within the Group and are open for inspection by members or their duly authorised 
agents.

8.1	 Useful lives

	 The following estimated useful lives for the current and comparative periods are used in the calculation of 
depreciation:

	
	 Buildings	 40 - 50 years
	 Plant, furniture and equipment	 2- 40 years 
	 Motor vehicles                                       	    3- 5 years

8.2	 Fair value measurement of the Group’s land and buildings

	 The Group’s land and buildings are stated at their revalued amounts, being the fair value at the date of revaluation, 
less any subsequent accumulated depreciation and subsequent impairment losses.  The fair value measurements 
of the Group’s land and buildings were performed by qualified valuers as detailed below.  There has been no 
change in the valuation technique this year.

	 Land and buildings relating to Malawi Telecommunications Limited were revalued as at 31 December 2015 by 
Simeon D. Banda Bsc (Hons) MSIM MRICS Chartered Quantity Surveyor of SFS Property Consultants in association 
with Sam M. Nhlane (Hons) Lond, MSIM Registered Valuation Surveyor of SMN Property Professionals. Valuations 
were carried out on the basis of open market value. Directors consider that the carrying amounts are not materially 
different from the fair values as determined in the last valuation. 
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8	 Property, plant and equipment (Continued)

8.2	 Fair value measurement of the Group’s land and buildings (Continued)

	 Land and buildings relating to the banking business were fair valued as at 31 December 2017 by Nickson S. C. 
Mwanyali BSc (Est. Man), Dip (Bus Mngt), MSIM of Knight Frank, qualified independent valuers. Valuations were 
carried out based on a current market value basis. Out of the K3,195m (2016: K2,110m) gross revaluation surplus, 
K501m(2016: K404m) was credited to the statement of comprehensive income to reverse decreases in fair values 
previously charged to the statement of comprehensive income and the balance of K2,694m (2016: K1,706m) was 
credited to the revaluation reserve through the statement of other comprehensive income.

	 Revaluation of freehold land and buildings relating to the Foods Company Limited as at 31 December 2017 were 
performed by Samuel Nhlane BSc (Hons), MSIM, a Chartered Valuation Surveyor of SMN Property Professionals, 
Independent Registered Valuation Surveyor. Valuations were carried out based on the market comparable 
approach that reflects recent transaction prices for similar properties in similar geographical locations.

	 Land and buildings relating to Press Corporation plc were fair valued as at 31 December 2016by Nickson S. C. 
Mwanyali BSc (Est. Man), Dip (Bus Mngt), MSIM of Knight Frank, qualified independent valuers on a current market 
value basis.

	 Details of the Group’s information about the properties fair value hierarchy as at 31 December 2017 are as 
follows:		

		                                                                                                     Fair value as at		  Fair value hierarchy
		  31/12/2017 	 31/12/2016
	
	 Land and buildings	   42,502	   39,903	   Level 2

	 There were no transfers between Level 1 and Level 2 and Level 3.  The fair value of the lands and buildings was 
determined using transaction prices of similar properties.

	 Had the Group’s and Company’s land and buildings been measured on a historical cost basis, their carrying 
amount would have been as follows;

		  2017	 2016
		
	 Group’s land and buildings	 13,739	 12, 213
	 Company’s land and buildings	       287	       287

8.3	 Impairment losses recognised in the year

	 In prior year, the Group impaired its CDMA 450 and WiMAX Networks for the mobile data and mobile voice cash 
generating units. The total amount impaired was K2.1 billion  and was recognised in profit and loss. 

	 The cash generating units were incurring losses and their technologies had come to the end of their lives with 
their support contracts ending. Chances of the cash generating units recovering from such losses were unlikely. 
Accordingly, management made a decision to de-commission the networks.

	 In the current year, the impairment assessment of its cash generating units in line with International Accounting 
Standard 36 Impairment of Assets did not result in any impairement.

8.4	 Assets pledged as security

	 The Group’s assets with a carrying amount of approximately K60 billion (2016: K48 billion) have been pledged to 
secure borrowings. The Group is not allowed to sell these assets to another entity without prior approval of the 
lenders. The carrying amount of the related borrowings amount to K24.8 billion (2016: K 20.1 billion) – see note 26 
and 29 below.
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9	 Biological assets

9.1	 Reconciliation of carrying amount of fish stock

	 Group	 2017	 2016
		
	 Balance at 1 January	 156	 140
	 Increase due to birth	 182	 84
	 Decrease due to sales	 (221)	 (52)
	 Increase/ (decrease) due to death and changes in fair value	 881	    (16)
	
	 Balance at 31 December	 998	    156
		
	 Non-current biological assets	 21	 2
	 Current biological assets	 977	    154
	
	 Balance at 31 December	 998	    156

	 As at 31 December 2017, biological assets comprised of 550.5 tons of fish (2016: 35.5 tons) and 10.3 tons of 
fingerlings (2016: 9.3 tons). During 2017, the Group sold 170.5 tons of fish (2016: 143.7 tons) and 0.1 tons of 
fingerlings (2016: 0.2 tons). 

9.2	 Measurement of fair values

	 The valuation of fish in the ponds and cages, fingerlings and brood stock is based on the selling value of the 
projected weight of fish to be harvested on maturity less any estimated costs to be incurred in growing the fish to 
table size and in selling and distributing the fish after harvest. The valuation takes into account mortality of the fish 
which is based on past experience and actual mortality experienced during the period to harvest.

	 In determining the fair value of the fish, the following procedures are used: 

•	 The Group estimates the weight of the fish that is in cages or ponds through sampling. This estimate is used 
to determine the projected harvest, which takes into account a factor of mortality. 

•	 The projected harvest is valued using average selling price based on fish categories. 
•	 The cost to harvest is estimated and this includes cost of feed, both starter and grower and all direct costs 

to be incurred to produce the fish. 
•	 The value of the fish is then the difference between the value of the projected harvest and the costs to be 

incurred to harvest. 
•	 Fingerlings are valued at the current selling price of each fingerling achieved during the year. 

Assumptions 

•	 Average weight per fish – Average harvest weight achieved during the year is used as basis for calculating   
biomass. 

•	 Mortality – Mortality is assumed at 23% (2016: 64%) for the cages and 20% (2016: 20%) for fingerlings 
based on experience and history. 

•	 Average selling price – Current selling price based on fish categories as per harvest records. 

	 The fair value measurements of both fish and fingerlings have been categorized as Level 2 fair values based on 
observable market sales data;

                                                               	                                          Fair value as at		  Fair value hierarchy
		  31/12/2017 	 31/12/2016
	
	 Fish stocks	   998	    156	   Level 2

	 There were no transfers between Level 1 and Level 2 during the year.

9.3	 Financial risk management strategies related to agricultural activities

	 The Group is exposed to the following risks relating to its fish breeding business:-

	 Regulatory and environmental risks

	 The Group is subject to laws and regulations relating to fish breeding and protection of the environment. The 
Group has established environmental policies and procedures aimed at compliance with environmental laws re-
lating to effluent disposal, certification of hatchery activities and environmental impact assessments of new fish 
breeding projects.  
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9	 Biological assets (Continued)

9.3	 Financial risk management strategies related to agricultural activities (Continued)

	 Supply, demand and commodity risks

	 The Group is exposed to risks arising from fluctuations in the prices of fish and fish products which are based on 
general supply of fish in the country. The bigger the general supply of fish in the country the lower the fish prices. 
The Group manages this risk by aligning its harvest volumes with the market supply and demand. Management 
performs regular industry trend analyses for projected harvest volumes and pricing. 

	 Climate, weather, diseases and other risks

	 The Group’s fish stocks are exposed to the risk of damage from climatic changes (including annual upwelling of 
water, temperature variations including stratification of water and low dissolved oxygen levels), diseases, theft of 
brood stock and breeding fish and predation from birds, otters and others. The Group has extensive processes in 
place aimed at monitoring and mitigating those risks, including monitoring and prevention of diseases, theft and 
bird predation prevention, monitoring of water temperatures and dissolved oxygen.

10	 Goodwill
	
		  2017	 2016
		
Opening balance	                 4,974 	 5,026 
Reduction after acquisition completion	            -	 (52)

Balance at 31 December	    4,974 	    4,974 

10.1	 Impairment testing for cash generating units containing goodwill

Goodwill has been allocated for impairment testing purposes to the following cash-generating units;

Consumer goods segment	 427 	 427
TNM Business services unit	 588	 588
Wholesale banking division	   3,959	   3,959
	   	 4,974 	   4,974 

	 Consumer goods segment

	 The goodwill associated with consumer goods segment arose when the company (Press Corporation plc) ac-
quired 50% shareholding in Peoples Trading Centre Limited in 2012 from Metcash Investment Holdings Limited to 
become a wholly owned subsidiary.

	 The recoverable amount of this cash generating unit is determined based on a value in use calculation which 
uses cash flow projections based on financial budgets approved by the directors covering a five-year period, and 
a discount rate of 25% (2016: 23%) per annum. Cash flows beyond that five-year period have been extrapolated 
using a steady 10% (2016: 10%) per annum growth rate. This growth rate does not exceed the long-term average 
growth rate for the retail industry. 

	 Inflation was expected to be around 10% (2016: 10%) in the long-term with long term real GDP of 6% (2016: 6%). 
The directors believe that any reasonably possible change in the key assumptions on which the recoverable 
amount is based would not cause the aggregate carrying amount to exceed the aggregate recoverable amount 
of the cash-generating unit. The recoverable amount of the Cash Generating Unit is calculated to be K4.0 billion 
(2016: K4.3 billion) and its carrying amount is K2.1 billion (2016: K2.3 billion) as such the related goodwill is not 
impaired.

	 TNM Business services unit
					   
	 The goodwill associated with TNM Business services unit arose when the Group’s subsidiary, Telekom Networks 

Malawi Limited acquired Burco Electronics Systems Limited in 2014.

	 The recoverable amount of this cash generating unit is determined based on a value in use calculation which uses 
cash flow projections based on financial budgets approved by the directors covering a five-year period, and a 
discount rate of 21% (2016: 33%) per annum.
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10	 Goodwill (Continued)

10.1	 Impairment testing for cash generating units containing goodwill (Continued)

	 TNM Business services unit (Continued)

	 Cash flow projections during the budget period are based on the assumption that the unit will grow at 10% (2016: 
10%) year on year. The growth was estimated by directors of the unit based on past performance of the cash 
generating unit and their expectations of market developments. The directors believe that any reasonably possible 
change in the key assumptions on which the recoverable amount is based would not cause the aggregate carrying 
amount to exceed the aggregate recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit.

	 The recoverable amount of the Cash Generating Unit is calculated to be K4.1 billion (2016: K2.7 billion) and its 
carrying amount is K0.9 billion (2016: K1 billion) as such the related goodwill is not impaired.

	 Whole Banking Division

	 The banking business of the Group, National Bank of Malawi acquired a 97.05% interest in Indebank Limited on 
31 October 2015.  In 2016, the Bank acquired an additional 2.95% in Indebank previously held by the Indebank 
employee share ownership program(ESOP)thus increasing its shareholding to 100%. This broughtthe purchase 
consideration to K6,616million and the goodwill arising on acquisition to K3,959 million.

	 The carrying amount of this goodwill was allocated to the Wholesale Banking Division (WBD) as a cash generating 
unit.

	 The recoverable amount of this cash generating unit is determined based on a value in use calculation which 
uses cash flow projections based on financial budgets approved by the Directors covering a five-year period, 
and discounted at a weighted average cost of capital of 19.32% (2016:33.37%). Cash flows beyond that five-year 
period have been extrapolated using an average of 21% per annum growth rate which is the projected long term 
average growth rate for Wholesale Banking Business. The Directors believe that any reasonably possible change 
in the key assumption on which the recoverable amount is based would not cause the aggregate carrying amount 
to exceed the aggregate recoverable amount of the cash generating unit.

	 The recoverable amount of the Cash Generating Unit (WBD) is calculated to be K363.6 billion(2016: K143 billion) 
and its carrying amount is K148.2 billion (2016: K135 billion) as suchthe related goodwill is not impaired.
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11	 Intangible assets 

Group		 Computer  	 Capitalised	 Work  	 Patents	 Total
		  software	 Development	 in	 and 
			   costs 	 Progress	 trademarks	

Cost					   
2017	 				  
Balance at 1 January 2017	 15,506	 604	 3,373	 1,648	 21,131
Transfer between classes	 1,476	 -	 (1,476)	 -	 -
Transfer from PPE (note 8)	 174	 -	 -	 -	 174
Additions from internal developments	 -	 36	 -	 -	 36
Additions from separate acquisitions	    1,501	        -	 2,513	           -	    4,014
Balance at 31 December 2017	 18,657	   640	 4,410	   1,648	 25,355

2016	 				  
Balance at 1 January 2016	  13,908	   585	  2,163	  1,648	  18,304
Transfer between classes	 538	 -	 (538)	 -	 -
Transfer from PPE (note 8)	 90	 -	 -	 -	 90
Write off	 (47)	 -	 -	 -	 (47)
Additions from internal developments	 -	 19	 -	 -	 19
Additions from separate acquisitions	    1,017	        -	   1,748	           -	    2,765
Balance at 31 December 2016	  15,506	    604	   3,373	   1,648	  21,131
					   
Accumulated amortisation and impairment					   
2017	 				  
Balance at 1 January 2017	 6,416	    324	 167	 398	 7,305
Amortisation expense	 1,364	 2	 -	 165	 1,531
Balance at 31 December 2017	  7,780	   326	   167	 563	 8,836

2016	 				  
Balance at 1 January 2016	   4,329	    323	       -	   234	   4,886
Write off	 (47)	 -	 -	 -	 (47)
Impairment losses recognised in profit or loss	 127	 -	 167	 -	 294
Amortisation expense	   2,007	        1	        -	    164	   2,172
Balance at 31 December 2016	  6,416	   324	   167	   398	  7,305

Carrying amounts					   

At 31 December 2017	 10,877	 314	 4,243	 1,085	 16,519
					   
At 31 December 2016	    9,090	    280	    3,206	   1,250	   13,826

	 Development costs are all internally generated. 

	 The 2016 impairment provision relates to computer software and systems which were acquired through business 
combinations with Indebank Limited. Such items were considered not useful to the banking business of the Group as 
they already hadsimilar or superior systems. The total cost of the impaired items as at 31 December 2016 was K373million 
with accumulated depreciation of K79million. 
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11	 Intangible assets (Continued)

Company		  2017			   2016
		  Computer	 Work in		  Computer	 Work in	
		  software	 Progress	 Total	 software	 Progress	 Total
Cost						    
Balance at 1 January	      245	      72	     317	      245	      71	     316
Additions from separate acquisitions	         -	 -	  -	 -	 1	 1

Balance at 31 December	      245	      72	     317	      245	      72	     317
						    
Accumulated amortisation						    
Balance at 1 January	 72	         -	      72	        56	         -	      56
Amortisation charge for the year	        15	          -	       15	        16	          -	       16

Balance at 31 December	        87	         -	      87	        72	         -	      72
						    
Carrying amounts	      158	       72	     230	      173	       72	     245

	 Intangibles relating to the company are all externally generated and they comprise of costs relating to the SAP ERP and 
SAP Business Planning and Consolidation software.

11.1	 Useful lives

	 The following estimated useful lives for the current and comparative periods are used in the calculation of 
depreciation:

	 Computer software	 5 – 15 years
	 Patents and trademarks	 10 years

12	 Investment properties

Group		 Freehold 	 Leasehold	 Undeveloped	 Undeveloped	 Total
		  land and	 land and	 freehold	 leasehold 
		  buildings	 buildings	 land	 land	
			 
Balance at 1 January 2017	 3,530	 1,580	 249	 1	 5,360
Additions during the year	 7	 234	 -	 -	 241
Transferred from Property, Plant and 
Equipment (note 8)	 -	 231	 -	 -	 231
Disposals	 -	 -	 (37)	 -	 (37)
Gain on property revaluation	     517	      242	 10	        -	     769
	
Balance at 31 December 2017	   4,054	    2,287	 222	       1	 6,564
					   

Balance at 1 January 2016	      3,173	    1,417	       192	          1	    4,783
Additions during the year	 83		  16	 -	 99
Gain on property revaluation	     274	      163	     41	        -	     478
	
Balance at 31 December 2016	   3,530	    1,580	     249	        1	   5,360
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12	 Investment properties (Continued)

	 	 Freehold land 
		  and buildings	 Total

Company		
Balance at 1 January 2017	 -	 -
Transferred from Property, Plant and Equipment (note 8)	 231	 231

Balance at 31 December 2017	   231	   231
		

	 A register of investment properties giving details required under the Companies Act, 2013 is maintained at the registered 
offices of the company and is available for inspection by members or their duly authorised agents.

12.1	 Valuation techniques and Fair value hierarchy

	 Investment properties relating to Press Properties Limited were professionally and independently revalued by 
Mavuto Phula, Bsc (Edu), Cert (P/Mgmt), MSC (Real Estates), and a chartered valuation surveyor with CMC Prop-
erty Consultants & Valuers at 31 December 2017 on an open market value basis and the resultant gains/losses are 
recognised in the profit and loss.

	 Press Corporation plc Investment property was fair valued as at 31 December 2017 by by Nickson S. C. Mwanyali 
BSc (Est. Man), Dip (Bus Mngt), MSIM of Knight Frank, qualified independent valuers on a current market value 
basis.

	 There has been no change to the valuation technique during the year.

	 The fair value measurement for investment properties has been categorised as a level 2 fair value based on the 
inputs to the valuation techniques used.

	 Details of the Group’s information about the investment properties fair value hierarchy as at 31 December 2017 are 
as follows:		

		                                                                                Fair value as at		  Fair value hierarchy
		  31/12/2017	 31/12/2016	
	
	 Investment properties	   6,564	   5,360	   Level 2

	 There were no transfers between Level 1 and Level 2 and Level 3.  
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13	 Investments in subsidiaries

13.1	 Details of the Group’s subsidiaries

	 Details of the Group’s subsidiaries at the end of the reporting period are as follows:

Name of subsidiary

Financial Services 
segment
National Bank of Malawi 
Plc (NBM)

Telecommunications 
segment
Malawi 
Telecommunications 
Limited (MTL)

Open Connect Limited 
(OCL)

Telekom Networks Malawi 
plc (TNM)

Energy segment
Ethanol Company Limited

Presscane Limited	

Consumer Goods 
segment
Peoples Trading Centre 
Limited

The All other segments
Press Properties Limited

The Foods Company 
Limited

Manzinzi Bay Limited

Discontinued 
Operations
Press Trading (Pty) Limited

Malawi Pharmacies Limited

Principal Activity

Financial Services

Information and
Communication  

Wholesale data connectivity 
services

Information and 
Communication   

Ethanol manufacturer

Ethanol manufacturer

Supermarket chain

Property investment and 
development

Manufacturer and 
distributor of food products

Investment property

Dormant

Dormant

Place of incorporation 
and operation

NBM Building, Blantyre

Lunjika House, Blantyre

Chayamba Building, 
Blantyre

Livingstone towers, 
Blantyre

Matiki industrial complex, 
Dwangwa

Mwitha Village, Chikwawa

PTC House, Blantyre

Top Mandala, Blantyre

Mithechi Village, Mangochi

Monkeybay, Mangochi

Johannesburg

Blantyre

Proportion of ownership 
interest and voting 
power held by the Group

2017                2016

51.49	 51.49
	

52.70	 52.70

52.70	 52.70

41.31	 41.31
	

66.0	 66.0

50.1	 50.1
	

100.0	 100.0
	

100.0	 100.0

100.0	 100.0

100.0	 100.0
	

-	 100.0

100.0	 100.0

	 Telekom Networks Malawi plc is listed on the Malawi Stock Exchange. Although the Group has only 41.31% ownership 
in the company, the Directors concluded that the Group has a sufficientlydominant voting interest to direct the relevant 
activities of Telekom Networks Malawi plc on the basis of the Group’s absolute size of shareholding and the relative size 
of and dispersion of the shareholdings owned by the other shareholders. Another shareholder owns 23.65% with the 
balance of 35.04 % ownership interests being owned by thousands of shareholders that are unrelated to the Group, none 
individually holding more than 5.66%.
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13	 Investments in subsidiaries (Continued)

13.2	 Shareholders dispute at Presscane Limited

	 The shareholders are involved in a dispute over the capital contributions made towards the company.  The dispute 
remains unresolved.Efforts to settle the matter out of court have been unsuccessful and the parties await the 
completion of the litigation process. An independent consultant’s verification of the respective contributions 
undertaken in 2005 has not been adopted by the shareholders. The Directors are convinced that the outcome 
of the case will not result in loss of control. Accordingly, Presscane Limited is recognised as a subsidiary in the 
Group’s financial statements in accordance with the Group’s 50.1% shareholding.

13.3	 Reconciliation of carrying amount
	
		                                                                                                                                                   Company
		  2017	 2016
		
	 Balance at 1 January 	 138,618	 112,900
	 Additions 	 92	 2,000
	 Disposal 	 -	 (19)
	 Increase in fair value 	      32,719	      23,737
	
	 Balance at 31 December 	  171,429	  138,618

	 During the year, Press Corporation plc made an equity injection of K92million inThe Foods Company Limited, its 
wholly owned subsidiary inorder to boast its working capital. 

13.4	 Analysis of carrying amount

	 The carrying amount of subsidiaries shown above is analysed as follows:

		                                                                                                         2017	                                   2016	
		  Fairvalue/cost	 Dividend	 Fairvalue /cost	 Dividend
		  (PCL Share)	 received	 (PCL Share)	 received

	 National Bank of Malawi Plc	 64,924	 4,458	 60,110	 3,195
	 Press Properties Limited	 4,436	 -	 3,992	 -
	 Manzinzi Bay Limited	 2	 -	 2	 -
	 The Foods Company Limited	 1,083	 -	 1,049	 -
	 Ethanol Company Limited	 8,783	 258	 12,408	 487
	 Presscane Limited	 8,131	 -	 8,740	 -
	 Malawi Telecommunications Limited	 3,946	 -	 5,534	 -
	 Open Connect Limited	 15,905	 -	 16,250	 -
	 Telecom Networks Malawi Plc	 60,141	 1,991	 26,960	 1,244
	 Peoples Trading Centre Limited	 4,078	 -	 3,573	 -
		  171,429	   6,707	  138,618	   4,926

	 Telekom Networks Malawi plc and National Bank of Malawi are listed on the Malawi Stock Exchange and are 
quoted at market values and were valued at stock market prices.

	 Unquoted investments in subsidiaries were valued by Nico Asset Managers on behalf of the Directors as at 31st 
December 2017 (2016: National Bank Capital Markets Limited). Price multiples method was used for unlisted 
investments except for The Foods Company Limited and Malawi Telecommunications Limited which were valued 
using price to sales multiple and Net asset value valuation methods respectively. 

	 Unbundling of Malawi Telecommunications Limited 

	 In a bid to make the company more efficient and effective, in 2016 MTL was successfully unbundled to form two 
separate companies, Open Connect Limited (OCL) and MTL with both companies directly owned by the original 
shareholders of MTL based on the original MTL shareholding structure. This unbundling resulted in creation of two 
focussed businesses i.e. MTL focusing on access network and internet to corporates and retail consumers and 
OCL focussing on open access fibre infrastructure business for the Telecommunication Companies in Malawi. 
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13	 Investments in subsidiaries (Continued)

13.5	 Summarised financial information in respect of Group’s subsidiaries that have material non-controlling 
interest

	 Summarised below is financial information of subsidiaries with material non-controlling interest before elimination 
of intercompany transactions:
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14	 Investments in joint ventures

14.1	 Details of the Group’s joint ventures

	 Details of the Group’s joint ventures at the end of the reporting period is as follows:

	 Name of joint venture	 Principal Activity	 Principal place of	   Proportion of ownership 
			   operation 	  interest and voting power 
				          held by the Group
				    2017	 2016
				  
	 Puma Energy Malawi	 Distribution of	 Standard bank	 50.0	 50.0
	 Limited	 petroleum products	 building, Blantyre
				  
	 Macsteel (Malawi) Limited	 Manufacture and	 Raynor Avenue, 	 50.0	 50.0
		  sale of steel products	 Limbe, Blantyre

	 Two companies, Puma Energy Malawi Limited and Macsteel (Malawi) Limited are 50% owned by Press Corporation 
plc and 50% owned by technical partners and they are not publicly listed.  These have been equity accounted 
for in the Group accounts and carried at fair value in the separate financial statements of the Company. This is in 
compliance with IFRS 11 Joint arrangements.

14.2	 Reconciliation of carrying amount

		                                                                                                                   Group                     	Company
		  2017	 2016	 2017	 2016
				  
	 At the beginning of the year	 4,897	 1,764	 18,701	 16,777
	 Increase in fair value recognised in other comprehensive income	 -	 -	 1,917	 1,924
	 Group’s share of profits	 1,912	 1,913	 -	 -
	 Group’s share of other comprehensive income	 -	 1,720	 -	 -
	 Dividend received	   (611)	   (500)	            -	            -
	 At end of the year	   6,198	   4,897	  20,618	  18,701

14.3	 Analysis of carrying amount    

	 The carrying amount of joint ventures shown above is analysed as follows:

		                                                                                                              Group	                     Company
		  2017	 2016	 2017	 2016
				  
	 Puma Energy Malawi Limited	 5,144	 3,898	 19,328	 17,702
	 Macsteel (Malawi) Limited	  1,054	     999	    1,290	       999
	 Total	  6,198	  4,897	  20,618	  18,701
				  
	 Investments in joint ventures were equity accounted in the consolidated financial statements and were fair valued 

using price multiples methodin the separate financial statements.

	 Investments in joint ventures were valued by Nico Asset Managers (2016: National Bank of Malawi Capital Markets 
Limited) on behalf of the Directors at 31 December 2017.
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14	 Investments in joint ventures (Continued)

14.4	 Summarised financial information of joint ventures

	 Summarised financial information in respect of the Group’s joint ventures in its own financial statements and 
reconciliation of the summarised financial information to the carrying amount of the Group’ interest in joint ventures 
recognised in the consolidated financial statements:

		                                                                                                                  Puma                            Macsteel
		  2017	 2016	 2017	 2016
				  
Non –current assets	 12,298	 12,332	 1,472	 1,468
	
Current assets	 11,604	 10,358	 2,323	 2,613
	
Non-current liabilities	 (1,096)	 (1,225)	 (348)	 (373)
	
Current liabilities	 (12,517)	 (13,668)	 (1,339)	  (1,711)

The above amounts of assets and liabilities include the following:

Cash and cash equivalents	 5,424	   3,774	 269	        70
				  
Revenue	 104,746	 94,543	 5,708	 5,901
	
Profit for the year	 3,492	 3,379	 332	 443
	
Other comprehensive income for the year	 -	 2,809	 -	 633
	
Total comprehensive income for the year	 3,492	 6,188	 332	 1,076

Dividends received from the joint ventures during the year	      500	      500	 111	         -
					   
The above profit for the year include the following:

Depreciation and amortisation	 1,110	 1,141	 69	 65
	
Interest income	 240	 248	 -	 -
	
Interest expenses	 -	 -	 28	 124
	
Foreign exchange loss/(gain)	 129	 262	 (52)	 83
	
Income tax expenses 	 1,665	 1,494	 109	 205

	 Reconciliation of the above summarised financial information to the carrying amount of the interest in the joint venture 
recognised in the consolidated financial statements:

			     Puma                            Macsteel
		  2017	 2016	 2017	 2016
Net assets of the joint venture	 10,289	 7,797	 2,108	 1,997
Proportion of the Group’s ownership interest in the joint venture	 50%	 50%	 50%	 50%
Carrying amount of the Group’s interest in the joint venture	 5,144	   3,898	 1,054	 999

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED AND SEPARATE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
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15	 Investment in associates

15.1	 Details of the Group’s associates

	 Details of the Group’s associates at the end of the reporting period are as follows:

	 Name of associate	 Principal Activity	 Principal place of	   Proportion of ownership 
			   operation 	  interest and voting power 
				          held by the Group
				    2017	 2016
				  
	 Castel Malawi Limited	 Beverage manufacturer	 Makata, Blantyre	 20.00	 39.65
	 (formerly Carlsberg 	 and  distributor
	 Malawi Limited)
				  
	 Limbe Leaf Tobacco	 Tobacco processors	 Alimaunde industrial	 41.99	 41.99
	 Company Limited (LLTC)	 and merchants	 area, Lilongwe

	 Castel Malawi Limited is an associate company in which the Group has a 20% (2016: 39.65%) ownership interest. 
The main business of Castel Malawi Limited is the brewing and distribution of beer, the production and distribution 
of soft drinks, and the importation, manufacture and distribution of spirits and wines. The company is not publicly 
listed.

	 LLTC is also an associate company in which the Group has a 41.99% ownership interest. The company is principally 
engaged in tobacco processing and merchandising. LLTC is not publicly listed.

 	 In the consolidated financial statements, the associates were equity accounted whereas in separate financial 
statements, they are measured at fair value. 

15.2	 Change in the Group’s ownership interest in associate

	 In August 2017, the Group disposed of a 20% interest in Castel Malawi Limited to Castel Group, B.I.H.  Brasseries 
Internationales Holding Limited. The sales proceeds amounted to K17.2 billion and  the profit of K14.2 billion was 
recognised in the Group’s income statement. The Group continues to account for the 20% remaining interest 
as an associate. In separate financial statements, the proportion of the gain previously recognised in other 
comprehensive income relating to the reduction in ownership interest was reclassified to profit or loss.

15.3	 Reconciliation of carrying amount

		   
		                                                                                                                    Group	                   Company
		  2017	 2016	 2017	 2016
				  
	 At the beginning of the year 	 34,730	 31,071	 74,851	 22,301
	 Group’s share of profit	 2,930	 3,630	 -	 -
	 Group’s share of other comprehensive income	 498	 1,484		
	 Dividend received	 (914)	 (1,455)	 -	 -
	 Disposal	 (2,755)	 -	 (22,454)	 -
	 Increase in fair value recognised in other 
	 comprehensive income	             -	            -	    2,211	   52,550

	 At end of the year	  34,489	   34,730	  54,608	   74,851
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15	 Investment in associates (Continued)

15.4	 Analysis of carrying amount    

	 The carrying amount of associates shown above is analysed as follows:
		   
		                                                                                                                         Group	                   Company
		  2017	 2016	 2017	 2016
				  
	 Limbe Leaf Tobacco Company Limited	 31,069	 28,874	 35,942	 29,434
	 Castel Malawi Limited	    3,420	    5,856	  18,666	  45,417
	 Total	  34,489	  34,730	  54,608	  74,851

	 Investments in associates were equity accounted in the consolidated financial statements and were fair valued 
using price multiples methodin the separate financial statements.

	 Investments in associates were valued by Nico Asset Managers (2016: National Bank of Malawi Capital Markets 
Limited) on behalf of the Directors at 31 December 2017.

15.5	 Summarised financial information of associates

	 Summarised below is the financial information of the associates in its own financial statements and reconciliation 
of the summarised financial information to the carrying amount of the Group’ interest in associates recognised in 
the consolidated financial statements:

		                                                                                                               LLTC	                      Castel
		  2017	 2016	 2017	 2016

	 Non-current assets	 42,483	 40,994	 35,955	 23,004
	 Current assets	 106,510	 116,781	 29,524	 19,032
	 Non-current liabilities	 (4,711)	 (8,219)	 (4,462)	 (3,946)
	 Current liabilities	 (70,291)	 (80,793)	  (43,919)	   (23,320)
				  
	 Revenue	 110,127	 116,999	 55,709	 55,474
	 Profit for the year	 6,220	 8,240	 2,324	 431
	 Other comprehensive income for the year	 1,185	 1,716	 -	 1,923
	 Total comprehensive income for the year	   7,405	    9,956	  2,324	    2,354
				  
	 Dividends received from the associate during the year	      914	      906	 -	      549

	 Reconciliation of the above summarised financial information to the carrying amount of the interest in the associates 
recognised in the consolidated financial statements:

	       	                                                                                                                LLTC	                          Castel
		  2017	 2016	 2017	 2016

	 Net assets of the associate	 73,991	 68,763	 17,098	 14,770
	 Proportion of the Group’s ownership interest in the associate	 41.99%	 41.99%	 20.00%	 39.65%
	 Carrying amount of the Group’s interest in Associate	  31,069	   28,874	   3,420	   5,856
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16	 Loans and advances to customers
		   
		                                                                                                                          Group	              
		  2017	 2016
			 
Gross loans and advances  to customers at amortised cost	 126,629	 123,067
Allowance for impairment losses	 (5,955)	    (1,024)
Loans and advances, net	 120,674	  122,043

Gross loans and advances are due to mature as follows:		
	 - Within three months	 22,759	 32,364
	 - Between three months and one year	 61,392	 58,403
	 - After one year	 42,478	    32,300
		  126,629	  123,067

Loans, net are split into:		
	 Long term loans	 42,478	 32,300
	 Short term loans	 78,196	    89,743
		  120,674	  122,043

Movement of  allowance for impairment losses		
At the beginning of the year	 1,024	 1,638
Charged during the year	 5,319	 1,718
Written off during the year	 (236)	 (1,315)
Recovered during the year	 (152)	  (1,017)

Balance at the end of the year	 5,955	     1,024

Analysis of gross loans and advances by sector:		
	 - Wholesale and retail	 49,587	 34,762
	 - Others	 9,578	 9,889
	 - Personal accounts	 17,670	 19,079
	 - Agriculture	 22,213	 28,376
	 - Manufacturing	 27,084	 30,672
	 - Finance and insurance	 2,585	      1,013
		  128,717	 123,791
Provision for impairment of interest from impaired loans and advances	 (2,088)	      (724)
		  126,629	  123,067

Movement of provision for impairment of interest from impaired loans and advances		
At the beginning of the year	 724	 933
Applied against advances	 (1,379)	 (1,122)
Suspended during the year	 2,803	 982
Recovered during the year	       (60)	        (69)
At the end of the year	    2,088	        724

Analysis of recoveries		
Specific provisions	 152	 1,017
Interest in suspense	 60	 69
Debts previously written off	     834	      624
Transferred to profit or loss	  1,046	   1,710

Analysis of gross loans by currency		
Malawi Kwacha denominated	 69,716	 78,394
United States dollar denominated	   56,913	    44,673
	  	 126,629	   123,067

	 The Malawi Kwacha base lending rate for the bank as at 31 December 2017 was 25% (2016: 32.0%) and US Dollar 
denominated loans carried an average interest rate of 8.74% (2016: 8.83%).

	 Interest income is no longer charged to profit and loss once the loan is classified as sub-standard (grade 8 and 9 as 
disclosed under note 6.4.5 above). 
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17	 Finance lease receivables
		   
		                                                                                                                                                         Group	              
		  2017	 2016

	 Current finance lease receivable	 1,110	 1,018
	 Non-current finance lease receivable	    9,207	  8,358
		  10,317	 9,376
	

17.1	 Amounts receivable under finance leases

		                                                                                                                             Minimum               Present value
		                                                                                                                     lease payments	      of minimum lease 
				                payments
		  2017	 2016	 2017	 2016

	
	 Not later than one year	 1,510	 1,139	 1,110	 1,018
	 Later than one year and not later than five years 	  11,931	  12,172	   9,207	   8,358
		  13,441	 13,311	 10,317	 9,376
	 Less; unearned finance income	  (3,118)	  (3,867)	        n/a	        n/a
	 Present value of minimum lease payments receivable	 10,323	 9,444	 10,317	 9,376
	 Allowance for uncollectible lease payments	         (6)	      (68)	           -	           -
	
  		  10,317	 9,376	   10,317	   9,376

	
	 The finance lease receivables are secured by the leased assets.

	 Finance lease receivables past due amounts to K81 million (2016: K783 million) and they were all impaired.

	 The average interest charged on finance leases was 25% (2016: 33%)

18	 Loans receivables from Group companies

		                                                                                                                                                             Company
		  2017	 2016
			 
	 Peoples Trading Centre Limited	 1,733	         -

		  1,733	         -

	 Summary of inter-company loans			 
	

	 Loan granted during the year	 1,615	 -
	 Interest capitalised	 118	         -

	 At end of the year	  1,733	         -

	 During the year, the Company provided a loan to one of its wholly owned subsidiary Peoples Trading Centre Limited to 
boost their working capital. The loan is unsecured, has no fixed repayment period and attracts interest at the rate of the 
90 day Treasury bill rate plus 2%.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED AND SEPARATE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
For the year ended 31 December 2017                                                 
In millions of Malawi Kwacha



Annual Report 2017   | PRESS CORPORATION PLC 125

S
tr

at
eg

ic
 R

ep
or

t  
| 

 C
or

po
ra

te
 G

ov
er

na
nc

e 
  

 F
in

an
ci

al
 S

ta
te

m
en

ts
  

  O
n 

th
e 

M
al

aw
i S

to
ck

 E
xc

ha
ng

e

19	 Other investments	

19.1	 Maturity of other investments

	 Total other investments are due to mature as follows:

		                                                                                                                         Group	                     Company
		  2017	 2016	 2017	 2016
	
	 Non-current investments				  
	 Non – maturing investments 	 803	 668	 -	 -
	 Between one year and five years 	  3,575	     461	         -	         -
		  4,378	  1,129	         -	         -
	 Current investments 				  
	 Between three months and one year 	 16,994	 16,030	 1,246	 -
	 Within three months 	  118,987	  72,037	         -	         -
	  	 135,981	  88,067	 1,246	         -
				  
	 Total other investments 	  140,359	  89,196	 1,246	         -
				  
				  
	 Comprises of the following:				  
	 Government of Malawi Treasury Bills and Notes	 29,478	 25,844	 -	 -
	 Money market deposits 	 104,195	 59,379	 -	 -
	 Government of Malawi promissory note	 48	 1,100		
	 Other	     6,638	    2,873	 1,246	         -

	 Total investments 	 140,359	  89,196	 1,246	         -
	

19.2	 Government of Malawi bills and Reserve Bank of Malawi bonds

		                                                                                                            Average		                  Group	
		                                                                                                          interest rate		
		  2017	 2016	 2017	 2016
				  
	 Government of Malawi Treasury Bills	 20.10%	 22.47%	 24,670	 25,591
	 Government of Malawi Treasury Notes	 18.15%	 17.91%	    4,808	       253
				     29,478	  25,844
				  
	 The bills and notes are due to mature as follows:				  
	 -   Within three months			   11,021	 9,849
	 -   Between three months and one year			   15,698	 15,995
	 -   Over one year			      2,759	            -
			     	 29,478	  25,844

	 Government of Malawi treasury bills and treasury notes are denominated in Malawi Kwacha and are held to 
maturity.

19.3	 Money market deposits

		                                                                                                                Average		                  Group	
		                                                                                                             interest rate		
		  2017	 2016	 2017	 2016

	 Money market investments with Reserve Bank of Malawi
	 and other banks	 20.77%	 27.92%	 104,195	 59,379

	 Money market deposits are denominated in Malawi Kwacha and are held to maturity and mature within one month 
after the reporting date. 
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19.	 Other investments (Continued)

19.4	 Government promissory notes

		  Maturity date		 Carrying amount
	 2017			 
	 Acquired in 2017	 As explained below	       	 48
	
	 2017			 
	 Acquired in 2016	 11 August 2017		  1,100

	 In 2016, the Bank acquired a promissory note from the market at a cost of K967m. The note had a nominal value 
of K1 341m and its maturity date was 11 August 2017. The carrying amount as at 31 December 2016 included 
accrued interest receivable amounting to K133m. Interest income amounting K241m relating the promissory note 
has been recognized in the statement of comprehensive income as at 31 December 2017.

	 During the year, the Group acquired three additional promissory notes from the market at total cost of K43m. The 
cost of each note was K21m, K8m and K14m and their maturity dates are 13 February 2018, 22 February 2018 
and 27 September 2018 respectively. The notes have a total nominal value of K53m.The carrying amount includes 
accrued interest receivable amounting to K5m.

	 The fair value level has been disclosed under note 6.7.

20.	 Deferred tax assets/(liabilities)

		                                                                                              Assets	                   Liabilities	                     Net
		  2017	 2016	 2017	 2016	 2017	 2016
	
	 Group						    
	 Property, plant and equipment 	 5,063	 5,837	 (3,346)	 (2,334)	 1,717	 3,503
	 Investment properties 	 -	 -	 (1,082)	 (911)	 (1,082)	 (911)
	 Other investments	 352	 (871)	 -	 -	 352	 (871)
	 Provisions 	 1,192	 2,171	 3	 (69)	 1,195	 2,102
	 Un-realised exchange differences 	 1,339	 842	 (150)	 (183)	 1,189	 659
	 Tax value of loss carried forward	 -	 -	     1,835	        506	    1,835	 506
	 Tax assets/(liabilities) 	   7,946	   7,979	  (2,740)	  (2,991)	    5,206	   4,988
							     
	 Company						    
	 Property and investments in subsidiaries 
	 and associates 	 -	            -	   (45 066)	   (45 846)	  (45 066)	  (45 846)

	 Deferred tax balances at subsidiary level are presented on net basis. HoweverMalawi does not have a group tax 
registration as such there is no legal right to offset liability from one subsidiary and asset from another.
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20.	 Deferred tax assets/(liabilities) (Continued)

20.1	 Movement in net deferred tax asset/(liabilities)

				    Recognised	
			   Recognised	 in other	
		  Opening	 in profit	 comprehensive	 Closing
		  balance	 or loss	 income	 balance

	 Group				  
	 2017				  
	 Property, plant and equipment	 3,503	 (1,761)	 (25)	 1,717
	 Investment properties	 (911)	 (171)	 -	 (1,082)
	 Other investments	 (871)	 1,223	 -	 352
	 Provisions	 2,102	 (907)	 -	 1,195
	 Un-realised exchange differences	 659	 530	 -	 1,189
	 Tax value or loss carried forward	 506	  1,329	          -	   1,835
	 Total net asset/(liabilities)	   4,988	     243	     (25)	   5,206
					   
	 2016				  
	 Property, plant and equipment	 1810	 (518)	 2,211	 3,503
	 Investment properties	 (772)	 (139)	 -	 (911)
	 Other investments	 -	 141	 (1,012)	 (871)
	 Provisions	 716	 1,095	 291	 2,102
	 Un-realised exchange differences	 589	 (651)	 721	 659
	 Tax value or loss carried forward	 22	       506	       (22)	 506
	 Total net asset/(liabilities)	    2,365	       434	    2,189	 4,988
	

	 Company				  

				    Recognised	
			   Recognised	 in other	
		  Opening	 in profit	 comprehensive	 Closing
		  balance	 or loss	 income	 balance

	 2017				  
	 Investment in subsidiaries and associates	 (45,735)	 (55)	 780	 (45,010)
	 Property	 (111)	     55	            -	         (56)
		  (45,846)	        -	        780	  (45,066)
	
	 2016				  
	 Investment in subsidiaries and associates	 (28,261)	 59	 (17,533)	 (45,735)
	 Property	 (52)	    (59)	              -	        (111)
		    (28,313)	         -	   (17,533)	  (45,846)

20.2	 Unrecognised deferred tax liabilities

	 As at 31 December 2017, there was a deferred tax liability of K45.0 billion (2016: K45.8 billion) in the separate 
financial statements. The liability originates from temporary differences of K150.0 billion (2016: K152.8 billion) 
relatiing to revaluation gains of investments in subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures. Due to the elimination of 
these revaluation gains on consolidation, the associated deferred tax was derecognised at Group level.
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20.	 Deferred tax assets/(liabilities) (Continued)

20.3	 Unrecognised deferred tax assets

	 Deferred tax assets have not been recognised in respect of the following items, because it is not probable that future 
taxable profit will be available against which the concerned company can utilise the benefits there from.

		                                                                                                                                    Group	                    Company
		  2017	 2016	 2017	 2016

	 Tax losses	 47,689	 52,457	 8,315	 21,508
	 Deductible temporary differences;				  
	 Provisions	 196	 619	 (17)	 567
	 Property, plant and equipment	 (7,791)	 (9,327)	 -	 -
	 Unrealised Exchange losses	 561	        551	            -	            -
	
		  40,656	   44,300	 8,299	   22,075
				  
	 Un-recognised deferred tax asset @30%	 12,197	   13,290	 2,490	    6,623

	 Tax losses shown above expire after 6 years according to the tax laws in Malawi. 

	 These deferred tax assets relates to Press Corporation plc, Malawi Telecommunications Limited, Peoples Trading Centre 
and the Foods Company Limited. 

	 During the year, the Company utilised part of its unrecognised deferred tax asset following profit realised on disposal of 
its 20% interest in Castel Malawi Limited.

21.	 Inventories

			   Group		            Company
		  31/12/17	 31/12/16	 01/01/2016	 31/12/17	 31/12/16
			   Restated 			 
	 Finished goods	 8,598	 7,007	 7,875	 -	 12
	 Raw materials and consumables	 2,835	 2,594	 2,035	 9	 8
	 Work in progress	 50	 49	 68	 -	 -
	 Goods in transit	         27	 64	       187	         -	        -
		  11,510	 9,714	 10,165	 9	 20
					   
	 Inventories as previously stated	  11,510	 10,095	 10,165	        9	        20
	 Prior year adjustment – note 49	           -	 (381)	            -	 -	 -
	 Inventories	  11,510	 9,714	  10,165 	        9	      20

	 In 2017, inventories of K32.8 billion (2016: K33.2 billion) were recognised as an expense during the year and included in 
‘Direct trading expenses’.

	 During the year, inventories of K0.6 billion (2016: K1.3 billion) were written off in profit and loss due to stock shrinkages, 
damages and expiry. 

	 In addition, inventories have been reduced by K3 million (2016: K15 million) as a result of the write-down to net realisable 
value. Such write-downs were recognised as an expense during 2017 and included in ‘Administrative expenses’. There 
were no reversals of such write-downs and all inventories are expected to be recovered within twelve months. The carrying 
amount of inventory carried at net realisable value as at 31 December 2017 was Nil (2016: K213 million).
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22.	 Trade and other receivables from Group companies

		                                                                                                                            Group	                     Company
		  2017	 2016	 2017	 2016

Amounts due from related party companies				  
Press Properties Limited	 -	 -	 204	 158
Malawi Telecommunications Limited	 -	 -	 112	 113
Open Connect Limited	 -	 -	 380	 191
Telecom Networks Malawi	 -	 -	 830	 417
Peoples Trading Centre Limited	 -	 -	 377	 303
Ethanol Company Limited	 -	 -	 1	 14
Presscane Limited	 -	 -	 5	 24
National Bank of Malawi	 -	 -	 -	 6
The Foods Company Limited	 -	 -	 739	 538
Other	        	  -	         -	      119	         81
	        	  -	         -	   2,767	   1,845

	 The amounts due from related party companies are denominated in Malawi Kwacha, are payable within 30 days and are 
interest free except for K358 million (2016: K276 million) which attracts interest  at the rate of the Treasury bill plus 2% 
margin. 

23.	 Trade and other receivables 

			   Group	                                 Company
		  31/12/17	 31/12/16	 01/01/2016	 31/12/17	 31/12/16
			   Restated			 
	 Trade receivables	 15,213	 11,039	 10,362	 -	 22
	 Prepayments	 3,017	 1,984	 2,169	 -	 64
	 Letters of credit	 828	 659	 557	 -	 -
	 Employee benefit subsidy	 1,954	 2,063	 1,784	 -	 -
	 Forward contracts	 -	 3,258	 -	 -	 -
	 MasterCard accounts	 1,303	 444	 -	 -	 -
	 Other receivables	 5,732	 5,637	   5,570	 559	     45
		  28,047	 25,084	 20,442	 559	 131
	 Provision for doubtful debts	 (2,025)	     (897)	 (814)	        -	        -
		  26,022	 24,187	 19,628	 559	 131
	
	 Trade and other receivables as previously stated	 26,022	 24,196	 19,628	 559	    131
	 Prior year adjustment – note 49	 -	        (9)	            -	       -	       -

	 Trade and other receivables	  26,022	   24,187	   19,628	   559	   131

	 The average credit period on sales of goods and services is 30 days except for international incoming receivables whose 
credit period is 60 days. No interest is charged on the trade and other receivables settled beyond these periods.

	 Employee benefit subsidy

	 In accordance with IAS 19 Employee Benefits, the fair value adjustment to staff loans is recognised as an asset 
representing a future employee benefit which is expensed as and when the employees render their services to the Group.

	 Credit and market risks, and impairment losses

	 Information about the Group’s exposure to credit and market risks, and impairment losses for trade and other receivables 
is included in notes 6.4 and 6.6.
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24.	 Assets classified as held for sale

		                                                                                                                                                                Group
		  2017	 2016
Land and buildings	 610	 874
Motor vehicles	 -	 115
Investment property	   133	      133
	  	  743	   1,122

	 The Group intends to dispose some of its excess properties as shown above within the next 12 months. A search is 
underway for potential buyers. 

	 Included in land and buildings held for sale is an amount of K0.9 million (2016: K116 million) relating to plots of land that 
the Group has sold but are held by the Group because Government consent to sale has not been awarded yet.

24.1	 Reconciliation of carrying amount 

		                                                                                                                                                     Group	
		  2017	 2016
	 At the beginning of the period	 1,122	 944
	 Disposed during the period	 (516)	 (533)
	 Impairment reversal/(loss)	 47	 (47)
	 Reclassified to PPE (note 8)	 (28)	 -
	 Reclassified from PPE (note 8)	 118	     758
		  743	  1,122

	 The impairment loss of K47 million in 2016 relates to land and buildings held for sale as the Directors of the Group 
expected that the fair value less costs to sale is lower than the carrying amount. In 2017, the Group disposed of 
such assets which resulted in the reversal of the impairment loss initially recognized in 2016.

25.	 Income tax recoverable

		                                                                                                                            Group	                      Company
		  2017	 2016	 2017	 2016

Opening balance 	 494	 357	 19	 86
Tax paid 	 1,664	 246	 109	 (67)
Prior year over provision	 (17)	 -	 -	 -
Tax transfer to income tax payable	 -	   (109)	         -	         -
Total income tax recoverable	 2,141	     494	    128	      19
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26.	 Cash and cash equivalents
		                                                                                                           Group		                                   Company
		  31/12/17	 31/12/16	 01/01/2016	 31/12/17	 31/12/16
			   Restated 			 
	 Reserve Bank of Malawi	 16,139	 15,786	 18,160	 -	 -
	 Bank balances	 4,257	 2,961	 1,558	 55	 79
	 Money market placements	 9,680	 2,759	 2,296	 4,700	 -
	 Placement with other banks	 32,052	 21,683	 24,129	 -	 -
	 Call deposits	 1,719	 1,356	 2,836	 1,996	 25
	 Cash on hand	   11,301	   13,634	   10,645	            -	            -
	 Cash and cash equivalents	 75,148	 58,179	 59,624	 6,751	 104
	 Bank overdrafts          	   (2,790)	   (7,848)	   (8,662)	     (213)	   (2,078)
	 Cash and cash equivalents as shown  in the 
	 statement  of cash flows                          	   72,358	   50,331	  50,962	    6,538	  (1,974)
	
	 Cash and cash equivalents as previously stated	 72,358	 50,988	 50,962	 6,538	 (1,974
	 Prior year adjustment – note 49	        -	  (657)	        -	           -	         -
	 Cash and cash equivalents	  72,358	  50,331	  50,962	  6,538	  (1,974)

	 Balances held at Reserve Bank of Malawi which are denominated in Malawi Kwacha and United States Dollars are non-
interest bearing and are regulated as disclosed in Note 5.

	
	 Money market placements with other banks are held to maturity and mature within one month (2016: one month) of the 

year end and are denominated in the following currencies:
	
		                                                                                                                                    Average		                  Group
		  2017	 2016	 2017	 2016

US Dollars	 0.50%	 0.50%	 18,610	 9,832
GBP		  1.75%	 1.75%	 2,620	 2,114
Euro		  0.50%	 0.50%	 9,625	 8,443
ZAR		  4.00%	 4.00%	 1,172	 632
Other currencies	 -	 -	 25	       662
Totals				    32,052	  21,683

	 Overdraft facilities
	 Bank overdrafts forms an integral part of the Group’s cash management. These are repayable on demand. As at 31 

December 2017, the available overdraft facilities were as follows;

		                                                                                                                                   Group 	                    Company 
		  2017	 2016	 2017	 2016

First Merchant Bank plc	 3,400	 2,700	 400	 400
Eco bank Malawi Limited	 -	 2,500	 -	 1,100
CDH Investment Bank Limited	 650	 650	 -	 -
Standard Bank plc	  2,000	  2,000	          -	          -

	  	 6,050	  7,850	      400	  1,500

The overdraft facilities of the Group are secured as follows;
(i)	 K1.8 billion (2016: K1.8 Billion) is secured by Press Corporation plc guarantee;
(ii)	 K1.8 billion by a debenture (2016: K1.1 billion) and;
(iii)	 K2.4 billion (2016: K4.9 billion) is unsecured.

	 The Company’s overdraft facility is due for renewal on 30 November 2018 and is unsecured. The Ecobank facility expired 
on 30th November 2017 and was not renewed.
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27.	 Share capital

                                                                                                                                                         	Group and	
	                                                                                                                                                 Company	
Authorised ordinary share capital	 2017	 2016
			 
- 	 Number (millions)	  2,500	 2,500
	
- 	 Nominal value per share (K)	    0.01	 0.01
	
- 	 Nominal value (K million)	       25	       25
	
Issued and fully paid 		

	
- 	 Number (millions)	           1	 1
			 
- 	 Nominal value (K million)	           1	           1

28.	 Other reserves – excluding non-controlling interests

	
Group			  Loan
		  Revaluation	 Translation	 loss
		  reserve	 reserve	 reserve	 Other	 Total
				  
2017	 				  
Balance at beginning of the year	  25,847	  19,478	   156	  3,942	  49,423
Revaluation of property	 1,792	 -	 -	 -	 1,792
Transfer to loan loss reserve from retained 
earnings	 -	 -	 395	 -	 395
Depreciation Transfer land and buildings	 (239)	 -	 -	 -	 (239)
Release of revaluation surplus on disposal of 
revalue PPE	 178				    178
Share of other comprehensive income of equity 
accounted investment	 -	 498			   498
Income tax on other comprehensive income 	 (35)	            -	         -	          -	 (35)

Balance at 31 December 2017	 27,543	  19,976	 551	  3,942	 52,012

2016	 				  
Balance at beginning of the year	 22,093	 17,582	 1,140	 3,984	 44,799
Revaluation of property	 1,398	 -	 -	 -	 1,398
Transfer from loan loss reserve to retained earnings	 -	 -	 (984)	 -	 (984)
Depreciation Transfer land and buildings	 (118)	 -	 -	 -	 (118)
Reclassification of reserves	 36	 -	 -	 (36)	 -
Net change in fair value of available for sale 
financial asset	 -	 -	 -	 (6)	 (6)
Share of other comprehensive income of equity 
accounted investment	 1,308	 1,896			   3,204
Income tax on other comprehensive income 	    1,130	            -	         -	          -	    1,130

Balance at 31 December 2016	  25,847	  19,478	   156	  3,942	  49,423
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28	 Other reserves – excluding non-controlling interests (Continued)

Company

	
		  Revaluation	 Translation
		  reserve	 Reserve	 Total
			 
2017			 
Balance at beginning of the year	   171,847	    110	  171,957
Fair value gain on investments	 36,848	 -	 36,848
Release of revaluation surplus on disposal of  
available for sale financial asset	 (22,277)	 -	 (22,277)
Deferred tax on revaluation 	         780	         -	         780

Balance at 31 December 2017	   187,198	    110	  187,308
		  `	
2016	 		
Balance at beginning of the year	 111,038	 110	 111,148
Fair value gain on investments	 78,212	 -	 78,212
Revaluation of property	 130	 -	 130
Deferred tax on revaluation 	  (17,533)	         -	 (17,533)

Balance at 31 December 2016	   171,847	    110	  171,957

	 Revaluation reserve

	 For Group, the revaluation reserve arises on revaluation of property whereas for Company only, the revaluation reserve 
relates to revaluation of property and investments in subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures and comprises the 
cumulative increase in the fair value at the date of valuation. These reserves are not distributable to shareholders until the 
relevant revalued assets have been disposed of or, in the instance of revalued property, when consumed through use.

	 Translation reserves

	 Exchange differences relating to translation of the results and net assets of the Group’s foreign operations from their 
functional currencies to the Group’s presentation currency are recognised directly in other comprehensive income and 
accumulated in the foreign currency translation reserve. Exchange differences previously accumulated in the foreign 
currency translation reserve are reclassified to profit and loss on disposal of the foreign operation.

	 Loan loss reserve

	 This relates to the excess of provisions for impairment losses as required by the Reserve Bank of Malawi which are above 
the impairment loss allowed by IAS 39. 

	 Other reserves

	 The other reserves for the Group comprise capital redemption reserve.
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29	 Loans and borrowings

29.1	 Loans and borrowings summary

Group		 Secured	 Unsecured	 Total
2017			 
Due between 1 and 5 years	  19,861	  18,387	  38,248
Due within 1 year or less	    7,788	   9,128	 16,916
		   27,649	  27,515	  55,164
			 
2016	 		
More than 5 years	 12	 209	 221
Due between 1 and 5 years	   17,434	   2,591	   20,025
		  17,446	 2,800	 20,246

Due within 1 year or less	    7,625	    9,025	   16,650
	  	 25,071	  11,825	   36,896

Company			 
2017	 		
Due between 1 and 5 years	 214	 -	 214
Due within 1 year or less	     890	          -	     890
		   1,104	          -	   1,104

2016	 		
Due between 1 and 5 years	 1,068	         -	 1,068
Due within 1 year or less	      957	         -	      957
	   	 2,025	         -	   2,025

29.2	 Movement in borrowings

Group
					     Ex-		
		  At	 Draw-	 Repay- 	 change	 Interest	 At
		  01/01/17	 downs	 ments	 fluctua-	 accrual	31/12/17
					     tions		

Local borrowings						    
Belgium Government	 107	 -	 -	 -	 5	 112
CDH Investment Bank Limited	 916	 173	 (307)	 -	 297	 1,079
Commercial debt	 5,384	 -	 (384)	 -	 250	 5,250
Commercial debt – Nico Asset Managers Limited	 -	 5,000	 -	 -	 236	 5,236
Continental Discount House Limited	 1,153	 -	 (1,153)	 -	 -	 -
Corporate bond	 9,500	 -	 -	 -	 -	 9,500
DANIDA loan	 725	 -	 -	 -	 20	 745
FMB Loan	 -	 1,000	 (199)	 -	 136	 937
Kuwait Development Fund	 1,202	 -	 -	 -	 78	 1,280
MACRA long term payable	 1,686	 -	 (681)	 -	 -	 1,005
Malawi Government	 210	 -	 -	 -	 -	 210
NBM commercial paper	 400	 -	 (400)	 -	 -	 -
NORDIC Development Fund	 1,092	 -	 -	 -	 63	 1,155
Press Corp MTN coupon loan	 2,025	 -	 (958)	 -	 37	 1,104
Syndicated loan - NBM capital Market	      315	           -	       (84)	          -	        -	 231

Total local borrowings	  24,715	 6,173	  (4,166)	          -	 1,123	 27,844

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED AND SEPARATE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
For the year ended 31 December 2017                                                 
In millions of Malawi Kwacha
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29	 Loans and borrowings (Continued)

29.2	 Movement in borrowings (Continued)

Group					    Ex-
		  At 	 Draw-	 Repay	 change	 Interest	 At
		  01/01/17	 downs	 ments	 fluctua-	 accrual	 31/12/17	

				    tions
Foreign borrowings						    
Huawei deferred payment	 5,309	 5,613	 (5,238)	 187	 -	 5,871
Huawei long term payable	 872	 -	 -	 -	 -	 872
Libyan Government	 236	 -	 -	 -	 -	 236
European Investment Bank	 -	 13,915	 -	 -	 61	 13,976
PTA Bank	 4,197	 -	 -	 3	 598	 4,798
ZTE Vendor financing	    1,567	 -	               -	          -	          -	    1,567

Total foreign borrowings	  12,181	 19,528	  (5,238)	 190	 659	 27,320

Total borrowings	 36,896	 25,701	  (9,404)	 190	 1,782	 55,164

Company						    
MTN coupon 	   2,025	       -	     (958)	         -	       37	   1,104

Total local borrowings	   2,025	       -	 (958)	         -	       37	 1,104

2016
Group					    Ex-
		  At 	 Draw-	 Repay	 change	 Interest	 At
		  01/01/16	 downs	 ments	 fluctua-	 accrual	 31/12/16	

				    tions

Local borrowings						    
Belgium Government	 102	 -	 -	 -	 5	 107
CDH Investment Bank Limited	 -	 827	 -	 -	 89	 916
Commercial debt	 5,000	 -	 -	 -	 384	 5,384
Continental Discount House Limited	 -	 974	 -	 -	 179	 1,153
Corporate bond	 -	 9,500	 -	 -	 -	 9,500
DANIDA loan	 705	 -	 -	 -	 20	 725
FDH Bank Limited	 676	 -	 (750)	 -	 74	 -
Kuwait Development Fund	 1,125	 -	 -	 -	 77	 1,202
MACRA long term payable	 -	 1,686	 -	 -	 -	 1,686
Malawi Government	 209	 -	 -	 -	 1	 210
NBM commercial paper	 800	 -	 (400)	 -	 -	 400
NORDIC Development Fund	 1,029	 -	 -	 -	 63	 1,092
Press Corp MTN coupon loan	 2,902	 -	 (979)	 -	 102	 2,025
Reserve Bank of Malawi	 3	 -	 (3)	 -	 -	 -
Standard Bank Plc – MWK Loan	 26	 -	 (26)	 -	 -	 -
Standard Bank Plc Syndicated Loan	 278	 -	 (278)	 -	 -	 -
Syndicated loan - NBM capital Market	       399	           -	       (84)	          -	        -	       315

Total local borrowings	  13,254	  12,987	  (2,520)	          -	   994	  24,715

Foreign borrowings						    
Huawei deferred payment	 7,017	 2,578	 (4,943)	 657	 -	 5,309
Huawei long term payable	 -	 872	 -	 -	 -	 872
Libyan Government	 216	 -	 -	 20	 -	 236
Nederlands FMO	 3,339	 -	 (3,339)	 -	 -	 -
PTA Bank	 11,544	 -	 (8,660)	 978	 335	 4,197
ZTE Vendor financing	    1,071	       496	               -	          -	          -	    1,567

Total foreign borrowings	  23,187	    3,946	  (16,942)	  1,655	     335	  12,181

Total borrowings	 36,441	 16,933	  (19,462)	  1,655	  1,329	 36,896

Company						    
MTN coupon 	 2,902	 -	 (979)	 -	 102	 2,025
Standard Bank of Malawi Plc	        26	       -	       (26)	         -	         -	           -
Total local borrowings	   2,928	       -	 (1,005)	         -	     102	   2,025

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED AND SEPARATE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
For the year ended 31 December 2017    

In millions of Malawi Kwacha
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29	 Loans and borrowings (Continued)

29.3	 Terms and debt repayment schedules

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED AND SEPARATE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
For the year ended 31 December 2017                                                 
In millions of Malawi Kwacha
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29	 Loans and borrowings (Continued)

29.3	 Terms and debt repayment schedules (Continued)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED AND SEPARATE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
For the year ended 31 December 2017    
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29	 Loans and borrowings (Continued)

29.4	 Loans and borrowings arrears

	 One of the Group subsidiary, Malawi Telecommunication Limited, is in arrears in respect of repayment of  some of 
its loans in particular the Malawi Government guaranteed loans, the MACRA loan, Huawei loan, ZTE loan and PTA 
Bank loan. Subsequent to year end, the subsidiary restructured the Malawi Government guaranteed loans to long 
term with a repayment period of 10 years effective 1st January 2019.

	 PTA bank loan  was restructured in 2015 and agreed with the lender for the loan to be settled using proceeds to be 
realised from the sale of the Fibre Optic Cable business. The late settlement of the PTA loan is due to the delay in 
the finalisation of a deal for the sale of the Fibre Optic Cable business.

	
30	 Provisions

		  Legal	 Group	 Other	 Total
		  claim	 bonus
Group				 
2017	 			 
Balance at the beginning of the year	 239	 3,999	 801	 5,039
Provision made during the year	 13	 5,096	 154	 5,263
Provision used during the year	         -	 (4,489)	       52	 (4,437)
Balance at the end of the year	    252	   4,606	  1,007	    5,865
				  
Non-current liabilities	 -	 -	 70	 70
Due within 1 year or less	       252	   4,606	      937	   5,795
Balance as at the end of the year	       252	   4,606	   1,007	   5,865
				  
2016	 			 
Balance at the beginning of the year	    246	   2,429	   846	   3,521
Provisions reversed during the period	 (7)	 (25)	 -	 (32)
Provision made during the year	 -	 4,486	 115	 4,601
Provision used during the year	         -	 (2,891)	  (160)	  (3,051)
Balance at the end of the year	    239	    3,999	     801	    5,039
				  
Due within 1 year or less	    239	    3,999	     801	    5,039
				  
Company				  
2017	 			 
Balance at the beginning of the year	         -	      524	         -	       524
Provision made during the year	 -	 790	 -	 790
Provision used during the year	         -	   (524)	         -	   (524)
Balance at the end of the year	         -	      790	         -	      790
				  
2016				  
Balance at the beginning of the year	         -	      71	         -	       71
Provision made during the year	         -	    453	         -	     453
Balance at the end of the year	         -	    524	         -	     524

All provisions relating to the company are due within 1 year or less.
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30	 Provisions (Continued)

Legal Claims
	 The provision for legal claims represents estimated amounts which may be required to settle legal and other related 

claims made against the Group in the ordinary course of business. The provision is based on legal advice from the 
Group’s attorneys on the outcome of claims which the Group is facing.  

Group bonus
	 The provision for Group bonus represents incentive pay to eligible employees. The estimate has been made on the basis 

of rules governing Group’s performance incentive policies and may vary as a result of final operating results of the Group. 

Other Provisions
	 Other provisions includes employees’ related accrued benefits and Levy provision. Employees’ benefits provided amount 

was derived from expected liability based on existing legal and company conditions of service. Levy provision was based 
on existing legal framework governing respective levies.

31	 Income tax payable
	
		                                                                                                                     Group	                 Company
		  2017	 2016	 2017	 2016
				  
Opening balance 	 5,780	 2,685	 42	 42
Current charge	 14,665	 14,863	 823	 688
Cash paid 	 (15,906)	 (11,649)	 (771)	 (688)
Prior period charge	 (1)	 (10)	 -	 -
Tax transfer from income tax recoverable (note 24)	            -	      (109)	         -	          -
Total income tax payables	    4,538	      5,780	      94	       42

32	 Trade and other payables

		                                                                                                            Group	                            Company

		  31/12/17	 31/12/16	 01/01/16	 31/12/17	 31/12/16
			   Restated			 

Trade payables	 22,056	 17,736	 18,811	 42	 34
Liabilities to other banks	 1,714	 14,570	 3,347	 -	 -
Taxes and levies	 5,681	 3,762	 2,080	 70	 73
Deferred revenue	 4,887	 2,957	 3,863	 -	 -
Accruals 	 5,116	 2,591	 2,628	 270	 315
Other payables	 1,230	 1,332	 1,381	 41	 -
Staff payables	 633	 637	 644	 -	 -
Dividend payable	 1,179	       589	       589	         -	         -
Total trade and other payables	 42,496	 44,174	 33,343	 423	 422
					   
Trade and other payables as previously stated	 42,496	  43,326	  33,343	 423	    422
Prior year adjustments – note 49	 -	 848	 -	 -	 -
Trade and other payables	 42,496	 44,174	  33,343	    423	    422

	 The average credit period on purchases of certain goods is 30 days. No interest is charged on the trade payables that 
are overdue. The Group has financial risk management policies in place to ensure that all payables are paid within the 
pre-agreed credit terms.

	 Accruals are in respect of various expenses incurred but whose invoices had not yet been received.
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33	 Trade and other payables to Group companies

		                                                                                                                                                     Company
		  2017	 2016

PressCane Limited	 -	 2,985
Ethanol Company Limited	 -	   1,082
Manzinzi Bay Limited	 19	 19
Press Properties Limited	 6	 8 
Malawi Telecommunications Limited	 6	 5 
Telekom Networks Malawi Plc	 2	 5 
Peoples Trading Centre Limited	      9	           -
	    	 42	   4,104

	 Amounts due to Presscane Limited and Ethanol Company Limited were in respect of amounts placed on deposit with 
Press Corporation plc treasury. The deposits were fully paid in the current year.

	 Other Trade and other payables to Group companies are interest free and are payable on demand.

34	 Customer deposits

	                                                                                               Average interest rates	                  Group
		  2017	 2016	 2017	 2016
					   
Analysed by account type:				  
Current accounts	 0.10%	 0.15%	 132,521	 90,999
Deposit accounts	 7.67%	 10.50%	 38,680	 28,736
Savings accounts	 6.57%	 7.80%	 54,008	 42,632
Foreign currency accounts*	 0.50%	 0.50%	 49,864	     67,066
				    275,073	   229,433
Analysed by interest risk type:				  
Interest bearing deposits			   260,707	 224,186
Non-interest bearing deposits			   14,366	       5,247
				    275,073	   229,433

Total liabilities to customers are payable as follows:				  
- Within three months			   273,488	 226,124
- Between three months and one year			   1,585	       3,309
				    275,073	   229,433
				  
Analysis of deposits by sector				  
- Personal accounts			   65,687	 49,664
- Manufacturing			   7,043	 11,122
- Wholesale and retail			   24,497	 21,924
- Finance and insurance			   25,186	 25,197
- Government accounts			   23,393	 16,759
- Others			   129,267	 104,767
				    275,073	  229,433

* The foreign currency denominated account balances as at 31 December were as follows:-			 
	

US Dollar denominated			   38,676	 55,613
GBP denominated			   1,614	 2,005
Euro denominated			   8,768	 8,498
ZAR denominated			   804	 925
Other currencies			   2	          25
				    49,864	   67,066
		

	 All interest bearingaccounts,excluding deposit accounts are at floating rates that are adjusted at the Group’s banking 
business discretion.
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35	 Revenue

		                                                                                                                           Group	                    Company
		  2017	 2016	 2017	 2016

	 Sale of goods	 47,929	 52,311	 395	 389
	 Rendering of Services	 84,387	 73,943	 -	 -
	 Interest	 68,164	 62,603	 -	 -
	 Investment income – dividend	              -	             -	  8,231	  6,882
	  	 200,480	  188,857	  8,626	  7,271

	 For the year ended 31 December 2017, the Group had deferred revenue of K4.9 billion (2016: K2.9 billion) relating to the 
value of unused prepaid airtime sold to customers as at year end, sales of properties where government consent has not 
yet been obtained, fees and commission that relate tobanking facilities that have a tenure of more than one year.

36	 Direct trading expenses

		                                                                                                                                Group	                    Company
		  2017	 2016	 2017	 2016
			   Restated		

	 Cost of sales	 32,783	 33,292	 14	 26
	 Interest expense	 6,558	 6,148	 -	 -
	 Direct service costs	 42,655	   38,063	         -	         -
		  81,996	   77,503	      14	      26

	 Prior year cost of sales were restated – refer to note 49 for details of the restatement.

37	 Other operating income

		                                                                                                                                   Group                 	Company
		  2017	 2016	 2017	 2016
			   Restated		

Net gains from trading in foreign currencies	 34	 39	 -	 -
Recoveries from impaired loans and advances	 1,027	 1,017	 -	 -
Fair value adjustment of investment property	 769	 477	 -	 -
Gains and losses from fair value adjustment of biological assets	 554	 -	 -	 -
Net gain/(loss) on financial instruments 
classified as held for trading	 2,029	 (171)	 -	 -
Profit on disposal of property, plant and equipment	 234	 321	 10	 (3)
Profit on disposal of available for sale financial assets	 14,284	 34	 17,039	 34
Site co-siting	 2,564	 1,311	 -	 -
Sundry income	    2,899	   2,220	        653	    364

		  24,394	 5,248	 17,702	 395

	 Prior year sundry income was restated – refer to note 49 for details of the restatement.

	 Sundry income is comprised of income earned from non-core business activities of the Group and theyincludeboard 
members fees and rental income generated by Group companies that are not in property business, among others.
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38	 Distribution expenses

		                                                                                                                              Group                     	Company
		  2017	 2016	 2017	 2016

	 Marketing and publication	 1,827	 1,842	 -	 -
	 Selling expenses	 61	 67	 -	 -
	 Carriage outwards	 781	 311	 -	 -
	 Other 	      178	     182	            -	            -
		   2,847	  2,402	            -	            -

39	 Administrative expenses

	                                                                                                                               Group                     	Company
		  2017	 2016	 2017	 2016
			   Restated 		
	
	 Auditors’ remuneration    - current year fees	 524	 559	 77	 86
                                                    - prior year fees	 54	 41	 -	 -
                                                    - other professional services	 7	 6	 -	 -
	 Directors’ emoluments    - fees & expenses	 294	 333	 67	 87
                                                    - executive directors’   remuneration	 1,692	 1,468	 875	 513

Personnel costs	 35,241	 31,126	 2,412	 1,656
Pension contribution costs	 2,343	 2,316	 145	 125
Legal and professional fees	 1,091	 1,188	 47	 50
Stationery and office expenses	 2,285	 1,932	 326	 261
Security services	 2,195	 2,173	 54	 46
Motor vehicle expenses	 1,736	 2,048	 393	 287
Bad debts	 6,567	 2,809	 -	 -
Repairs and maintenance	 6,234	 6,284	 319	 255
Depreciation, impairment and amortisation	 13,581	 16,640	 79	 118
Travel expenses	 1,011	 1,064	 -	 -
Communication	 674	 1,652	 -	 -
Stock write off, impairment	 798	 1,506	 -	 -
Other		  7,178	     7,196	       366	      381
		   83,505	   80,341	   5,160	   3,865
	

	 Prior year administrative expenses were restated – refer to note 49 for details of the restatement.

	 Liability for defined contribution obligations

	 The principal Group pension scheme is the Press Corporation plc Group Pension and Life Assurance Scheme covering all 
categories of employees with3,346 (2016: 3,374) members as at 31 December 2017. The Fund is a defined contribution 
fund and is independently self-administered by its Trustees. Under this arrangement employer’s liability is limited to the 
pension contributions.

40	 Finance income and costs
	
	                                                                                                                              Group                     	Company
		  2017	 2016	 2017	 2016

	 Interest income				  
Interest income on bank deposits	 902	 830	 252	 163
Net foreign exchange gain	 364	 1,141	 364	 3
Other	      	 448	       146	    339	         -
	   	 1,714	    2,117	    955	     166

Interest expense				  
Bank overdrafts	 (1,547)	 (2,105)	 (629)	 (393)
Loans		  (7,397)	 (6,442)	 (1,053)	 (1,672)
Foreign exchange loss	       (31)	    (3,240)	            -	             -
	  	 (8,975)	  (11,787)	  (1,682)	   (2,065)
				  
Net finance costs	  (7,261)	   (9,670)	     (727)	   (1,899)

				  
	 During the year, borrowing costs amounting to K18 million were capitalised (2016: Nil). 
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41	 Share of results from equity accounted investees

		                                                                                                                              Group	                        Company
		  2017	 2016	 2017	 2016

Share of profit, net of tax
Limbe Leaf Tobacco Company Limited	 2,612	 3,459	 -	 -
Castel Malawi Limited	 318	 171	 -	 -
Puma Energy (Malawi) Limited	 1,746	 1,691	 -	 -
Macsteel (Malawi) Limited	      166	      222	          -	         -
	  	  4,842	   5,543	          -	         -
				  
Share of other comprehensive income, net of tax				  
Limbe Leaf Tobacco Company Limited	 498	 721	 -	 -
Castel Malawi Limited	 -	 763	 -	 -
Puma Energy (Malawi) Limited	 -	 1,404	 -	 -
Macsteel (Malawi) Limited	      -	      316	          -	         -
		  498 	   3,204	          -	         -

42	 Income taxes

		                                                                                                                            Group	                   Company
		  2017	 2016	 2017	 2016

Current tax expense				  
Current year at 30% (2016:30%) based on taxable profits	 13,842	 14,074	 -	 -
Changes in estimates related to prior years	 16	 90	 -	 -
Final tax on dividend received from associates, 
subsidiaries and joint ventures	       823	       688	     823	     688
	  	 14,681	  14,852	     823	     688

Deferred tax (credit)/expense				  
In respect of the current year	    (243)	    (434)	         -	         -
Total Income tax expense recognised in the current year	  14,438	  14,418	    823	    688

	 The Group’s tax expense on continuing operations excludes the Group’s share of the tax expense of equity accounted 
investees of K2,333million (2016: K2,247 million), which has been included in ‘share of profit of equity-accounted investees, 
net of tax’. 

42.1	 Tax losses carried forward

	 The Group has estimated tax losses of K47.6 billion (2016:K52.4 billion). These include capital losses, which 
can be set off against future capital gains. Where relevant, these tax losses have been set off against deferred 
tax liabilities, which would arise on the disposal of revalued assets at carrying value. Tax losses are subject 
to agreement by the Malawi Revenue Authority and are available for utilisation against future taxable income, 
including capital gains, only in the same company. Under the Malawi Taxation Act it is not possible to transfer tax 
losses from one subsidiary to another or obtain Group relief.

	 Tax losses can only be carried forward for six years.

42.2	 Reconciliation of effective tax rate

	 The tax on the Group’s and Company’s profit before tax differs from theoretical amount that would arise using 
the weighted average tax rate applicable to profits of the Group and Company.

	 The income tax expense for the year can be reconciled to the accounting profit as follows;
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42	 Income taxes (continued) 

42.2	 Reconciliation of effective tax rate (continued)

		                                                                                                                             2017		                     2016
				                   Restated

Group				 
Profit before tax from continuing operations		  54,107		  29,732
				  
Tax using the Group’s domestic tax rate – 30%	 30%	 16,232	 30%	 8,920
Tax effect of:				  
Share of profit of equity-accounted investees reported net of tax 	 (3%)	 (1,453)	 (6%)	 (1,663)
Income not subject to tax	 -	 -	 (1%)	 (183)
Expenses not deductible for tax purposes	 -	 152	 1%	 326
Tax incentives	 -	 28	 (1%)	 (251)
Effects of final tax on dividends from associates and subsidiaries	 2%	 823	 2%	 688
Under provisions in previous periods	 -	 16	 -	 90
Unrecognised taxable losses	 7%	 3,537	 22%	 6,396
Effects of previously unrecognised deferred tax asset	 (8%)	 (4,286)	 -	 -
Other permanent differences	    (1%)	    (611)	 1%	         95
Effective tax rate and income tax charge	   27%	   14,438	 48%	 14,418
				  
Company 				  
Profit before tax from continuing operations		  20,427		  1,876
				  
Tax using the Group’s domestic tax rate – 30%	 30%	 6,128	 30%	 563
Effects of final tax on dividends from associates and subsidiaries	 4%	 823	 37%	 688
Unrecognised taxable losses	 (5%)	 (1,016)	 (30%)	 (563)
Effects of previously unrecognised deferred tax asset	 (25%)	 (5,112)	 -	 -
Other permanent differences	 -	 -	 -	 -
Effective tax rate and income tax charge	      4%	 823	 37%	 688 

43	 Basic earnings per share and diluted earnings per share

	 Calculation of basic earnings per share and diluted earnings per share is based on the profit attributable to ordinary 
shareholders of K24,707 million (2016: K4,909 million) and a weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding 
during the year of 120.2 million (2016:120.2 million).

		                                                                                                                              2017	  2016
	 Group		  Restated

Profit attributable to owners of the Company	    23,917	    4,909
Weighted average number of ordinary shares	    120.2	    120.2
Basic earnings per share (K)	     198.98	   40.84
Number of shares in issue 	     120.2	   120.2
		
Diluted earnings per share (K)	   198.94	   40.80
		
Profit from continuing operations	 39,669	 15,314
Non-controlling interest	 (15,756)	 (10,410)
Profit from continuing operations attributable to the ordinary equity 
holders of the parent Company	    23,913	     4,904
		
Basic earnings per share (from continuing operations) (K)	        198.94	     40.80
		
Diluted earnings per share (from continued operations) (K)	    198.94	     40.80
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44	 Contingent liabilities	

		                                                                                                                            Group	                     Company
		  2017	 2016	 2017	 2016
				  
	 Foreign guarantees	 1,318	 519	 -	 -
	 Local guarantees and performance bonds	 24,177	 16,431	 16,470	 14,700
	 Letters of credit	  28,808	   16,855	          -	          -
		  54,303	 33,805	 16,470	 14,700
	
	 Legal and other claims	 1,875	 1,647	 -	 -
	 Tax payable	 4,946	    2,373	           -	           -

	 Total contingent liabilities	 61,124	 37,825	 16,470	 14,700

(a)	 Guarantees and performance bonds represent acceptances, guarantees, indemnities and credits issued by 
National Bank of Malawi plc to non-Group entities which would crystallize into a liability only in the event of default 
on the part of the relevant counterparty. For the Company, the guarantees represents guarantees madeby the 
parent Company for bank loans taken by The Foods Company Limited, Malawi Telecommunication Limited, 
Press Properties Limited and Peoples Trading Centre Limited and corporate bond taken by Open Connect 
Limited.

(b)	 Letters of credit (LCs) relate to standby LCs issued by National Bank of Malawi plc on behalf of selected 
customers. By issuing these LCs, the Bank is guaranteeing payment to the third party in the event that the 
customer defaults on their contractual obligations on the transaction. These are non-cash upfront LCs and are 
therefore memoranda items only.

(c)	 Legal and other claims represent legal and other claims made against the Group in the ordinary course of 
business, the outcome of which is uncertain.  The amount disclosed represents an estimate of the cost to the 
Group in the event that legal proceedings find the Group to be in the wrong.  In the opinion of the directors the 
claims are not expected to give rise to a significant cost to the Group.

(d)	 Tax liability relates to disputes that the Group’s subsidiary Peoples Trading Centre Limited and the Group’s 
associate Limbe Leaf Tobacco Ltd have with the Malawi Revenue Authority.  The total potential tax liability for the 
associate (Limbe Leaf Tobacco Ltd) is K5.0 billion (2016:K5.6 billion) and PCL’s portion of the liability recognised 
as contingent liability amounts to K2.1 billion (2016: K2.3 billion).

45	 Capital commitments

		                                                                                                                                     Group	                     Company
		  2017	 2016	 2017	 2016

Authorised and contracted for	 5,432	 8,935	 -	 -
Authorised but not yet contracted for	  21,655	  18,061	     116	     285	

	 27,087	  26,996	     116	     285

These commitments are to be funded from internal resources and long term loans
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46	 Related parties

	 Balances and transactions between the Company and its subsidiaries, which are related parties of the Company, have 
been eliminated on consolidation and are not disclosed in this note. Details of transactions between the Group and other 
related parties are disclosed below.

46.1	 Trading transactions

	 During the year, the Group entered into the following trading transactions with related parties that are not 
members of the Group;

		                                                                                                                          Sales	                   Purchases
		  2017	 2016	 2017	 2016

	 Joint ventures of the Group	 4,731	 4,606	 1,635	 1,404
	 Shareholder - Old Mutual Group	 8	 18	 -	 -
	 Associates of the Group	 36	 76	 7,494	 4,148
	 Shareholder - Press Trust	          1	          1	           -	           -
	  	  4,776	   4,701	 9,129	   5,552

		                                                                                                             Interest Income	       Interest Expense
		  2017	 2016	 2017	 2016
	
	 Joint ventures of the Group	 1	 -	 -	 -
	 Shareholder - Old Mutual Group	 5	 -	 -	 (12)
	 Associates of the Group	 54	 53	 (1)	 (3)
	 Directors	 6	 4	 -	 -
	 Employees	 1,369	 1,288	 (1,035)	 (988)
		  1,435	 1,345	 (1,036)	 (1,003)

	 Sale of goods and services to related parties were made at the Group’s usual list prices. Purchases were made 
at market price.

	 Average interest rate on related party interest income was 25% (2016: 34%)

46.2	 Receivables and payables

	  	                                                                                                       Amounts owed           Amounts owed 
                                                                                                                        by related                    to related
		                                                                                                                parties	                          parties
		  2017	 2016	 2017	 2016

	 Joint ventures of the Group	 913	 434	 61	 7
	 Shareholder - Old Mutual Group	 3	 2	 -	 -
	 Associates of the Group	 144	 27	 453	 1,156
	 Directors	 4	 -	 -	 3
	 Employees	         -	      74	        69	           -
	    	 934	    537	      583	   1,166

	 The amounts outstanding are unsecured and will be settled in cash. No guarantees have been given or received. 
No expense has been recognised in the current or prior years for doubtful debts in respect of the amounts owed 
by related parties.  
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46	 Related parties (Continued)

46.3	 Loans and deposits

		                                                                                                                          Loans	                     Deposits
		  2017	 2016	 2017	 2016

	 Joint ventures of the Group	 -	 -	 840	 1,748
	 Shareholder - Old Mutual Group	 -	 -	 1,912	 3,357
	 Associates of the Group	 7	 -	 529	 164
	 Shareholder - Press Trust	 -	 -	 192	 150
	 Directors	 495	 398	 106	 10
	 Employees	 5,328	 6,136	 545	 444
	 Related Pension Funds 	           -	           -	      252	          3
	   	 5,830	   6,534	  4,376	   5,876

	 Loans are granted and deposits accepted on normal banking terms.  Loans are secured.

	 During the year no amount due from a related party was written off against interest in suspense and provision 
for loan losses. There were no provisions in respect of loans granted to related parties as at the end of the year 
(2016: nil).

	 There were no material related party transactions with the ultimate controlling entity of the Group, Press Trust, in 
the current or prior financial period.

46.4	 Compensation of key management personnel

	 Directors of the Company and their immediate relatives control 0.01% (2016: 0.01%) of the voting shares of the 
Company.

	 Directors’ emoluments are included in administrative expenses more fully disclosed in note 39.

	 The remuneration of directors and other members of key management personnel during the year was as follows:

 
		                  Group                    Company
		  2017	 2016	 2017	 2016

	 Salaries and benefits for key management	 6,442	 6,029	 435	 422
	 Directors remuneration 	 1,986	 1,801	 942	 600
	 Post-employment benefit	      477	      413	        25	        23
	   	 8,905	   8,243	   1,402	   1,045
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47	 Cash flows from operating activities

		                                                                                                                Group	                      Company
		  2017	 2016	 2017	 2016
				  
Profit before income tax 	 54,111	 29,732	 20,427	 1,876
				  
Adjustments for:				  
Depreciation  and amortization	 13,944	 16,640	 63	 121
Finance costs 	 8,975	 11,787	 1,682	 2,065
Finance income	 (1,714)	 (2,117)	 (955)	 (166)
Share of results from equity accounted investments	 (4,842)	 (5,543)	 -	 -
(Profit)/ loss on sale of investment property and property, 
plant and equipment 	 (234)	 (321)	 (10)	 3
Fair value adjustments and unrealised foreign excahnge losses	 (1,735)	 (706)	 1	 -
Profit on disposal of shares	 (14,284)	 -	 (17,039)	 (34)
Investment income (dividends)	 -	 -	 (8,231)	 (6,882)
(Decrease)/Increase in provisions	 826	 1,518	 266	 453
				  
Working capital changes:				  
Decrease/(Increase) in inventories 	 (1,796)	 451	 11	 (3)
Increase in Loans and advances to customers	 1,369	 (18,445)	 -	 -
Increase in Finance lease receivables	 (941)	 (1,225)	 -	 -
(Increase)/Decrease in trade and other receivables 	 (1,835)	 (4,559)	 (428)	 (59)
Increase in trade and other receivables -Group	 -	 -	 (2,655)	 (521)
Increase in other investments	 (51,163)	 (13,138)	 (1,246)	 -
(Decrease)/Increase in trade and other payables	 (1,678)	 10,831	 1	 288
Increase in trade and other payables- Group	 -	 -	 (4,062)	 1,033
Increase in customer deposits	 45,640	    17,581	           -	           -

Cash generated by/(used in) operations	 44,643	 42,486	 (12,175)	 (1,826)

48	 Dividend per share

		                                                                                                                                              Group and 
		                                                                                                                                                Company
		  2017	 2016
		
Final dividend 	 2,405	 1,503
Interim dividend 	 601	           -
	  	  3,006	   1,503
		
Number of ordinary shares in issue (million)	   120.2	   120.2
		
Dividend per share (K)	 25.00	  12.50

During the year, the Group declared and paid a total of K2,104 million representing final dividend for 2016 of K1,503 million and 
interim dividend for 2017 of K601 million.The proposed final dividend for the year 2017 is K2,405 million (2016: K1,503 million) 
representing K20 per share (2016: K12.50).
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49	 Prior year restatement

	 Prior year adjustments have been processed in respect of the following: 

	 Inventories

	 Prior year adjustment related to correction of recorded trading and non trading stock that were not physically available. 
The adjustment resulted in an increase in cost of sales by K112 million and administrative expenses by K269 million and 
a decrease in inventories by K381 million.

	 Trade and other receivables

	 Prior year adjustment relates to correction of overstatement of recorded other receivables. The adjustment resulted in 
decrease of other income by K9 million and decrease in trade and other receivables by K9 million.

	 Bank and cash

	 Prior year adjustment of K617 million related to cash receivable from one of the money transfer partner which was being 
recognized as deposits in transit. The error occurred in the determination of recoverability of the balance as a result of not 
using information that was available at the time of preparing financial statements. The adjustment resulted in an increase 
in administrative expenses by K617 million (bad debts provision) and a decrease in cash of K617 million.In addition, 
another adjustment was made in respect of misclassification between cost of sales and bank and cash. The adjustment 
resulted in an increase in cost of sales by K40 million and a decrease in cash of K40 million.

	 Trade and other payables

	 Prior year adjustment related to correction of understatement of prior year liabilities following a detailed analysis of the 
creditors ledger. The adjustment to trade and other payables resulted in an increase in other income by K90 million, cost 
of sales by K1,006 million and decrease in administrative expenses by K68 million and an increase in trade and other 
payables by K848 million.

49.1	 Restatement impact on comparatives

	 The financial statements have accordingly been restated in accordance with IAS 8 Accounting Policies, Changes 
in Accounting Estimates and Errors and related disclosures made in accordance with IAS 1 Presentation of 
Financial Statements.

	 The impact of these restatements is detailed in the analysis below.

	 	 As previously	 Adjustment	 Restated
		  reported in 2016

Statement of financial position
Cash and cash equivalent (note 26)	 50,988	 (657)	 50,331
Inventories (note 21)	 10,095	 (381)	 9,714
Trade and other receivables (note 23)	 24,196	      (9)	 24,187
Trade and other payables (note 32)	   43,326	     848	    44,174
			 
Statement of comprehensive income			 
Cost of sales (note 36)	 32,134	 1,158	 33,292
Administrative expenses (note 39)	 79,523	 818	 80,341
Other income– sundry (note 37)	 5,167	   81	    5,248
			 
Profit for the year	 17,214	   1,895	 15,319

	 The adjustment to administrative expenses resulted in an increase of the following line items; travel expenses K41 million, 
stationery K26 million, stock write off K202 million and bad debts provision K617 million and the decrease of K63 million 
in stationery and office expenses and K5 million in personnel expenses.
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50	 Subsequent events

	 The directors have proposed a dividend of K20 per share as disclosed in note 48. This dividend is subject to approval by 
shareholders at the Annual General Meeting.

51	 Inflation and exchange rates	
	
	 The average of the year-end buying and selling rates of the major foreign currencies affecting the performance of 

the Company and Group are stated below, together with the increase in the National Consumers Price Index which 
represents an official measure of inflation.

	 Exchange rates as at 31 December.	 2017	 2016
		
		
	 Kwacha/United States Dollar 	 725.6	 725.4
	 Kwacha/Euro	 865.1	 764.0
	 Kwacha/British Pound 	 974.3	 890.6
	 Kwacha/South African Rand	    58.7	    53.7
		
	 Inflation rates as at 31 December (%)	  7.1	 20.0

At the time of signing these Consolidated and separate financial statements, the exchange rates had moved to:-

Kwacha/United States Dollar			   725.7		
				  

Kwacha/Euro			   895.7		
				  

Kwacha/British Pound			   1027.1		
			 

Kwacha/South African Rand			   60.3
	
Inflation rates as at February 2018			   7.8
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	 % of total 
	 shares 	 Number 	 Shareholding	 Number of
Shareholdings	 in issue	 of shares	 range	 shareholders	 %
					   
Press Trust	 45.08%	  54,216,908 	 1,000,000 +	  10 	 0.67%
Deutsche Bank Trust Company America	 22.34%	  26,860,500 	 10,001 - 1,000,000	  73 	 4.89%
Old Mutual Life assurance (Malawi) Limited 	 15.15%	  18,223,930 	 5,001 - 10,000	  29 	 1.94%
Others	 17.42%	  20,954,375 	 1 - 5,000	  1,382 	 92.49%
Total		   120,255,713 		   1,494 	 100.00%
					   
Share Market					   
	 2017	 2016	 2015	 2014	 2013
Total number of shares in issue	  120,255,713 	  120,255,713 	  120,255,713 	  120,255,713 	 120,255,713 
					   
Malawi Stock Exchange (MSE) 
Market statistics					   
					   
Market capitalization at 31 December (MKm)	  72,153 	  64,938 	  64,337 	  34,273 	  22,608 
Market capitalization at 31 December (US$’m)	  99.44 	  89.52 	  96.83 	  72.03 	  52.20 
					   
Subscription price at listing MK14.89					   
					   
Last traded price					   
31 December (MK per share)	  600.00 	  540.00 	  535.00 	  285.00 	  188.00 
					   
Highest (MK per share)	  600.00 	  540.00 	  453.10 	  285.00 	  188.00 
Lowest (MK per share)	  540.00 	  535.00 	  285.00 	  188.00 	  176.00 
Net asset value (NAV) per share	  1,512.85 	  1,227.33 	  1,084.93 	  669.58 	  396.41 
Value of shares traded (MKm)	  569.00 	  272.00 	  1,085.00 	  1,688.00 	  152.00 
Earnings per share %	  198.98 	  40.84 	  34.92 	  77.97 	  28.86 
Dividend yield %	  2.92 	  1.57 	  2.43 	  2.59 	  1.51 

ON THE MALAWI STOCK EXCHANGE
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